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Our Vision
 

Global Information Management 
helps our clients engage with their 
customers throughout the customer 
journey – from brand awareness, to 
sales and after-sales support – and 
across multiple languages, cultures 
and channels.

It allows different stakeholders in 
the organisation to contribute to 
the customer journey in a consistent 
and orchestrated way, from content 
creation and management, to 
optimising the translation process 
and publishing content dynamically 
in multiple formats.

90% of a global business’
content is in another language

Building
brand equity

Managing
costs

Accelerating
time-to-market

Optimising
customer impact

Globalisation
& localisation
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Distribution Marketing
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Timeline of Innovation
 

2010 Acquired Language Weaver and Xopus
Launched SDL BeGlobal

Acquired XyEnterprise and Fredhopper 
Launched SDL Trados Studio 2009

2008 Acquired Idiom 
Launched SDL Automated Translation Solutions

Acquired Tridion, Pass Engineering and Trisoft 2007

2006 Launched Global Authoring technology

Acquired Trados 2005

2004 Launched SDL Knowledge-based 
Translation System

£64m annual turnover, 1200 staff 
and offices in 25 countries 2003

2002 Acquired Machine Translation technology

Acquired Alpnet and ITP 
Opened offshore facilities in China and Thailand 2001

2000 Launched cloud-based translation 
management system

Company floats on London Stock Exchange, 
company grows to 280 staff 1999

1998 £10m annual turnover

Expanded into Asia, Europe and the US 1997

1996 First VC funding 

First acquisition – translation memory technology 1995

1994 £2m annual turnover, company grows to 50 staff

Company grows to 12 staff 1993

1992 Company founded in Maidenhead, UK, 
by Mark Lancaster
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Financial Highlights
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£94.7m

£117.4m

£158.8m

£171.9m

£203.5m

Revenue
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12.9%

14.5%

16.1%

17.4%

17.4%

Operating Margins*
*before amortisation of intangible assets
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£12.2m

£17.0m

£25.6m

£29.8m

£35.4m

Profit before tax*
*before amortisation of intangible assets
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£9.9m

£16.0m

£26.4m

£30.1m

£27.1m

Operating Cash Flow
 

Revenue £203.5m 18%  

Profit Before Tax and Amortisation £35.4m 19%  

Fully Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share 33.54p 19%  

Operating Cash Flow £27.1m 10%  
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Operational Highlights
 

January SDL announces brand consolidation of its divisions into one 
SDL brand with 5 divisional expertise areas

February SDL hosted translation systems in the Cloud show record 
level growth

March SDL receives top content management award for its web content 
and structured content technologies

April SDL releases its first end-to-end publishing technology for 
technical documentation

May SDL eCommerce division (formerly Fredhopper) launches in the US

June SDL launches profile-based marketing and eCommerce solution, 
SDL SmartTarget and acquires Xopus

July SDL acquires Language Weaver, the pioneer in statistical 
machine translation and launches predictive text for 
technical communicators

August SDL recognized as the leader in Gartner’s magic quadrant for web 
content management and unveils significant new functionality for 
SDL Contenta® S1000D

September SDL extends leadership in component content management with 
the release of SDL Trisoft™ 2011

October SDL unveils cloud technology for real-time automated translation 
with SDL BeGlobal

November SDL expands European operations by opening new office in Turkey

December SDL unveils corporate video to highlight the benefits seen by global 
brands in adopting Global Information Management
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Executive Chairman’s Statement
 

Dear Shareholder,

Summary Performance
We are delighted to report a year of strong strategic 
progress, record revenue and excellent operating 
profit performance. In the period we saw a steadily 
improving demand environment for our technology 
and services. We were particularly pleased with the 
levels of cross-selling of products and services achieved 
during the year, delivering broader Global Information 
Management solutions that address our customers’ 
strategic needs. 

We increased our strategic investments in 2010, 
accelerating investment in innovation, research 
and development, and supporting our growth in 

Asian territories. We introduced several new products 
to market in 2010: SDL BeGlobal a next generation 
statistical machine translation technology; SDL Trisoft 
with enhanced DITA support; SDL Contenta S1000D 
in the structured content management space; and we 
launched SDL Global Authoring Management System 
2010 in Language Technologies. 

We made two strategic acquisitions during the 
year. The acquisition of Language Weaver gives SDL 
an industry leading position in statistical machine 
translation. By further increasing the speed of 
translation, we believe this acquisition will significantly 
increase the volume of content that companies can 
economically choose to translate. The acquisition of 
Xopus increases technical content creation possibilities 



7Annual Report and Accounts 2010

SD
L O

verview

by facilitating content creation by non technical 
authors. Both of these acquisitions further strengthen 
the SDL end-to-end content management offering. 
The Xopus business is now fully integrated into 
our Structured Content Management Technologies 
business and is therefore reported as part of the 
Content Management Technologies operating 
segment. Language Weaver is reported as part of 
our Language Technologies operating segment 
which is run as an integrated global business under 
common leadership.

The executive team was further strengthened with the 
appointment of Mark Reid as Chief Information Officer 
and Dennis van der Veeke as Chief Technology Officer, 
both key appointments. 



8

Chairman’s Statement
continued

Revenue for 2010 was £203.5 million (2009: £171.9 million). 
Operating profit before taxation and amortisation 
of intangible assets (“PBTA”) for the period was 
£35.4 million (2009: £29.8 million) with profit before 
taxation of £28.8 million (2009: £24.0 million). Net 
cash in the business at the end of the period was 
£46.6 million (2009: £46.2 million) after net cash 
outflow of £25.9 million due to acquisitions during 
the year. 

We are pleased to report double digit headline revenue 
growth in each of our operating segments, which 
bears testament to the resilience of the business 
to the economic cycle. Headline Group revenue 
growth comprised acquisition related growth of 
4%, a negligible impact due to foreign exchange 
and constant currency revenue growth of 14%. 
We finished the year strongly, particularly in our Web 
Content Management business, where changes in 
organisational structure built positive momentum. 
In general, we are confident that the demand pipeline 
in each operating segment remains robust moving 
into 2011. We have made excellent progress in cross-
selling solutions, the Content Management segment 
in particular, recording constant currency revenue 
growth of 21%, has been a prime beneficiary of this 
cross-selling approach. We are very pleased with the 
two acquisitions, Xopus and Language Weaver, both 
now fully integrated from a leadership, systems and 
execution perspective. This rapid integration puts us 
in a good position to execute our growth strategy 
aspirations in these businesses in 2011.

Our operating cash flow from operations amounted 
to £27.1 million in 2010 (2009: £30.1million). We were 
unable to repeat the working capital inflow we saw 
in 2009 when we significantly reduced receivable 
days, however our average DSO has been marginally 
improved in 2010 with strong exit revenues generating 
higher receivables. Our profit to cash conversion 
remains excellent. Our balance sheet remains a 
considerable source of competitive advantage and 
comfort as we have no external debt. At the end of 
2010 we had £46.6 million of cash on the balance 
sheet. Given our confidence in future cash generation 
and ability to sustain strategic and operational progress 
the Board is recommending a maiden final dividend to 
the Annual General Meeting of 5.5 pence per ordinary 
share. This will not alter our strategy of pursuing strong 
profitable growth but will provide a return to those 
investors who value a nominal yield in addition to 
growth. Our future dividend policy will be progressive. 

Segmental Performance 
We continue to report the business in three operating 
segments in 2010 as our shareholders find this 
additional disclosure valuable. Our operating segments 
are Content Management Technologies, Language 
Technologies and Language Services.

Content Management Technologies
(contributing £45.0 million or 22% of revenue to 
the Group and £7.7 million or 22% of Group PBTA) 
(2009: contributing £33.2 million or 19% of revenue to 
the Group and £6.4 million or 22% of Group PBTA)
Overall revenue in this segment grew by 36%, 16% due 
to acquisition, -1% due to foreign exchange and 21% 
growth at constant currency. We are delighted by the 
performance of this segment, which reflects strong 
cross leveraging from the rest of the SDL Group.

SDL Web Content Management Solutions performed 
well. Both Europe and North America had strong 
second half performance. Structured Content 
Management made exceptional progress in 2010, with 
the combination of traditional XyEnterprise strengths 
with SDL Trisoft continuing to be a potent combination 
and market innovator. We look to 2011 with confidence 
in this business from a position of industry leadership 
in technical document Xml publishing, component 
content management and SDL LiveContent solutions.

We were pleased to welcome as clients investing in 
Content Management Technology, Unilever, Atmel, 
Affinion, Fidelity Investments, Saab, United Airlines and 
Virgin Money. 

Language Technologies 
(contributing £33.9 million or 17% of revenue to 
the Group and £3.3 million or 9% of Group PBTA) 
(2009: contributing £29.1 million or 17% revenue to 
the Group and £3.5 million or 12% of Group PBTA) 
Overall headline sales growth was 17% in the 
Language Technologies business of which 8% was due 
to acquisition, currency impact was negligible and 
constant currency revenue growth was 9%.

We saw consistent demand stabilisation in the 
Enterprise business and solid momentum build in 
our desktop business in the second half reflecting 
our demand generation initiatives and considerable 
expansion in China. We have made significant progress 
integrating Language Weaver into the Language 
Technologies business unit. Language Weaver 
performance versus equivalent period in 2009 was 
robust and we continue to invest heavily in statistical 



9Annual Report and Accounts 2010

SD
L O

verview
1

“ We are confident in our growth prospects and 
our long term potential to reward investors 
with continued profitable growth”

We are committed to remain the innovator in the 
Global Information Management space and look to a 
future which is about seamless product integrations 
and leading edge product innovation combined with 
consistent execution and delivery. The acquisition 
of Language Weaver and Xopus extend solution set 
availability and should increase accessible market 
size and ability to penetrate. More and more clients 
are realising the power of combined use of our 
Web Content Management, Structured Content 
Management and Language Technologies. We are also 
committed to make each client’s experience with SDL 
an engaging and compelling one. 

Outlook and Current Trading
Initial trading is positive in 2011 and in the absence of a 
major economic reverse we are confident that 2011 will 
be another good growth year for SDL. Economic signs 
are still variable in some segments but we are seeing a 
more sustained recovery in demand.

We have made solid progress in integrating the two 
businesses acquired in 2010, and have strengthened 
our executive management team. We believe we 
have a sound platform and the right strategy in place. 
We have no debt and our cash position gives us 
solid opportunity to pursue further strategic growth 
options, both organic and through acquisition, should 
they arise.

We have an exciting year in prospect in 2011, with 
SDL Tridion 2011 a next generation Web Content 
Management product with strong integration to other 
SDL technologies already released to market and an 
exciting roadmap of innovation looking ahead.

We are therefore confident in our growth prospects 
and our long term potential to reward investors 
with continued profitable growth and strong 
shareholder returns.

Mark Lancaster 
Executive Chairman

machine translation in order to rapidly expand 
the addressable market for both commercial and 
government sectors.

Clients investing in Language Technologies in 2010 
included Total, National Cancer Institute, Novartis, 
European Patent Office, Avaya and TripAdvisor. 

Language Services
(contributing £124.6 million or 61% of group 
revenue and £25.2 million or 71% of Group PBTA). 
(2009: contributing £109.6 million or 64% of group 
revenue and £19.8 million or 66% of Group PBTA) 
2010 was a strong year for the Language Services 
segment. Significant account growth and new 
customer wins led to organic revenue growth of 
14% with negligible currency impact. The business 
made significant progress in North America and 
execution was strong in Asia against a strategic goal 
of building position in Japan, China and Korea. The 
business had several significant new client wins in 
2010 including AstraZeneca, Dassault Systèmes, Regus, 
FlexLink and VMWare. The business remains highly 
profitable and cash generative and we have continued 
to focus on effective global sourcing strategy and 
network optimisation in 2010, making two strategic 
commitments to opening offices in Turkey and Chile. 
Statistical machine translation is proving highly 
complementary to our core language services offering, 
driving efficiencies and competitive advantage. 

Global Information Management 
Vision and Strategy 
In 2010 we made significant progress in building 
our end-to-end content management solutions 
and we have clear plans to leverage our broadened 
capabilities and offerings in 2011. It is clear to us that 
SDL’s solutions can play a compelling role helping 
our clients engage with their clients in a consistent 
way across multiple languages and channels, thereby 
optimising the experience of their own clients through 
content use. We build brand equity for our clients and 
accelerate globalisation and roll out of new products. 
SDL’s vision is aligned to macro-trends such as growth 
of the internet, the accelerating adoption of cloud-
based computing, the globalisation of businesses, and 
the continued rapid growth of Asian economies. Within 
our client base and internally at SDL there is a rapid 
movement towards live and collaborative content, 
personalisation and targeting and we have a range of 
scalable end–to-end solutions to meet these needs. 



10

Strategy
 

SDL set out its strategy in a 
comprehensive way in 2009. 
As the leading provider 
of Global Information 
Management solutions our 
primary goal is to deliver 
value to our stakeholders 
through long term profitable 
growth. We have seven 
strategic focal points. 

We have five operating 
principles that guide 
our actions:
•	 Delivering superior returns to 

our shareholders

•	 Excelling in the provision 
of solutions and service to 
our clients

•	 Operating effectively and 
reducing waste in all we do

•	 Providing an inspiring, 
rewarding environment 
for employees

•	 Being a model citizen in 
the communities in which 
we operate

Focal point Key Performance Indicator/
Measure 2010

Implementation progress in 2010

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Key Account Growth
Building a strong 
position with the world’s 
leading organisations

•	 New client acquisition –  
gain at least 5 strategically 
significant new clients 

•	 Objective over-delivered 2010 
was an excellent year for new 
client acquisition 

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Cross Leverage 
Delivering operating 
synergies through 
collaboration, ensuring 
clients can easily 
access the full range of 
SDL capabilities

•	 Expand solutions offered to 
global client base

•	 Capitalise on leverage 
potential to content 
management segment

•	 Over 300 clients use multiple 
SDL solutions

•	 Content management segment 
delivered 21% organic growth

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Geographic Expansion
Being the most global 
company in our space 
and growing our position 
in developing markets

•	 Expand sales in emerging 
markets continuing to focus on 
local management capability

•	 Selectively expand 
global network and 
sourcing capability 

•	 Emerging market revenues grew 
from 8% to 12% of global revenues 

•	 SDL committed to network 
expansion in Chile and Turkey and 
new offices in China

At the core of the SDL mission 
we help our clients engage 
with their clients through 
multiple languages and 
channels and we aim to offer 
a compelling set of content 
and language management 
solutions through the 
provision of technology 
and services.



11Annual Report and Accounts 2010

SD
L O

verview
1

Focal point Key Performance Indicator/
Measure 2010

Implementation progress in 2010

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Technology Leadership 
Providing best-of-breed 
technology solutions 
to our clients in the 
industries in which 
we operate

•	 Launch next generation 
statistical machine translation 
product with SDL BeGlobal

•	 Deliver launch plans 
in structured content 
management business and 
integrate to SDL LiveContent 
Technology  
 

•	 Roll out SDL SmartTarget 
profile-based marketing and 
eCommerce solution

•	 SDL BeGlobal was launched to 
market in October 2010 

•	 Two updates launched to market in 
2010 – SDL Trisoft in the DITA space 
for Xml technical documentation 
with integration to SDL LiveContent, 
and SDL Contenta for S1000D an 
international standard for technical 
document publication

•	 Launched in June 2010 derived from 
SDL Fredhopper integration

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Acquisition and 
Partnership
Acquiring businesses 
with complementary 
technologies and 
creating shareholder 
value through 
strategic partnerships

•	 Buy or build of emergent 
technologies to further 
develop end to end content 
management solutions  
 

•	 Expand sales channel and 
penetration through strategic 
partnership 

•	 Two acquisitions made in 2010 – 
Language Weaver, an industry 
leading statistical machine 
translation business and Xopus, 
that expands content creation 
capabilities to non-technical authors

•	 Strategic partnership with 
Sapient operational 

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Operational Effectiveness
Optimising our sourcing 
and resource use to 
drive profitability and 
providing outstanding 
client service

•	 Continuity of Leadership 
resolve Chairman/CEO 
succession planning

•	 Strengthen Executive team 
 

•	 Fully integrate any acquired 
businesses against formal 
integration plan 

•	 In early 2011 Mark Lancaster 
became Executive Chairman and 
John Hunter was appointed CEO

•	 Two new Executive Team 
appointments made in 2010 of 
Group CTO and Group CIO 

•	 Language Weaver and Xopus 
integrations completed – Language 
Technologies is run as an integrated 
global business

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
Providing an inspiring 
environment where 
employees can grow 
and develop, conserving 
use of scarce resources 
and contributing to the 
community through the 
SDL Foundation

•	 Complete baseline carbon 
emission assessment for 
global HQ 

•	 Update Code of Conduct for 
new legislation and modernise  

•	 Continue to fund SDL 
Foundation with focus on 
sustainability – increase 
employee participation

•	 Baseline assessment completed 
for global HQ – programs 
started to manage direct and 
indirect emissions 

•	 New Code of Conduct is approved 
by the SDL Board, this will be rolled 
out in 2011 

•	 SDL Foundation funded to 
£250,000, currently 15 active projects 
with 70% of funded projects directly 
nominated by SDL employees
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Key Account Growth

SDL is proud to have the 
world’s leading brands 
amongst its global client 
list. During 2010 we saw 
more of our clients adopting 
additional solutions from 
our portfolio, as they grow 
and expand their Global 
Information Management 
strategies within their 
organisations.

•	 117 new enterprise customers 
chose to adopt our solutions

•	 10 of our software clients went 
on to deepen their GIM solution 
with SDL

•	 We broadened our offering 
within 8 of our manufacturing 
and automotive clients

•	 18 more financial services 
companies chose to select 
solutions from SDL

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

117  new enterprise customers  
chose to adopt our solutions
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Virgin Money
Case Study

Virgin Money Turns to SDL for a Consistent 
Global Website
Virgin Money, part of the Virgin Group, is a rising star of the financial 
services sector. Its main business line is the provision of credit cards and, 
today, 95 percent of Virgin Money credit cards are acquired through the 
website. Its website has 40,000 visitors a day, with a 50/50 split between 
new and existing customers. 

Virgin Money underwent a significant re-brand. Its website was a key 
component of this process. The tone and functionality of the website had 
to change and they could only undertake such a project on a stable and 
well-architected platform, SDL Tridion. They are now able to launch a new 
product, without input from the IT department, making the turnaround 
time on new content for the site exceptionally fast. The look and feel of 
their site is consistent in the different countries in which they sell and 
so they can provide a personalised and consistent experience to their 
worldwide customers. 

•	 Fast turnaround on new 
product launches

•	 No IT involved in website 
changes

•	 Consistent look and feel 
of brand 

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership
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Saab AB
Case Study

Saab AB Selects SDL for Gripen Fighter 
Aircraft Program
Swedish aerospace company Saab, with its five business areas of 
Aeronautics, Dynamics, Electronic Defence Systems, Security and Defence 
Solutions, and Support and Services, selected SDL for its SDL LiveContent™, 
in order to fulfil requirements of the Gripen fighter aircraft program. 
Gripen is the first of the new generation, multi-role combat aircraft to 
enter service.

SDL provides an interactive delivery solution that provides advanced 
distribution and viewing of content. This is part of the Gripen IETP project 
which is a two-year, multi-phase project with simultaneous deliveries 
via CD and the Web to ensure that the most accurate and up-to-date 
information is available for the Swedish War Fighter.

•	 Simultaneous deliveries of 
fighter aircraft content for CD 
and Web

•	 Ensure the most accurate and 
relevant information 

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership



15Annual Report and Accounts 2010

2

Dassault Systèmes
Case Study

Key A
ccount G

row
th &

 C
ross Leverag

e

Dassault Systèmes Chooses SDL to Support 
Unified Research and Development Strategy
Dassault Systèmes is a leading provider of Product Lifecycle Management 
solutions, 3D simulation and CAD software. The Global Information 
Management solution from SDL will support Dassault Systèmes’ 
worldwide research and development strategy to centralise and streamline 
localisation processes.

With the majority of the company’s localisation based on user interface 
and software documentation, the aligned Global Information Management 
strategy centralises the management of global multilingual product 
content, allows for translation asset reuse and harmonises processes 
throughout the Dassault Systèmes group. As a dynamic company with 
rapid growth from acquisitions and aggressive market and product 
strategies, the creation of a central, consistent, and unified translation 
platform is important to protect and drive Dassault Systèmes’ highly 
focused customer experience. 

•	 A complete integrated solution

•	 A dynamic platform 
that can support R&D 
business processes

•	 Reuse and centralisation 
of multilingual content 
improves efficiencies

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership
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Cross Leverage

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Key to SDL’s strategy is to 
leverage different parts of 
the organisation to grow 
and expand our clients’ 
ability to better engage 
with their customers. 2010 
was another year in which 
we experienced significant 
cross-sell opportunities 
among our clients, as they 
continue to see the value of 
adopting Global Information 
Management strategies across 
their organisations.

Examples of such clients 
can be viewed in video case 
studies we have created and 
in some examples below. 
These can be found at 
www.sdl.com/introducing-sdl 

Mandarin Oriental 
Mandarin Oriental Hotel Group is an award-winning, international luxury 
hotel investment and management group. Mandarin Oriental started its 
partnership with SDL by using our Web Content Management solution. 

With their desire to reach a wider global audience, the Group expanded 
their partnership with SDL to integrate language translation and language 
services into the web content process to ensure a consistent, high-quality 
experience is delivered to its customers around the world. In that way, 
their customers receive the same excellent experience on the website 
and mobile sites as they get while staying at Mandarin Oriental hotels 
or resorts. The most recent addition to their website portfolio included 
mobile versions of their website and the number of bookings they received 
from their mobile site surpassed expectations and showed a return on 
investment within 2 months.
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Avaya
Avaya is a global leader in enterprise communications systems. Its 
technical documentation department started working with SDL first in our 
Language Technologies division about five years ago, deploying translation 
management technology to help automate and improve the efficiencies of 
the localization process, as well as global authoring technology to improve 
the quality of source content. The deployment has since grown to apply 
this technology in other departments such as marketing. 

Recently Avaya is more involved with creating a translation shared service, 
as well as expanding the involvement with SDL’s Language Services. 
Since the acquisition of Language Weaver, Avaya is also looking at how 
it can deploy automated translation to make sure it can translate some 
of its content automatically, while still leaving some content to be 
translated only by humans. Avaya is constantly seeking to improve the 
quality of its content, as well as the efficiency of its processes in managing 
global information right across the business. Together SDL and Avaya 
are constantly looking at ways the company can continue to expand its 
Global Information Management strategy. 

FlexLink
FlexLink is a global provider of production logistics solutions with sales units 
in 25 countries and partners in more than 60 countries. The offer consists 
of standardised conveyor platforms, handling functions, components, 
systems, software and services.

For the FlexLink group, the web is a most important communication tool 
to the market and to manage the content of the company website, SDL’s 
Web Content Management solution, SDL Tridion has been used for more 
than 8 years. Recently, FlexLink expanded their solution by integrating SDL 
Translation Management System and language services into this solution, so 
that they can provide the content on their website in a total of 10 languages. 

The benefits they have experienced from working with SDL have been 
the quality of content, our local presence in their target markets and the 
superior ability of the translation management system in handling their 
complex translation projects. The integration of their website with the 
technology which handles the translation provides for an easier experience 
in providing multilingual content on their website.

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership
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Geographic Expansion
2010 Operating Highlights – Growth in Developing Markets

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

SDL is committed to expand its 
position in developing markets 
given continued globalisation 
and SDL client demand for 
accelerated product roll out 
into new territories. The 
demand our clients have is 
for high quality language and 
content solutions presented in 
local language consistent with 
global brand identity. 

In 2010 SDL continued to 
build position in developing 
markets and our developing 
market sales (particularly in 
Asia) grew rapidly. 

SDL firmly believes that the 
route to success in developing 
markets is to have high 
quality, locally managed 
organisations staffed by skilled 
staff enabling comprehensive 
client dialogue and service. 
We now have over 300 
employees operating in Asia.

•	 Our emerging market revenues 
increased from 8% (2009) to 
12% of global revenues given 
our strategic focus, particularly 
on Japan, China and Korea

•	 We saw increasing adoption 
of technology based solutions 
and SDL GIM solutions were 
effectively deployed in Japanese 
and Korean environments, 
providing strong value in use 
solutions in these territories

•	 We opened new offices in Beijing 
and Shanghai improving our 
sales footprint in these key cities

•	 We executed more significant 
web content management 
deals in Asia and interest in SDL 
Tridion is starting to build based 
on focused activity and strong 
product attestation

•	 We committed to expansion in 
Turkey which will accelerate our 
language sourcing capability in 
this critical trading nation

•	 We committed to expand our 
sourcing capability in South 
America through opening a 
new office in Chile

•	 We continued to experience 
strong interest in our SDL 
Trados Studio Technologies in 
China and further accelerated 
sales and deal size up to small 
corporate server levels. In 
China interest continues to 
build in managing international 
content in a coordinated and 
structured fashion
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New Product Releases in 2010 Were 
•	 A new SDL Trados® Studio Starter edition for the occasional translator

•	 SDL OpenExchange – a new development environment so that the 
community can openly develop based on SDL Trados Studio products 
for translators

•	 SDL integrated SDL Trisoft™ with SDL LiveContent™ to provide end-to-
end dynamic publishing

•	 SDL SmartTarget™ a profile-based marketing and eCommerce solution

•	 SDL launched ‘predictive text’ for technical communicators, as part of 
its SDL Global Authoring Management System™ 

•	 SDL Trisoft™ 2011 was release for DITA, the XML standard for 
technical writing

•	 SDL unveiled its cloud platform for machine translation, with 
SDL BeGlobal™

SDL has a suite of solutions 
for its customers as part 
of its Global Information 
Management offering that 
offer best-of-breed capabilities 
and that are flexible, scalable 
and integrated with existing 
enterprise systems. 

They provide our customers 
with an end-to-end 
solution for managing 
information all the way 
from content creation, 
through to management, 
translation and publishing in 
different formats, channels 
and languages. 

Content 
Creation

Content 
Management

Translation 
Management

Multi-channel 
Publishing

Customer Experience 
Optimization
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Acquisitions in 2010 – Development of 
Global Information Management Solution
In 2010 SDL made two strategic acquisitions that further extended 
the range of content and language management solutions offered to 
global clients. These acquisitions are a further step in implementing 
the strategy of providing a complete set of end-to-end content 
and language management solutions – that is the power of Global 
Information Management.

Whether it is content creation or management, translation management, 
content reuse, multi-channel publishing or optimising the customer 
experience – SDL Global Information Management offers a solution. 

Language Weaver in the SDL Language Technologies division, acquired in 
July 2010, is an industry-leading statistical machine translation technology.

Xopus in the SDL Structured Content Technologies division, acquired 
in June 2010, expands structured content creation possibilities to 
non-technical authors. 

About Language Weaver 
•	 Founded in 2002

•	 Leading-edge commercial science breakthrough technology in 
high-speed statistical language translation

•	 Based in Los Angeles, California

•	 Over 450 clients 

•	 Serves broad range of verticals with translation solutions for digital 
content, social media, customer support and government

•	 Solutions can be trained and hosted according to client or industry 
vertical need

•	 Launched next generation platform “SDL BeGlobal” in 2010

•	 Incorporates “TrustScore™”, an automated quality prediction that can 
be set at client preference 

•	 Expands amount of publishable content that is translated by improving 
accessibility of solution 

About Xopus 
•	 Founded in 2001

•	 World-leading online XML editor 

•	 Based in Den Haag, Netherlands

•	 Over 200 clients use the technology 

•	 Industry verticals served include high technology, life science, 
insurance and government 

•	 Enables non-technical authors to create and review structured content 

•	 Complements high-end powerful XML authoring tools

•	 Fully integrates with SDL Structured Content Technology solutions 

Key account growth
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The Language League Table 2010  

Top 10 languages in 2010
2010 

Ranking
2009 

Ranking

Spanish 1 1

French European 2 4

German 3 3

Japanese 4 2

English 5 5

French Canadian 6 8

Italian 7 7

Dutch 8 9

Chinese Simplified 9 6

Russian 10 10

SDL is at the core of the globalisation process 
for many clients, playing a critical role in 
supporting new product roll out into new 
territories and delivering brand consistency. 
This demands stringent processes to ensure 
quality, consistency and leveraging of content 
solutions for our clients. Today we support 
a leading-edge set of end-to-end content 
and language management solutions on a 
daily basis and managing complex delivery 
processes is at the heart of what we do.
In 2010 we continued to see some interesting trends 
in language and although our top ten languages 
serviced remained the same, we strengthened our 
sourcing through commitment to new offices in Chile 
and Turkey in response to language trends in those 
territories. The league table of the top 10 languages 
serviced in 2010 is given in the table below:

Interesting Facts about the SDL End-To-
End Content and Language Solution Set
•	 We do it all from content creation and authoring, 

to terminology management, to translation, to 
leveraging and reuse of content, to publication, to 
optimising a customer’s experience with content

•	 Our clients often realise significant productivity 
gains by using our solutions

•	 Our office network spans over 60 offices in 
35 countries 

•	 We service over 3000 clients with our solutions 

•	 We actively manage over 180 languages, including 
Amharic, Greenlandic and Maori 

•	 Our Language Technology is at the core of 
language management for many leading global 
enterprises and a significant percentage of the 
world’s freelance translators use our SDL Trados 
Studio product every day to help them drive 
translation productivity

•	 Across our technology solutions we have over 1500 
Enterprise solutions deployed, often with leading 
global organisations

•	 Our statistical machine translation solutions continue 
to push the boundaries of language science

•	 Our SDL Trisoft and SDL Contenta products are 
industry-leading solutions for publishing technical 
content to the web and our SDL LiveContent 
solution enables interaction and feedback between 
consumers and technical authors, improving 
publications and their dynamic delivery

•	 Our Web Content Management products enable 
large companies to design and build global web 
sites and integrate with other SDL technologies 
such as online retail for eCommerce and SDL 
LiveContent – they enable rapid scaling and 
building of global websites

•	 Our eCommerce products, when tested, produce 
a significant increase in revenues through online 
channels for clients and enable personalisation and 
targeting through online channels, reducing bounce 
rates and increasing revenue capture and order size 
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Corporate Social Responsibility
The SDL Environmental Commitment

Key Measures 
ISO 14064 requires an organisation to report its carbon emissions in three 
scopes: Scope 1 Direct Emissions, Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emissions and 
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emissions. SDL has included a range of activities 
within its footprint scope as per the diagram below. 

SDL is committed to 
progressively improve 
targeting of its environmental 
plans and for the first time 
reports on carbon emissions 
at its head office. This work 
will form a basis to assist 
the Board in scoping future 
carbon management plans.

SDL believes that conservation 
of the environment, through 
effective management 
and reduction in use of 
scarce natural resources, 
is an integral part of 
our corporate social 
responsibility framework. 
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Scope 1 
Direct Emissions

Gas

Vehicles

Refrigerants

Scope 2 
Indirect Energy 

Emissions

Electricity

Scope 3 
Indirect Other 

Emissions

Business Travel

Staff Commuting

Other

The policy of the SDL Board is to progressively find ways to ensure our 
impact on the environment is minimised where it can be sensibly and 
economically delivered. In executing this policy the Board will focus on 
carbon management and reduction. The Board believes that execution of 
effective carbon management plans will optimise resource usage, generate 
commercial return and enhance the SDL brand.

Accordingly we have recently completed an exercise with Carbon Clear 
Limited to measure carbon emissions at our global headquarters aligned 
to the internationally recognised standard ISO 14064. For the first time this 
year we lay out those measures. The work has demonstrated that effective 
carbon management has the potential to produce shareholder returns 
through operating cost reduction whilst at the same time reducing the 
environmental burden of SDL operations. 
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Key Findings 
The results of the project show that SDL head office’s carbon footprint for 
the period January to December 2010 was estimated at 1,736 tonnes of 
CO2e. A breakdown of emissions by source shows that 37% of emissions 
come from business travel, 34% from electricity, 25% from staff commuting 
and 4% from other.

4%

37%

34%

Business Travel

25%

Electricity

Commuting

Other

Emissions by Activity

Emissions in tonnes of CO2e by Activity

We have used Global Headquarters staff numbers (FTE) against which to 
benchmark emissions – see the table below. 

Benchmarks

Total Footprint (Tonnes CO2e) 1,736
Staff (FTE) 225
Tonnes CO2e/FTE 7.7

OtherCommutingElectricityBusiness Travel
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

631.9
595.2

438.6

70.0
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Corporate Social Responsibility
The SDL Environmental Commitment  
continued

Key account growth

Technology Leadership

Geographic Expansion

Operational E�ectiveness

Corporate Social Responsibility

Cross Leverage

Acquisition/Partnership

Key Implementation Activities
Further to the findings of the carbon footprinting assessment SDL 
has identified a range of activities to measure, manage and reduce its 
carbon emissions.

1. Selectively expand measurement scope within SDL operations

2. Establish clear carbon management considering both direct and 
indirect emissions

3. Continue to engage employees to help reduce waste and protect 
the environment

4. Consider greener and energy efficient systems where they have 
demonstrable commercial return 

5. Consider environmental efficiency actively in new office design and 
in all materials and equipment sourcing decisions for new offices 

6. Operate a full program of recycling schemes in the SDL 
global operation

7. Address directly waste reduction, look to reuse and recycle materials 
in all global operations and minimise printing consumables and cost 

8. Operate equipment disposal schemes that encourage extension of 
operating life of equipment with third parties who would otherwise 
purchase new equipment 

9. Directly minimise travel through use of alternative technologies 
e.g. webex and OCS – fully deploy and roll out these technologies 

10. Provide clear mechanisms to help employees car pool and share 
transportation costs

11. Where possible expand HR benefit schemes to embrace environmental 
objectives such as targeted reduction in travel – examples of such 
schemes are cycle to work schemes 

12. Address environmentally-based issues in property maintenance plans 

13. Consider environmental impact of all strategic sourcing programs 
including cost effective delivery options – request suppliers to support 
equipment recycling, cost effective delivery and life extension
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Corporate Social Responsibility
Community Support and the SDL Foundation

The SDL Foundation went 
from strength to strength in 
2010, continuing to support 
less fortunate communities 
around the world. The 
investment emphasis focused 
on self help, micro income 
generation and sustainability, 
is delivering real change. 
SDL employee involvement 
through nominating ideas 
and direct participation in 
projects is a crucial part of 
the work of the foundation. 
In December 2010, the SDL 
Board pledged another 
£250,000 of funding support 
to the foundation.

Il Sole
Microloan Provision for 50 Women (India)

“SDL Italy have, in their personal time, translated 
1500 children’s adoption/sponsorship papers 
further supporting Il Sole’s work.”

Chiara Orlandini, SDL employee

Uganda Reflex 
Pig Farm – Uganda

“Thank you very much for the grant offer which 
will make a tremendous difference to the lives of 
single parent families in Uganda… these single 
parents do not waste a penny.”

Rupert Turpin, Chair of Trustees, Uganda Reflex/SPAU

Hatua Likoni
IGA and Building Projects (Kenya)

“10% of the donation helped to build a school 
that is educating 170 students. Investment in a 
poultry project now generates enough money to 
fund 6 scholarships a year.”

Gabi Fondiller, Trustee Hatua Likoni

BeauBois College (via SDL Montreal) 
School Development Projects (Senegal)
“I honestly feel this project will make a significant 
difference in a community’s life and a better 
future, for these children. SDL in Canada pledge 
an additional $6000 to help educate as many 
children as possible. Thank you.”

Frank Raco, SDL employee

Kupwara, Kashmir 
School Building Refurbishment

“Before the school occupied 3 rooms now they 
have 5… this means they can extend their classes 
and take more children on board. Thanks to 
the SDL Foundation the village now has a 
wonderful school.”

Doris Johnson, SDL employee

Kumari Trust
Bridge Building in Nepal
“The bridge is of vital importance to the 
community. Without the bridge, trade would be 
very hard, and children could not go to school.”

Trees Van Rijsewijk, Founder, Kumari Trust

A Smile is the Same in any Language
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At SDL people are at the core 
of our business success, with 
2,159 employees strongly 
focused on delivering 
excellent standards of 
client satisfaction on a 
global basis. In 2010 we 
continued to focus our 
employee communications 
around three core values of 
innovation, collaboration and 
communication. We have 
recently launched the SDL 
Knowledge Series, a program 
driven by Group Marketing 
and sponsored by the Chief 
Executive, which seeks to 
ensure that all employees are 
fully aware of SDL strategic 
objectives and the full suite 
of products and services 
that now form the GIM 
end-to-end set of content and 
language solutions.

Two of our core values – communication and collaboration – place strong 
emphasis on teamwork and effective working between SDL employees 
for the benefit of SDL as a whole. This philosophy is a critical expectation 
of leadership behaviour in SDL. In 2010 the SDL Board also updated and 
modernised the Code of Conduct which defines standards of behaviour 
expected at SDL. This new Code of Conduct will be progressively rolled out 
in 2011.

We seek to create an environment which is stimulating, challenging 
and fulfilling for our employees and one in which our employees are 
encouraged to maximise their personal growth and development 
potential. Our workplace views diversity as a key strength and prohibits 
discrimination in all of its forms. 
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•	 We value teamwork and live up to our core values of innovation, 
collaboration and communication in our actions 

•	 We believe the behaviour of employees is important to our reputation 
and we have defined these behaviours in an updated Code of Conduct 
that all of our employees are expected to adhere to

•	 SDL rejects all forms of harassment, unfair treatment and bullying. All 
forms of discrimination will be explicitly rejected whether on the basis 
of gender, age, race, skin colour, ethnic or national origin, trade union 
membership, marital status, disability, religion, sexual orientation or 
any other form of discrimination prohibited by applicable law

•	 We never operate forced labour practices and will only employ 
individuals who are working voluntarily of their own free will.  
All forms of coercion will be explicitly rejected 

•	 SDL has a global, diverse and international culture. SDL values diversity 
in its workforce and strong equality of opportunity will always apply. 
In recruitment, SDL will value diversity. 

•	 We aim to provide our employees with the opportunity to build 
long term careers within SDL and to maximise their personal growth 
and development

•	 We believe the right training, induction and development experiences 
are crucial to the success of our employees and we fully equip 
employees to perform in their roles. The SDL Executive actively support 
and participate in the SDL Knowledge Series to ensure broad based 
knowledge of SDL across the employee base 

•	 Leadership capability is essential to success – our leaders are expected 
to prioritise effective communication to employees

•	 We provide employees the opportunity to participate in the value 
creation of SDL 

•	 We fully consider applications from disabled employees and we will 
aim to provide continuity of employment where existing employees 
become disabled 

•	 We enable our employees to be socially responsible and contribute 
to the communities in which they live and we actively encourage 
our employees to contribute ideas to the SDL Foundation, a charity 
which supports sustainable causes around the world. We enable our 
employees to participate in projects sponsored by the SDL Foundation 
where they wish to do so 

•	 We openly assess individual performance and provide clarity of 
personal objectives that are aligned to corporate goals
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Executive Directors
 

None of the directors have been accused of, or been 
reported as acting in breach of, professional conduct 
by any Regulatory or Statutory Authority.

Mark Lancaster, age 49 
Executive Chairman 
(Appointed: 31 January 1992)

Mark Lancaster founded the Group in 1992, having 
identified the need for a high-level and comprehensive 
service and technology provider for the globalisation of 
companies’ content and products. Mark was previously 
employed as a design engineer at Satchwell Control 
Systems before he progressed his career through Lotus 
Development Corporation and later as international 
development director with Ashton-Tate. He is responsible 
for the strategic development of the Group. 

John Hunter, age 45 
Chief Executive Officer
(Appointed: 1 September 2008)

John Hunter is a Chartered Management Accountant 
and joined SDL in September 2008. Prior to this he held 
a number of senior financial and management positions 
in Europe, Asia and the US within the ICI Group. Before 
joining SDL he was Chief Financial Officer of ICI Paints, 
a leading global decorative business. Since September 
2008 John has been Chief Financial Officer of SDL 
and was promoted effective 1 February 2011 to 
Chief Executive Officer. 

Cristina Lancaster, age 47  
Global Operations Consultant
(Appointed: 4 July 1993)

Cristina Lancaster is an experienced software engineer 
who previously worked as a senior support analyst at 
Lotus Development before establishing an IT training 
consultancy business in 1990. She joined in 1993 
and has responsibility for the systems, processes and 
methodology used throughout the Group coupled with 
the implementation of training and development plans.
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N0n-Executive Directors
 

John Matthews, age 66 
(Appointed: 12 June 2001 – Re-appointed 23 April 2010)

John Matthews, FCA, joined the Board in 2001. He is Senior Independent Director 
of Diploma plc and Minerva plc and a Non-Executive Director of Aurelian Oil 
and Gas plc. He has previously been Chairman of Regus Group plc and of 
Crest Nicholson plc and was a Managing Director of County NatWest and 
Deputy Chairman/Deputy Chief Executive of Beazer plc. 

Jane Thompson, age 51 
(Appointed: 16 December 2009 – Re-appointed 23 April 2010)

Jane Thompson is co-founder of Hayfield Group, a market-leading executive 
coaching business specialising in working with senior executives primarily in 
FTSE 100 companies. Her coaching work is mainly in the Financial, Media, Telecom, 
Oil and Retail sectors. Prior to establishing Hayfield Group Ms. Thompson spent 
more than 15 years in the City, using her fluency in German and French to advise 
leading European financial institutions on investment strategy and economics.

Joe Campbell, age 52 
(Appointed: 1 July 2005 – Re-appointed 24 April 2009)

Joe Campbell was CEO of Trados for the year before its acquisition by SDL in July 
2005 when he joined the board as a Non-Executive Director. Prior to this he was 
COO of IManage, a publicly traded company on the NASDAQ and is currently on 
the board of Sierra Systems Group Inc, an IT and management consulting services 
company. He adds a considerable level of expertise in enterprise software sales and 
brings years of experience of the US financial markets and M&A activity. 

Chris Batterham, age 55 
(Appointed: 15 October 1999 – Re-appointed 23 April 2010)

Chris Batterham qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Arthur Andersen and has 
significant experience in the technology based business environment, including the 
flotation of Unipalm on the London Stock Exchange. Currently working on the boards 
of a number of companies including The Risk Advisory Group, Office 2 Office plc, 
Iomart plc and Eckoh plc as Chairman, Chris brings a wealth of experience in the 
strategic development of companies within the IT sector.

David Clayton, age 54 
(Appointed: 16 December 2009 – Re-appointed 23 April 2010)

David Clayton is currently Group Director of Strategy and Corporate Development 
for SAGE plc. After a career in senior executive roles at a number of international 
technology companies he joined BZW in 1995 where, after its merger with CSFB in 
1997, he was Managing Director and Head of European Technology Research until 
2004. He joined the Sage Board in June 2004 as a Non-Executive Director before 
taking up his current executive role in October 2007.
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Operating Review

Performance Overview
2010 was a strong year of progress for SDL in which we made significant 
advances in implementing our strategy as well as recording record revenue 
and operating profits. We saw a general strengthening in demand and 
whilst we are not yet at the level where we are seeing demand recovery 
in every segment that we service, we certainly exit 2010 with a better 
demand environment than in 2009. New client acquisition, particularly 
in Language Services and excellent cross leveraging, particularly by 
the Content Management businesses, contributed to our progress. 
We brought significant innovations to market in 2010 with the release of 
SDL BeGlobal in Language Weaver taking statistical machine translation 
forward another significant step. It was very pleasing that this product was 
released to market on time despite the acquisition; quite an achievement 
by the Language Technologies team. We also saw next generation 
releases of SDL Trisoft and SDL Contenta products in Structured Content 
Management; this integrated business from the former XyEnterprise and 
SDL Trisoft businesses is proving quite a trend setter in market innovation 
in the technical publishing space and has good momentum. We also 
released SDL Global AMS 2010 to market during the year which brought 
to market the exciting innovation of our AutoSuggest technology and SDL 
SmartTarget for eCommerce profile-based marketing.

Geographically our business in North America definitely saw stronger 
demand than we saw in European markets. Yet again we made progress in 
Asia, with the strategic focus on Japan, China and Korea that we initiated in 
2009 starting to yield real benefits. 

These factors saw overall revenue growing by 18% in 2010, with 14% 
constant currency growth and a 4% impact due to the acquired businesses 
Language Weaver and Xopus, together with a full year of XyEnterprise and 
Fredhopper. The impact of currency was negligible. 

The acquisitions of Language Weaver in our Language Technologies 
segment and Xopus in our Content Management Technologies segment 
have further expanded the SDL technology business presence, particularly 
in North America. These are highly strategic acquisitions with Language 
Weaver bringing industry leading statistical machine translation capability 
to the portfolio and offering strong potential to grow accessible market 
size by expanding the amount of translated content and Xopus via its 
user friendly editing technology expanding technical content creation 
possibilities to non technical authors. Both of these businesses fit 
comfortably with our strategy of acquiring businesses which we believe 
have leading edge technology that directly adds to or complements 
our end-to-end content management offering. The combination of our 
language and content management technologies represented 39% of 
group sales in 2010 versus 36% in 2009. 

Strong revenue growth was combined with a much higher level of strategic 
growth investment in innovation, research and development, growth 
in Asia and new offices as confidence grew during the year. Given the 
dilutive effect of Language Weaver, where we have committed to invest in 
2010 and 2011 to fully realise the market opportunity which we believe is 
very significant, overall group operating margin before amortisation was 
stable at 17.4% (2009 17.4%). Excluding Language Weaver group operating 

22%
(2009: 19%)

61%
(2009: 64%)17%

(2009: 17%)

Language Services

Language Technologies

Content Management Technologies

Revenue Split 
(by Segment)
Analysis of Revenue 
by Segment
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margin was 18.0%, up on the equivalent period despite a significant uptick 
in growth driven investment and capability.

SDL ended the year with cash of £46.6 million after cash outflow from 
acquisitions of £25.9 million during the year. Operating cash flow of 
£27.1 million was slightly lower than in 2009 (£30.1 million) as we had a 
significant inflow from receivables control in 2009 that was not repeatable 
in 2010 and higher exit sales in 2010, raising receivables. Excellent progress 
was however maintained in the receivables profile and we retained a very 
high ratio of profit to cash conversion.

Revenue 
Overview 
SDL saw double digit headline revenue growth in each of its operating 
segments, Language Services, Language Technologies and Content 
Management Technologies in 2010 with positive constant currency growth 
in each segment. The relative proportion of group revenues attributed to 
each segment is illustrated in the chart on the facing page. 

The Group’s reported revenues increased by 18% in 2010, with a 
constant currency increase of 14% supplemented by a 4% increase due to 
acquisition. Currency impact was negligible. 

Having a diverse list of key clients remains a primary source of resilience 
and strength. New client acquisition was also very pleasing in the 
Language Services and Content Management Technologies operating 
segments in 2010, with the latter business leveraging from existing SDL 
referenced clients highly effectively. The 20 largest customers contributed 
34% of revenue in 2010 (2009: 38%). We invested significantly in our 
key account management capability in 2010 as effective coordination 
according to the demands, priorities and expectations of our strategic 
clients will be a key determinant of future success. During 2010 no one 
customer contributed more than 5% of group revenues. The number of 
cross-sold solutions also continued to expand in 2010. We sense there is 
solid momentum building in adoption by clients of multiple components 
of the end-to-end GIM content management solution set which allows 
SDL clients to engage their clients across multiple channels and in multiple 
languages. Our vertical segment penetration continues to expand with 
particular progress made in pharmaceutical and healthcare, government 
and retail through personalisation and targeting.

Geographically regional demand was stronger in North America than in 
Europe in a number of our operating segments reflecting strong strategic 
client progress, demand dynamics and vertical mix in this region. Rest of 
World continued to increase and developed from 8% of sales in 2009 to 
12% in 2010; this reflects strong progress in Asia through strategic focus on 
Japan, China and Korea.

We continued to build our global infrastructure, making new office 
commitments in Turkey and Chile ensuring we have capability to grow with 
our clients and that we have excellent spread to service them on a global 
basis as they grow. 

The geographical split of sales by destination is illustrated in the chart (right):

8.2%7.8%

39.0%2009

36.7%

UK

8.3%

8.4%11.8%

33.6%2010

36.9%

9.3%

Europe

USA

Canada

Rest of world

Geographic Split of Sales 
by Destination
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Operating Review
continued

Performance by Segment 
Language Technologies
The Language Technologies segment headline sales grew by 17% this 
consists of 9% organic growth and 8% related to acquisition. Foreign 
exchange impact on sales was negligible. Language Weaver sales were 
strong in the period post acquisition and several contracts were closed. 
Leveraging the new SDL BeGlobal product launch to penetrate commercial 
as well as government clients will be an important priority in 2011. On the 
Enterprise side of the SDL Language Technologies business licence sales 
increased by 24% year on year but lower product sales in 2009 resulted 
in weaker service revenues due to lag effect. Trados sales grew by 8% 
and adoption of Trados showed positive improvement due to demand 
generation initiatives driven during the year. Interest in the Trados product 
in China remains strong and small corporate server sales were very robust. 
In general the Language Technologies business demonstrated stronger 
performance in North America than in Europe.

In 2010, following the acquisition of Language Weaver, leadership of 
the Language Technologies business on an integrated global basis was 
consolidated under common leadership. 

As well as SDL BeGlobal in Language Weaver, which takes a next significant 
step in statistical machine translation, SDL Global AMS was launched 
during the year. This product allows our customers to write information 
faster and more accurately using sophisticated linguistic technology and 
innovative features such as AutoSuggest, which suggests new sentences to 
writers as they type.

Key Language Technologies deals completed in 2010 included Total, 
National Cancer Institute, Novartis, European Patent Office, Avaya and 
TripAdvisor.

Content Management Technologies 
Overall Content Management Technologies revenues increased by 36% 
in 2010, reflecting 21% organic growth, 16% related to acquisition and an 
adverse impact of 1% due to currency. 

The Structured Content Management business has excellent momentum 
and is experiencing very strong growth with SDL Trisoft, SDL LiveContent 
and SDL Contenta all experiencing strong demand as benchmark products 
in the technical content publication space. It seems that demand for DITA 
and S1000D products is developing significantly. 

SDL Web Content Management made further sound progress in 
strengthening the sales model in Europe and North America and the 
pipeline strengthened during the year with good deal flow and execution 
in the fourth quarter. The business is moving forward positively in North 
America under new leadership. A significant new product release SDL 
Tridion 2011, which contains significant integrations to other SDL products, 
has been released to market in Q1 2011 and is generating significant interest. 

Key Content Management Technologies deals completed in 2010 include 
Unilever, Atmel, Affinion, Fidelity Investments, Saab, United Airlines and 
Virgin Money.
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Language Services
SDL Language Services revenues increased by 14% in 2010, with the growth 
entirely attributable to constant currency growth as currency impacts were 
negligible. In general although we did not see a broad based recovery in 
every segment, the demand environment strengthened during the year 
with solid progress in developing position in several verticals such as 
Pharmaceuticals and Life Sciences. New client acquisition remained solid 
with significant customer wins at AstraZeneca and Dassault Systèmes. 
In general demand was more robust in North America than in Europe 
and we are making significant progress in this territory. We continued to 
develop our position in Asia with the strategic focus on Japan, China and 
Korea building positive momentum. Across the SDL Group emerging 
markets now contribute 12% of global revenues.

The services business continues to invest in global infrastructure and 
committed to new office investments in Turkey and Chile in 2010. 

Gross Margin
The Group’s gross margin improved to 57% in 2010 versus 56% in 2009. 

This reflects in part higher intrinsic gross margins in the technology 
businesses which grew from 36% of sales in 2009 to 39% of sales in 
2010. These technology businesses have higher gross margins due to 
lower direct costs before gross margin when compared to the Language 
Services business. The trend seen in recent years when gross margins have 
continued to slightly increase has therefore been continued in 2010.

The Language Services gross margin was broadly maintained in 2010 
compared to 2009. The Language Services segment leverages technologies 
from the Language Technologies business to ensure efficiency in delivery. 
The structure of costs for each network office between internal costs and 
external costs, predominantly translators, allows the business to flex its cost 
base in accordance with demands levels. This, combined with a full year 
impact of the vendor cost reduction programme carried out in 2009 has 
allowed the business to maintain margin counteracting any impact of end 
market pricing. 

Administrative Expenses
In 2010, administration costs excluding amortisation were £80.7 million 
(2009: £66.1 million). The increase of £14.6 million included £10.6 million 
relating to the two acquisitions which occurred in the middle of 2010 
and the impact of a full year of overheads for the 2009 acquisitions of 
XyEnterprise and Fredhopper.

The underlying administration cost base has therefore increased by 6% 
against a background where organic revenues have grown by 14%. 
We started to invest again in strategic growth initiatives which are pivotal 
to the future, such as growth in Asia, building the sales and marketing 
capability in our Web Content Management business, corporate marketing 
initiatives and support of the Language Weaver business. This differential 
approach to investment means we maximise the amount of funds directed 
at targeted growth. We have also built our Executive leadership team with 
new Chief Information Officer and Chief Technology Officer appointments.
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Within administration expenses, the development expenditure in the year 
was £13.6 million, significantly above the 2009 expenditure of £11.0 million. 
This included over £1 million of additional development expenditure in 
the ongoing businesses. Five product launches were made in 2010, three 
in the Content Management segment (SDL Trisoft, SDL Contenta S1000D 
and SDL SmartTarget) and two in Language Technologies (SDL BeGlobal 
and SDL Global AMS 2010). Development work on the new SDL Tridion 
2011 product, launched in January 2011, also contributed to this increase 
in expenditure. 

Development costs have again been reviewed as to whether the criteria 
for capitalisation under IFRS are met. At the current time the Board do 
not believe any capitalisation is required and consequently no capitalised 
development costs are carried on the balance sheet.

At the end of 2010 headcount was 2,159 versus 1,949 at the end of 2009. 
The acquisition of Xopus contributed an additional 7 people and Language 
Weaver an additional 104 people. Therefore underlying headcount has 
increased by 99 which include investments in the strategic areas outlined 
above. Employee related costs continue to dominate the overall cost profile 
accounting for 70% of Group Overheads (2009: 67%). The next significant 
cost element relates to office infrastructure.

Intangible assets, representing intellectual property rights ascribed to 
certain of the Group’s software and customer relationships arising from 
acquisitions are amortised between 5 and 15 years and the carrying value 
is reviewed formally on an annual basis to assess whether any impairment 
has occurred. The intangible amortisation charge in 2010 was £6.6 million 
(2009: £5.8 million). Under IFRS goodwill is not amortised but it is subject 
to an annual impairment review. Given the high degree of integration 
of acquisitions, the intangibles and goodwill were allocated to four 
Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”, namely Language Services, Language 
Technologies, Web Content Management and Structured Content 
Management). The 2010 impairment review did not result in impairment in 
any of the CGUs. The full details of the basis of this impairment review are 
explained in note 11 to the accounts.

Net Operating Margin
The net operating margin (expressed as profit before tax and amortisation 
of intangibles divided by revenue) is an important measure for the Group 
as it reflects how expenditure levels are moving relative to revenues. 
Strategic investments made in 2010 resulted in stable operating margins 
year on year, with the 2010 net operating margin of 17.4% similar to 2009. 
Margins were impacted by the business electing to acquire Language 
Weaver which will be dilutive in 2010 and 2011 as we invest to realise the 
significant growth potential in statistical machine translation. Excluding 
Language Weaver net operating margin increased to 18.0% in 2010. 

Profit before tax and amortisation of intangibles (PBTA) is a primary 
measure monitored externally by the investment community. Given strong 
growth this measure increased significantly in 2010, with 2010 PBTA of 
£35.4 million versus a 2009 comparative of £29.8 million. 

The chart (right) shows net operating margin development year on year: 06
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17.4%

17.4%

Net Operating Margin* 
Development Year on Year
* before amortisation of intangible assets
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Earnings Per Share
Earnings Per Share (EPS) is a primary performance measure in SDL as the 
Board views that there is a strong correlation between EPS growth and long 
term improvement in total shareholder return. 

As a result of this linkage EPS is used as a key underpin measure in the 
LTIP scheme, and the new LTIP scheme to be proposed to shareholders 
at the AGM proposes an EPS underpin growth measure of inflation plus 
3% per annum for full vesting to occur (with inflation measured by 
reference to the Consumer Prices Index). In addition a TSR performance 
is proposed of at least double the benchmark FTSE 250 Index (excluding 
investment trust companies) for new scheme LTIPs to fully vest. We believe 
use of EPS and TSR as crucial determinants of LTIP plan vesting provides 
very strong linkage between investor returns and senior management 
reward. This is a fundamental principle of an effective senior management 
remuneration system.

Earnings Per Share when adjusted for amortisation of intangible 
assets, increased by 19% to 34.70p. The deferred tax benefit associated 
with the amortisation of the intangible fixed assets of £1.7 million 
(2009: £1.6 million) has been adjusted in this calculation of EPS. 

The development in fully adjusted EPS year on year is shown in the chart 
(above right): 

Financing Costs
Interest costs in 2010 amounted to £0.1 million (2009: £nil). This 
interest expense reflected in part legacy finance lease transactions in the 
Language Weaver business. The Group continued to have no external debt 
funding during 2010. 

Infrastructure and Acquisition Integration
Effective internal systems deployment combined with a full global 
infrastructure of network offices to effectively service our global clients is a 
critical determinant of success for SDL. 

In 2010, as well as committing to new office investments in Turkey, Chile 
and San Jose we rapidly integrated the Language Weaver and Xopus 
acquisitions into the SDL processes, systems and operating procedures.

Language Weaver sits comfortably within the Language Technologies 
operating segment as an integrated global business under common 
leadership and Xopus has proved a valuable extension to our Structured 
Content Management product offering giving significant content creation 
possibilities to non technical authors.

This rapid integration provides a strong basis for these businesses to move 
forward in 2011. 

John Hunter 
Chief Executive Officer

Development in Fully 
Adjusted EPS Year on Year
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The Group’s capital structure is as follows:

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Net (cash) (note 19) (46,628) (46,160)
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 195,512 173,105
Capital employed 148,884 126,945

Cash Flow
SDL places considerable emphasis on free cash 
generation and delivery of stronger and stable operating 
cash flow is a priority for the SDL Group. 2010 cash flow 
from operating activities was £27.1 million (2009: £30.1 
million). The business could not repeat the significant 
reduction made in receivables in 2009 but retained very 
strong intrinsic cash generation and high profit to cash 
flow conversion ratio. Higher exit sales impacted year 
end receivables but the profile of receivables and cash 
collection was excellent.

Borrowing Facilities
The committed facilities of £20m were retained by 
the Board in 2010 as they are effectively priced. The 
committed borrowing facilities remain at £20 million 
through to February 2011 (when it will reduce to £15 
million) and then will reduce to £10 million by February 
2012. The facility does provide flexibility and gives SDL 
the financial resources to selectively pursue acquisitions 
via debt should it elect to do so. The Board has, 
however, been historically averse to operating with high 
levels of financial leverage and this prudent approach 
has provided a high level of security given variable 
conditions in the global economy. The Board reviewed 
debt market conditions in 2010 and did not consider 
the timing to be correct to renew the facility. The Board 
will continue dialogue with appropriate providers 
including RBS with regard to possible renewal in 2011.

Impact of Acquisitions 
The business continued to make strategic acquisitions 
that provide leading edge technology to our clients, 
with Language Weaver giving SDL a leading edge 
statistical machine translation capability and Xopus 
significantly expanding technical content creation 
possibilities for non technical authors. SDL has acquired 
and developed an excellent platform of end-to-end 
content management solutions for our clients which 
we believe is industry leading. The Board is committed 
to fully invest in the Language Weaver business as we 
believe the growth opportunity for statistical machine 
translation is very compelling. As such the Language 
Weaver business is anticipated to continue to be 
dilutive in 2011. 

Derivatives and other Financial 
Instruments
The Group has cash and short-term deposits at varying 
duration to fund its working capital needs and other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and 
trade creditors arising directly from its operations. The 
Group’s policy continued to be that no active trading 
in financial instruments will be undertaken within the 
operating units and all decisions on use of financial 
instruments will be taken at Group level under the 
direction of the Chief Financial Officer. 

Pricing under the current £20 million borrowing 
facility is based on a 0.85% to 1.40% margin on 
London (or equivalent) Interbank Market rates 
according to the advance date. Which rate applies 
between the 0.85%–1.4% margin is dependent on 
the net borrowings to EBITDA ratio of the Group on 
the date of the advance. This remains an intrinsically 
attractive facility and we will monitor debt market 
conditions in order to maximise value on any renewal 
in 2011. 

Under the credit facility agreement, SDL is subject to 
certain financial covenants which are required to be 
continually monitored. These covenants relate to EBITA: 
Borrowing Costs; Net Cash Flow: Debt Service Liability 
and Gross Debt: EBITDA. The Group is also required 
to maintain a percentage of its cash within a charging 
group of relevant Group subsidiaries. Since entering 
into the facility agreement and during 2010 SDL has 
complied with all of these covenants.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial 
instruments are counterparty risk, interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The Board 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these 
risks as part of its risk register review. The broad policies 
and strategies on these risks are summarised below. 

Counterparty Risk
The Group holds cash deposits in multiple currencies, 
principally GB Pound, US Dollar and Euro in a range 
of financial institutions. The main counterparty risk 
from a bank deposit perspective is with RBS and its 
affiliates. The Group has continued to maintain a very 
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active dialogue at a senior level with RBS in 2010 about 
the strategic development of RBS since the changes in 
shareholder structure and about the value of the RBS 
service proposition to SDL. This dialogue is through 
formal meetings which review each aspect of the 
business relationship with RBS. These discussions have 
been satisfactory in 2010. The Group has continued 
to monitor interest rate conditions in each territory in 
which it operates to consider discontinuities in market 
conditions to seek to maximise return on invested cash 
whilst taking minimal risk on deposit security which has 
been the primary driver of cash investment decisions 
and will remain so as long as the global economy 
exhibits signs of any fragility. 

Interest Rate Risk
The Group has no interest rate risk on borrowings as 
it has had no external facility borrowings outstanding 
at any point during 2010. Any draw-downs against 
committed facilities will expose the Group to interest 
rate risk. The committed facilities that the Group holds 
with RBS link interest rate to the LIBOR (or equivalent) 
rate. The group is not required to maintain any interest 
rate hedge against this facility and therefore does not 
do so. Debt market conditions and competitive market 
offerings are continually tracked and monitored. 

To finance working capital requirements and to 
maintain the financial flexibility to fund growth 
initiatives, projects and strategic development 
opportunities the Group maintains cash deposits 
denominated in the key operating currencies in which 
the Group trades, principally GB Pound, US Dollar, Euro 
and Yen. These deposits are affected by movements 
in interest rates and the Group seeks to match cash 
surpluses to actual operational requirements where 
possible via a comprehensive process to effectively 
manage funding of local entities. The Group continues 
to value security of deposits over absolute commercial 
return, avoiding institutional and territorial risk and 
placing emphasis on secure relationship banks. The 
group has placed its cash mainly in secure deposits 
of varying durations all less than one year. The 
Group continues to avoid excessive cash retention in 
subsidiaries and cash balances in subsidiaries have been 
maintained as low as operationally practicable. In 2010 
the Group did selectively use dual currency deposits 
as a mechanism to arbitrage up applied interest rates 
whilst taking no deposit security risk. This has partially 
mitigated the significant decline in deposit rates on 
invested cash in the global financial markets.

Liquidity Risk
The Board places absolute priority on liquidity via 
generation of free cash flow. This requires focus 
on operational expenditure and capital investment 
controls, maintenance of strong credit control on 
receivables, active tracking of work in progress, effective 
planning of financing strategy for any acquisitions and 
established approval processes for items such as lease 
commitments. The Group uses an average metric on 
DSO to generate consistent improvement in receivables 
management over time

The ratio of capital expenditure to revenue was 1.3% of 
revenues in 2010 (0.7% of revenues in 2009)

The significant capital expenditures were payments in 
accordance with the Microsoft enterprise agreement 
entered into in 2009, investments in IT hardware, 
new offices and routine replacements of computers 
as confidence returned to drive capital investment in 
growth. For the acquired business of Language Weaver, 
which used to operate under finance leases, the use 
of capital investment represents a change in policy. 
Progress in managing credit control continued to be 
maintained after the step change initiated in 2009 and 
average DSO in 2010 was 51.5 days versus 54.4 days 
in 2009. The average metric drives strong commercial 
process to track working capital development every 
single month which is a critical part of continuous 
improvement. Supplementary controls were also 
initiated to tighten tracking of work in progress given 
that although demand conditions strengthened the 
impact by segment was not uniform.

Foreign Currency Risk
The business is exposed to foreign currency movements 
with significant invoicing done in both the US Dollar 
and Euro. This gives rise to short-term debtors and 
cash balances in US Dollar and Euro with movements 
in exchange rates impacting the balance sheet. During 
2010 currency impacts on trading were broadly neutral. 
The sensitivity of the business to movements in key 
foreign currency rates is disclosed in note 22 to the 
accounts. The key sensitivity remains to the US Dollar 
where the group has the most significant mismatch 
between revenues and costs. Percentages of Euro 
derived revenues to Euro derived costs are much more 
matched. Where possible the Group attempts to match 
cost commitments to revenues in Euro and US Dollar 
zone economies but this is an ineffective hedge. Yen 
derived revenues have become more significant in the 
last twelve months given growth in Asia.
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The Board has not hedged its currency exposures in 
2010 following a comprehensive review of hedging 
strategy that was implemented in 2009. This has 
actually given the group more flexibility in managing 
its currency exposures and effective clearance of 
intra-company trading balances has been specifically 
targeted as a means to reduce earnings volatility. For 
this reason there were no hedges outstanding at the 
end of 2010 that required mark to market conversion 
and as such no unrealized loss assigned to hedges in 
the closing balance sheet of 2010 (2009 £nil). The RBS 
facility contains no requirement to hedge. 

The Board is comfortable with its decision not to hedge 
and whilst it continues to reserve its position on this 
matter this is unlikely to change in the short term. 

Operational Risk
The Group has a comprehensive risk management 
process. This requires sign off and agreement by the 
Audit Committee and the main Board of a risk register. 
The risk register assesses probability of risk occurrence, 
the potential financial impact of a risk should it 
crystallise and the potential reputational impact of the 
risk. This process results in a risk management plan that 
is clearly targeted and prioritised as a work program. It 
also ensures the risk management process is a dynamic 
one that can quickly adapt to market or competitive 
developments and rapidly embrace the impact of any 
acquisitions. Comprehensive integration planning 
and contingency planning with regard to acquisitions 
is an integral part of an acquisition proposal. The 
implication of a much more significant shift towards 
technology revenues (39% of revenues in 2010) means 
that roadmap planning, targeting and milestones are 
given significant focus as is risk management around 
product release. The Board fully recognises that no 
risk management process can eliminate risk but by 
a comprehensive approach, that is effectively linked 
operationally, the Board believes that it has an effective 
predictive framework for risk management that can seek 
to minimise and mitigate the effect of risk crystallisation 
should it occur. The risk management process is given 
more focus in the compliance review on page 50. 

Taxation
SDL is a global business and as such the principle 
determinant of the tax rate is primarily dependent on 
the territorial mix of where operating profits are earned. 
A detailed analysis of the taxation charge is included in 
note 6 to the accounts. 

The headline effective tax charge for the year as a 
percentage of profit before tax is 23.5% (2009: 25.2%). 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 38 the Group 
has recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of the 
non tax deductible amortisation of intangible assets 
acquired through recent acquisitions. This deferred tax 
position has been adjusted for the Language Weaver 
and Xopus acquisitions made in 2010. The movement 
of these liabilities in the period has been reflected in 
the income statement and the effect is to provide a tax 
benefit in the income statement associated with the 
amortisation of those intangible assets. 

Due to the adoption of IFRS and the requirements 
of IAS 12 in conjunction with IFRS 2, the schedule 23 
tax credits available for share options exercised, and 
deferred taxation on unexpired options, has primarily 
been recorded in equity rather than the income 
statement. The impact of this treatment in the current 
year is to increase the headline effective tax rate by 3.1% 
(2009 1.7%).

Going Concern
In line with code requirements the Directors have made 
enquiries concerning the potential of the business 
to continue as a going concern. Enquiries included 
a review of performance in 2010, 2011 annual plans, 
a review of working capital including the liquidity 
position and a review of current indebtedness levels. 
The Directors confirm that they perceive strong 
underlying cash generation and therefore they have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Given this expectation they 
have continued to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.

For and on behalf of the Board

John Hunter 
Chief Financial Officer
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Compliance With the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2010
The Board is committed to delivering full compliance 
against the UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 
and transparent reporting of its compliance position. 
Where SDL does not fully comply the Board provides 
a comprehensive explanation as to why together with 
a clear plan as to what is being done to secure full 
compliance. 

Throughout 2010 the Company complied with all 
of the provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code 
other than provision A.2.1. In addition, the Board 
considers that during the year ended 31 December 
2010 the Company complied with all of the provisions 
of The UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 (formerly 
the Combined Code) with the exception of A.2.1. 
Provision A.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman 
and Chief Executive should not be exercised by the 
same individual.

On principle A.2.1 following detailed consideration, 
changes have been made effective 1 February 2011 to 
split the Chairman and Chief Executive role, with Mark 
Lancaster (formerly Chairman and Chief Executive) 
becoming Executive Chairman and John Hunter 
being appointed as Chief Executive. This removes the 
principle A.2.1 non compliance. The new UK Corporate 
Governance Code replaces the Combined Code for 
financial years starting on or after 29 June 2010 and 
contains a provision requiring FTSE 350 companies 
to put the full Board up for re-election each year 
(B.7.1). SDL will consider the requirement for annual 
re-election for its AGM in 2012, after the first complete 
financial year to which the Code applies. Four of the 
eight Directors submit themselves for re-election at the 
2011 AGM.

In making this representation the Board acknowledges 
that John Matthews and Chris Batterham have been 
independent directors for a period in excess of the nine 
years, defined by the Code as suggesting independent 
status may be impacted, but the Board views them 
as highly independent in deed and action. The Board 
considers John Matthews and Chris Batterham to be 
essential assets to the Board with extensive experience 
of both the strategic business drivers of SDL, corporate 
governance, compliance and the UK technology sector. 
Given this, it has been agreed that John Matthews 
and Chris Batterham will both be proposed for re-
election in 2011. This will facilitate full succession 
planning around all of the activities of John Matthews 
and Chris Batterham in 2011. The Board is committed 
to make further changes in 2011 in order that it will 
fully meet the balanced Board principles of the Code 
without having to assert the independence of John 
Matthews and Chris Batterham collectively to achieve 
that compliance. This will involve the appointment of 
one new independent director in 2011 and one of John 
Matthews or Chris Batterham will step down from the 
Board. The Board believes that orderly succession on 
Board structure is in the best interest of shareholders. 
John Matthews and Chris Batterham will relinquish 
some Committee responsibilities in line with the 
suggestions of the Code.

In Q1 2011 David Clayton, who has played a critical 
role since his appointment in 2009, will replace John 
Matthews as Senior Independent Director as part of the 
Board succession planning process. 

The Group’s application of the principles of the Code, 
explanations for any non-compliance and subsequent 
preparations to improve compliance, can be seen 
in the following table. Where necessary, to provide 
further detail, more comprehensive disclosures are 
made elsewhere in this report.
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A. Leadership
A.1 The Role of the Board
Every company should be 
headed by an effective Board 
which is collectively responsible 
for the long term success of 
the company.

The Board is responsible for determining the long-term direction and 
strategy of the Group and provides entrepreneurial leadership within a 
framework of sound, robust corporate governance and effective control 
which identifies and manages risk. Throughout 2010 the Board continued 
to adapt and focus the enhanced governance and control environment 
introduced during 2009. 

The Board meets regularly and met nine times during 2010 and Board 
structure and roles are fully defined along with fully populated Audit, 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. Following 1 February 2011, the 
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive have a clear split of responsibilities 
and their role remits have been signed off by the Board. 

The Executive Chairman runs the Board and considers that effective 
communication between Board members is crucial to leadership and 
delivery. Further information about the role of the Board and the various 
Committees is given later in this report. The Board meets regularly and 
usually with full participation of all Board members – see the Attendance at 
Meetings table below. 

SDL strategy is to deliver profitable growth to shareholders through our 
seven strategic focal points key account growth, cross leverage, geographic 
expansion, technology leadership, acquisition and partnership, operational 
effectiveness and corporate social responsibility. As SDL continues to 
expand its global operations and build scale, effective governance and 
strong communication between Board members is crucial. The Board plays 
a crucial role in setting the strategic objectives of the company, governance 
and evaluation of internal controls and financial reporting, testing strategy 
execution and performance, assessing resourcing needs and ensuring the 
right balance between risk taking and reward through validation of the 
Group’s risk management approach. 

The current schedule of matters reserved to the Board is available on the 
Investors section of the website or from the Company Secretary on request.

A.2 Division of Responsibilities
There should be a clear division of 
responsibilities at the head of the 
company between the running 
of the Board and the executive 
responsibility for the running of 
the company’s business. No one 
individual should have unfettered 
powers of decision.

During 2010 the role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were 
combined and it was not possible to assert that a clear division of 
responsibilities existed between these two functions. As of 1 February 2011 
the posts were split and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer each 
have roles and responsibilities which have been reviewed by the Board 
and, in line with the Code, are clearly defined and set out in writing. The 
Chairman, Mark Lancaster, is responsible for the leadership of the Board 
and working with the Board to set strategic direction. John Hunter, the 
Chief Executive Officer, has responsibility for running the Group’s business.
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A.3 The Chairman
The chairman is responsible 
for leadership of the Board and 
ensuring its effectiveness on all 
aspects of its role.

The Chairman ensures that each Board meeting has a strong strategic focus 
and that Board members are regularly appraised of strategy development 
and execution, forecasts, corporate developments including acquisition 
and operational and human resource implications of strategy. The Board 
members are also updated on current external and investor sentiment. 

The Chairman, Mark Lancaster, does not meet the independence criteria as 
set out in B.1.1 of the code however, in line with A.3.1 the Board feels that 
the appointment is in line with shareholder sentiment and appropriate 
given the strategic direction of the Group. 

A.4 Non-executive Directors
As part of their role as members 
of a unitary Board, Non-Executive 
Directors should constructively 
challenge and help develop 
proposals on strategy.

The Non-Executive Directors bring a strong external view of current best 
practices to Board meetings and constructively challenge operational 
management on proposals and scrutinise management performance. 
The Non-Executive Directors meet during the year without Executive 
Directors or other executive management present.

In Q1 2011 David Clayton will be appointed as Senior Independent Director, 
taking over from John Matthews who will be stepping down from the 
Board Committees in 2011.

B. Effectiveness
B.1  The Composition of the Board
The Board and its committees 
should have the appropriate 
balance of skills, experience, 
independence and knowledge of 
the company to enable them to 
discharge their respective duties 
and responsibilities effectively.

At the end of 2010 the Board consisted of eight Directors: three Executive 
Directors and five Non-Executive Directors.

The Board is aware of the other commitments of its directors and is satisfied 
that these do not conflict with their duties as directors of the Company. 
Changes to the commitments of the directors are reported to the Board. 
The Board has broad experience in different functional disciplines and 
an appropriate range of skills and considerable depth in management of 
international business and global risk management. 

Changes on the Executive side of the Board in 2011 have been as follows:

As of 1 February 2011 Mark Lancaster has become Executive Chairman and 
John Hunter has been appointed Chief Executive. As of 31 March 2011 Cristina 
Lancaster will resign from the Board to pursue a part time role. Matthew 
Knight has been appointed as the new Chief Financial Officer and will start 
working in SDL in April. Going forward therefore the Board will have three 
Executive Directors Mark Lancaster, John Hunter and Matthew Knight.

On the Non-Executive Director side one new Non-Executive Director 
will be appointed in 2011. This Non-Executive Director will have the 
financial background required to be on the Audit Committee with 
relevant accounting experience. The Board will use this appointment 
to review other Non-Executive Director roles and ensure that it will fully 
meet the balanced board principles of the code without having to assert 
the independence of Chris Batterham or John Matthews. One of Chris 
Batterham or John Matthews will step down from the Board in 2011.
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The Committee memberships are as follows:

The Audit Committee is led by David Clayton who as Group Strategy and 
Mergers and Acquisitions Director for The Sage Group plc has considerable 
recent and relevant experience and carries strong governance background. 
The other members are John Matthews, Chris Batterham and Jane 
Thompson. Both Chris Batterham and John Matthews have the professional 
accounting knowledge defined by the Code. In 2011 John Matthews will 
step down from the Audit Committee in Q1 following completion of the 
Annual Results process. Chris Batterham will remain on the Committee to 
provide professional accounting experience until the new Non-Executive 
Director is appointed, at which point Chris Batterham will step down 
from the Audit Committee after an appropriate handover period. The new 
Non-Executive Director will meet the professional accountancy experience 
requirements defined by the Code.

The Remuneration Committee is led by Jane Thompson with Chris 
Batterham, David Clayton and John Matthews as members. Jane Thompson 
brings a wide range of business and commercial skills to the role. Through 
her executive coaching company, Hayfield Group Ltd, she enables leaders 
to maximise their individual impact, influence and performance which 
benefits their teams and businesses. John Matthews and Chris Batterham 
will step down from the Remuneration Committee in Q1 2011 and the new 
Non-Executive Director will be appointed to the Committee on joining. 
Joe Campbell will also be appointed to the Committee effective Q1 2011.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of Mark Lancaster as Chair, 
with Chris Batterham, John Matthews and Joe Campbell as members. In 
Q1 2011, Mark Lancaster will relinquish the role of Nomination Committee 
Chairman to David Clayton. John Matthews will step off the Nomination 
Committee in Q1 2011. Going forward the Committee will consist of David 
Clayton (as Chairman), Mark Lancaster, Joe Campbell and Chris Batterham. 
The new Non-Executive Director will also be appointed to the Nomination 
Committee on joining.

Each of the Committees have formal terms of reference, which are set out 
on the Group’s website, only members are entitled to attend Committee 
meetings unless the subject of specific invitation. The Remuneration 
Committee automatically invites the Chief Executive Officer to attend 
to discuss the performance of other Executive Directors and Senior SDL 
Executive team members excluding his own performance.

B.1  The Composition of the Board 
continued



43Annual Report and Accounts 2010

8
D

irectors and C
orp

orate G
overnance

B.4 Development
All directors should receive 
induction on joining the Board 
and should regularly update and 
refresh their skills and knowledge.

There is a formal Director induction programme which was operated during 
2010 for Jane Thompson and David Clayton. It covers matters such as the 
operations and activities of the group, the group’s key financial and non-
financial risks and the role of the Board and its Committees. Jane Thompson 
and David Clayton also met with external advisors as appropriate.

Board knowledge (training needs) formed part of the recently completed 
Board evaluation and the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that all 
Non-Executive Directors receive ongoing training in order that they can 
appropriately perform their duties. The Directors may take independent 
professional advice, when necessary, at the Company’s expense.

B.2 Appointments to the Board
There should be a formal, 
rigorous and transparent 
procedure for the appointment of 
new directors to the Board.

Appointments to the Board are governed by the Company’s Articles of 
Association (“Articles”) and at the AGM in April 2010 new Articles were 
adopted by the shareholders primarily to take account of changes in 
English company law brought about by the Companies Act 2006.

The role of the Nomination Committee is to lead the formal rigorous 
process for SDL plc Board appointments, the re-election of directors and 
to make recommendations on membership of the statutory Committees. 
The Nomination Committee also has a critical role in working with the Board 
to ensure orderly succession for appointments to the Board is in place.

B.3 Commitment
All directors should be able to 
allocate sufficient time to the 
company to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively.

The Board has satisfied itself that the Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief 
Financial Officer and Non-Executive Directors have sufficient time available 
to devote to their duties as Board members. The letters of appointment of 
all Board members are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 
office and set out expected minimum time commitments to the Company.

B.5 Information and Support
The Board should be supplied 
in a timely manner with 
information in a form and of a 
quality appropriate to enable it to 
discharge its duties.

Board papers are circulated, wherever possible, in advance of meetings to 
allow time for the consideration of content prior to the meeting. Formal 
packages of documents to be discussed and considered at Board meetings 
are prepared for all Board members. Where appropriate position papers are 
prepared with input from external advisors to validate recommendations 
to the Board. There is a focus on early delivery of management accounting 
and financial reports and also acquisition proposals are normally 
considered as formal presentations by the Board member recommending 
the acquisition. Infrequently urgent matters are considered by telephone 
or circular resolution or contact between Board members but all critical 
decisions are ratified through the formal process of the Board. 

Regular presentations are made to the Board on software development 
plans and operating segment management and growth strategies as well 
as strategic intent. This enables all Directors to be current on critical issues 
facing the business. The Board also frequently reviews industry and market 
developments impacting SDL.
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B.7 Re-election
All Directors should be submitted 
for re-election at regular intervals, 
subject to continued satisfactory 
performance.

All Directors submit themselves for re-election at regular intervals and at 
least every 3 years. In 2011 the following Directors will submit themselves for 
re-election John Matthews, Chris Batterham, Joe Campbell and John Hunter. 
The new UK Corporate Governance Code replaces the Combined Code for 
financial years starting on or after 29 June 2010 and contains a provision 
requiring FTSE 350 companies to put the full Board up for re-election each 
year (B.7.1). SDL will consider the requirement for annual re-election for 
its AGM in 2012, after the first complete financial year to which the Code 
applies. The Chairman and the Nomination Committee regularly discuss the 
shape and structure of the Board and the need for refreshment or alteration 
of Board members. The Board construction is assessed against experience 
sets and capabilities necessary to execute the strategy. 

As noted in their biographies both Chris Batterham and John Matthews 
have served as Non-Executive Directors for a period longer than the nine 
years suggested by the Code. For reasons of succession and continuity 
defined elsewhere in this compliance statement they will submit 
themselves for re-election in 2011. Both John Matthews and Chris Batterham 
have relevant knowledge, industry experience and governance insights 
which enable them to appraise and challenge strategy, direction and 
resource needs and milestones for effective strategy execution.

B.6 Evaluation
The Board should undertake 
a formal and rigorous annual 
evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its committees and 
individual directors.

Performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual 
directors takes place on an annual basis and is conducted within the terms 
of reference of the Nomination Committee with the aim of improved 
individual contribution, effectiveness of the Board and its committees. Chris 
Batterham initiated a formal internal review of the effectiveness of the Board 
and its working processes at the end of 2010. The evaluation involved all 
directors completing a detailed questionnaire. The Board is in the process of 
considering its conclusions and the resulting actions arising from the review. 
Key matters to be considered include:

•	 Strategic development was highly scored by all members of the 
Board and the importance of carving out sufficient time for strategic 
discussion and debate stressed.

•	 Effective individual development plans which can be realistically 
addressed to be reviewed.

•	 Emphasis on succession planning down the organisation in the next 
phase to maintain and enhance the current strong management teams.

The Board is committed to continually review its effectiveness and will 
adopt Code provision 3.6.2 which states evaluation of the board of FTSE 350 
companies should be externally facilitated at least every three years.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer together with the Non-Executive 
Directors evaluate the performance of the other Executive Board members 
leading to annual salary reviews and bonus targets achievement assessment. 

The Non-Executive Directors have responsibility to perform an evaluation of 
the performance of Mark Lancaster for 2010.
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C. Accountability
C.1 Financial And Business Reporting
The Board should present a 
balanced and understandable 
assessment of the company’s 
position and prospects.

The Board presents its financial and other price sensitive reports in an 
informative way that meets statutory and other requirements, including 
those standards set by Financial and Accounting Regulatory bodies and the 
Stock Exchange. The Board seeks to present an even handed assessment 
of the Group’s position and prospects and considers positively the 
external environment and emerging standards with regard to disclosure. 
A going concern assessment is made and the Directors explain clearly 
their responsibilities for preparing the accounts in the annual report. 
The directors review the full disclosure requirements with external advisors 
pending release of each annual report.

C.2 Risk Management and Internal 
Control
The Board is responsible for 
determining the nature and 
extent of the significant risks it 
is willing to take in achieving its 
strategic objectives. The Board 
should maintain sound risk 
management and internal 
control systems.

The Board has overall responsibility for the financial, operational and 
compliance controls which are designed to meet the requirements 
defined by the risk management process. In this way there is direct and 
clear alignment between the control environment and the strategic and 
operational business priorities. A risk matrix is prepared and reviewed 
formally by the Board and the Audit Committee at least twice a year, with 
the ongoing development of the financial control environment distilled 
into a clear work plan and reviewed at each Audit Committee meeting. The 
Board prioritise control improvement and risk management based on the 
financial impact of a particular risk, the probability of occurrence of that 
risk and the reputational impact that crystallisation of the risk would cause. 
Those issues that have high or medium probability of occurrence and/or 
financial impact are prioritised in the work program. The Board also seeks 
to actively consider standards that can be commercially important such as 
IS0 27001 compliance as part of its process. Risk management actions and 
learning are disseminated and cascaded throughout the SDL Group. 

The program of site visits continued in 2010, assessing the ‘on the ground’ 
state of control and delivery of internal policies following the Chief 
Financial Officer’s review in late 2008 and early 2009. This initiative flows 
through the operating elements of the business with clear responsibilities 
for ensuring that appropriate controls are in place at an operational level. 
A reporting mechanism to monitor how this initiative is working has also 
been established. As required by C.2.1 of the Code the Audit Committee 
reviews regularly, on behalf of the Board, the effectiveness of the internal 
control mechanism and the International Controller presents learnings 
and findings from the site visit program directly to the Audit Committee. 
The external auditors have full access to site visit reports and conclusions.

C.3 Audit Committee and Auditors
The Board should establish 
formal and transparent 
arrangements for considering 
how they should apply the 
corporate reporting and risk 
management and internal control 
principles and for maintaining an 
appropriate relationship with the 
company’s auditor.

See also the Audit Committee below on page 49. A full, formal and 
transparent process is in place for corporate reporting, risk management 
and internal control. Formal auditor independence policies are also in place. 
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D. Remuneration
D.1 The Level and Components of 
Remuneration
Levels of remuneration should be 
sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate directors of the quality 
required to run the company 
successfully, but a company 
should avoid paying more than 
is necessary for this purpose. 
A significant proportion of 
Executive Directors’ remuneration 
should be structured so as to 
link rewards to corporate and 
individual performance.

See also the Directors’ Remuneration report on page 55 for the Board’s 
policy and approach to the setting of the remuneration for Directors and 
senior executives and the activities of the Remuneration Committee.

D.2 Procedure
There should be a formal and 
transparent procedure for 
developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of 
individual directors. No Director 
should be involved in deciding his 
or her own remuneration.

Executive remuneration is determined by a procedure that requires the 
involvement and collective agreement of the Executive Chairman and the 
Remuneration Committee. No Director can be involved in deciding his/her 
own remuneration and the Non-Executive Directors of the Remuneration 
Committee have sole responsibility for setting the remuneration of the 
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive. There was a formal review in 
2010 by the Remuneration Committee of Executive Director remuneration 
packages which was externally facilitated. The Remuneration Committee has 
considered in full the implications of this review for 2011 implementation.

See also the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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E.2 Constructive Use of the AGM
The Board should use the AGM to 
communicate with investors and 
to encourage their participation.

The Board ensures that full information is provided to shareholders on the 
agenda to be covered at annual meetings of the Group. The agenda will 
always propose a separate resolution on each substantially separate issue 
and will always contain a resolution relating to the report and accounts. 
The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and chairpersons of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees are available at the meeting 
to answer questions. The company meets the requirements of having the 
Notice of AGM and related papers sent to shareholders at least 21 days 
before the AGM. 

For the 2011 AGM to facilitate easier voting for our shareholders, we 
will enable them to vote electronically through our Registrars’ website. 
The outcome of voting is posted on the company website.

E. Relations with Shareholders
E.1 Dialogue with Shareholders
There should be a dialogue 
with shareholders based on 
the mutual understanding of 
objectives. The Board as a whole 
has responsibility for ensuring 
that a satisfactory dialogue with 
shareholders takes place.

Mark Lancaster and John Hunter meet with both existing and potential 
institutional investors regularly during the financial year and explain the 
strategy and objectives of the Group and the financial results. Where 
appropriate the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors also 
attend investment conferences and external consultation meetings which 
provide access to multiple investors to understand first-hand the strategy, 
positioning and progress of the company. The Board promotes an effective 
and open dialogue with shareholders and views this as an effective way to 
ensure that those representing the shareholders with the majority of shares 
in SDL can engage directly and make their issues and concerns known. 
The Board seeks to respond promptly to shareholder governance enquiries. 

Further information relating to the way the dialogue process with 
shareholders takes place is given later in this report (see page 54, 
Relations with Shareholders).

Statement of Compliance
Throughout 2010 the Company complied with all of the provisions of 
The UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 (formally the Combined Code) 
with the exception of A.2 discussed above. Given the changes made at the 
beginning of 2011 when the role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
was split, the Company is, at the date of this report fully compliant with the 
provisions of the Code. In making this statement the Board acknowledges it 
is asserting the independence of Chris Batterham and John Matthews who 
have served as Non-Executive Directors longer than the time suggested by 
the Code.

The Group also fully complies with the provisions of the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules on Audit Committees and Corporate Governance 
Statements (DTR 7). 
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Attendance at Meetings
Board and Committee meetings 
The Board had 8 scheduled meetings in 2010 and an 
additional Board meeting to consider the acquisition of 
Language Weaver, Inc., making nine meetings in total.

Board Audit Nomination Remuneration

Number of meetings held: 9 4 3 6

Chris Batterham 9 4 3 6

Joe Campbell 7 - 3 -

David Clayton 9 4 - 5

John Hunter 9 4* - 1*

Cristina Lancaster 7 - - -

Mark Lancaster 9 3* 3 1*

John Matthews 8 4 3 6

Jane Thompson 9 4 - 6

*Attendance by invitation 

The Board and its Committees
The Board 
The Board is responsible to shareholders for setting 
strategic direction, effective governance and business 
management. The overview biographies of Board 
members appear elsewhere in this report and the 
responsibilities of the Directors with respect to the 
accounts are included on page 69 with a further 
statement on Directors responsibilities to the auditors 
on page 68 and a going concern statement on page 
38. David Clayton will replace John Matthews as Senior 
Independent Director in Q1 2011 and is the person to 
whom any concerns regarding Board matters, whether 
shareholder or other concerns, can be addressed. 

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically 
reserved to it for decision. A copy of this schedule 
is available from the Company Secretary and is also 
set out on the Group’s website. All Directors have 
appropriate access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board 
for ensuring that procedures are followed and that 
applicable rules and regulations are complied with and 
that Board discussions have effective minutes taken with 
formal records kept of Board discussions. The Company 
seeks to ensure that the Directors receive appropriate 
training covering such things as their legal obligations 
as directors and compliance with Stock Exchange Rules. 

On average the Board meets at least every other month, 
reviewing strategic issues, acquisition possibilities, 
funding requirements, trading performance, any 
compliance matters that need decision and the 

responsibility of reporting to shareholders. The Non-
Executive directors are fully involved in the validation 
of the strategies proposed by the Executive Directors 
and actively test resource requirements and execution 
capability. To enable the Board to discharge its duties, 
all directors receive appropriate and timely information 
with briefing papers distributed, wherever possible, 
prior to the meeting. The Chairman ensures that, as 
and when required, the Executive and Non-Executive 
directors are able to take independent professional 
advice at the Group’s expense.

All Executive Directors of the Board are subject to 
contracts in which notice periods are of no more than 
one year’s duration. This ensures that performance of 
Board members can be kept under ongoing review 
and changes can be immediately made without 
onerous cost if issues arise. Contracts of employment of 
individual Board members are available for inspection 
on request. 

At the end of the year the Board conducted a review 
of its effectiveness under the leadership of Chris 
Batterham. The matters raised by this review are 
discussed more fully in the compliance section above. 

Indemnification of directors
As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force 
under which the company has agreed to indemnify 
the Directors, to the extent permitted by law and the 
company’s articles of association, in respect of all losses 
arising out of, or in connection with, the execution of 
their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors of 
the company or any of its subsidiaries. 
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The Board has established an effective committee 
structure to assist in the management of specific 
aspects of the Group’s affairs:

Remuneration Committee
For the year ending 31 December 2010 the Remuneration 
Committee comprised Jane Thompson (Chair), David 
Clayton, Chris Batterham and John Matthews. The future 
structure of this Committee is discussed in section B.1. 
of the Compliance Statement above. Executive Directors 
attend Remuneration Committee meetings at the 
invitation of the Committee Chairman. 

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board, within agreed terms 
of reference (which are on the Group’s website), on 
the Group’s framework of executive remuneration and 
its cost. Annually the Committee reviews the contract 
terms, remuneration and other benefits for each of the 
Executive Directors, including performance related, 
pension rights and compensation payments. The Board 
itself determines the remuneration of the Non-Executive 
Directors, and also has responsibility for electing 
persons to the Board. The Remuneration Committee 
does not have authority to employ or dismiss directors. 
During 2010 the Committee met six times. The major 
activities during the year were:

•	 the review and proposal of a new share option 
scheme (SDL Share Option Scheme (2010)) 
which complies with the guidelines issued by the 
Association of British Insurers. The scheme was 
approved by shareholders at the AGM in April 2010.

•	 a review of the operation of the SDL plc 2006 Long-
Term Incentive Plan and the current alternatives in 
conjunction with external remuneration advisers. 
This plan was due to expire on 27 April 2011. 
Following this review the Committee has concluded 
that the 2006 plan has proved successful both 
as a genuine incentive to key senior executives 
(including Executive Directors) and as a retention 
tool. As a consequence, the Committee has, subject 
to shareholder approval, decided that the 2006 
plan should be replaced with a broadly similar plan 
to be known as the SDL Long Term Share Incentive 
Plan (2011) (“the 2011 Plan”). The proposed 2011 
Plan will be updated to reflect current law and 
market practice and still deploy relative TSR and 
an EPS underpin as performance measures. The 
proposal of a new Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
and approval for the new LTIP rules will be sought 
from shareholders at the AGM in 2011.

•	 Remuneration Review for Executive Directors. 

Copies of the Terms of Reference are available, on 
request, from the Company Secretary and are also on 
the Group’s website in the Investor Relations section.

Further details of the Group’s policies on remuneration, 
service contracts and compensation payments are 
given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 
55 to 62.

Audit Committee
The objective of the Audit Committee is to promote and 
maintain high standards of corporate and regulatory 
reporting, risk management and compliance as 
effectiveness in these areas enhances the performance 
and reduces the risks of the business. 

The Audit Committee comprised David Clayton (Chair), 
Jane Thompson, Chris Batterham and John Matthews. 
The Chairman, David Clayton, as Group Director of 
Strategy and Corporate Development for Sage Plc. 
has considerable recent and relevant experience. Each 
of the other directors on the Committee has, through 
their other business activities, significant experience in 
financial matters. John Matthews and Chris Batterham 
both meet the relevant accounting requirements 
defined by the Code. Executive directors, senior 
members of management and advisors are invited to 
attend meetings as appropriate. The future shape and 
structure of the Audit Committee is discussed in B.1. of 
the compliance statement. 

The Committee has a formalised structure of 
reporting by the Group Auditors which allows for 
it to independently assess the quality of financial 
reporting and representations made in the accounts. 
The Committee reviews the quality and make-up of 
the Group’s internal finance function and the control 
environment. The control environment reviews include 
the Chief Financial Officer, International Controller and 
senior members of the Group finance function reporting 
formally to the Committee on the completion of the 
comprehensive program of control work initiated by the 
Chief Financial Officer. This includes reporting on site 
visit outcomes which enables the Committee to formally 
assess whether control programs are delivering. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing a 
wide range of matters including the half-year and 
annual accounts, and monitoring the controls that 
are in force to ensure the integrity of the information 
reported to shareholders. The Committee also exercises 
oversight of the financial statements, policies and 
judgements. The Audit Committee considers the 
nature, scope, results and costs of the audit as well 
as the resources deployed and the conduct of the 
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audit. The Audit Committee keeps under review the 
cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity 
of the external auditors and has adopted a formal 
written process in this regard. Non-audit services 
above £20,000 are sanctioned formally by the Audit 
Committee evaluating the nature of the work and 
fees involved and the materiality of the fees. Expertise 
being provided is very closely monitored as are any 
transactional supply relationships between the Group 
and the Auditors. 

The Audit Committee met four times during 2010. 
Matters considered by the Committee included the 
internal control program and its execution; resource 
requirements for the Group Finance function; the 
implications on financial reporting of changes in 
International Financial Reporting Standards made 
during the year; the integration requirements of 
the Language Weaver acquisition together with the 
opening balance sheet positions for this acquisition 
and subsequent control and reporting; the ongoing 
review of key risks affecting the Group; the assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal controls and the detailed 
execution plans for the 2010 audit given the recent 
appointment of KPMG Audit Plc (“KPMG”). The Audit 
Committee agreed a strengthening of on-the-ground 
external audit resources in North America. In 2010 
the Group Finance function continued the formal 
program of financial audits of the Group’s separate 
finance departments in several countries which had 
been initiated in 2009. The results of these audits 
were reported formally to the Audit Committee given 
the absence of a separate internal audit function and 
they are proving effective in highlighting the detailed 
operation of controls across the units within the Group. 
The majority of the local finance departments are 
relatively small and self-contained. As a consequence 
the Board and the Audit Committee currently do not 
believe there is a requirement for a separate internal 
audit function but has sponsored a significant program 
of internal control work following further strengthening 
of the Group Finance Function. The requirement for a 
separate internal audit function is kept under annual 
review by the Audit Committee.

Following a rigorous tender process, the Committee 
made a recommendation to the Board to appoint, 
subject to shareholder approval, KPMG as external 
Group Auditors. KPMG were appointed with immediate 
effect at the AGM on 23 April 2010. The tender and 
subsequent appointment follows the review of auditor 
independence, in line with policy, at the point of 
annual re-appointment.

The Committee also reviews the whistle blowing 
policy where staff may raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, fraud or other 
matters of concern. 

Copies of the Terms of Reference are available, on 
request, from the Company Secretary and on the 
Group’s website in the Investor Relations section.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was chaired by the 
Executive Chairman in 2010, with its other members 
being Non-Executive Directors, John Matthews, Chris 
Batterham and Joe Campbell. The Terms of Reference 
of the Committee require that they meet at least 
once a year in order to review the current structure 
of the Board, its ongoing relevance to the nature of 
the business, potential new Board appointments, 
including any proposed by the Executive Directors, 
and the matter of senior succession planning. 
Recommendations from the Committee are made to 
the Board and the Committee met three times in 2010 
considering among other matters detailed options for 
the Board appointment of a new Chief Executive in 
early 2011 and succession planning at a senior level in 
the SDL Group. The future shape and structure of the 
Nomination Committee is discussed in section B.1 of the 
Compliance Statement.

Copies of the Terms of Reference are available, on 
request, from the Company Secretary and on the 
Group’s website in the Investor Relations section.

Internal Control and Risk Management 
The board acknowledges that there are a number of risk 
factors that could have an adverse financial impact on 
the company and reduce shareholder return. No risk 
management process can eliminate risk but mitigating 
strategies, when effectively deployed, can significantly 
reduce risk of occurrence and can ensure that if risks 
do occur they are effectively managed and that effects 
are reduced as much as possible. The Board believes 
that operational continuity is a primary driver in any 
risk management process and must be prioritised at all 
times. Whilst there may be risks that we do not consider 
to be serious or which are currently unknown the Board 
has, where reasonably possible, taken steps to mitigate 
risks or potential risks of which the SDL Group is aware.

The Board has a formal risk matrix that is reviewed at 
least twice a year by the Board and Audit Committee. 
These risks are ranked according to probability of 
occurrence, financial impact and reputational impact 
should they occur and they then cascade down into 
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mitigating actions that are fully absorbed into business 
operating processes for execution. Some of the more 
significant risks and the associated mitigation plans are 
discussed in more detail below:

Management of succession and transition 
processes, and Group key talent management 
and succession planning:
The explicit risk here is that the Group does not 
have consistency of high performing leadership, has 
inadequately trained staff or experiences employee 
attrition that prevents delivery of strategic business 
objectives. The Group endeavours to provide 
competitive remuneration structures, including where 
relevant bonus and long term incentives, and ensures 
that there are open and transparent performance 
assessments, development plans and promotion 
opportunities that encourage employees to want to 
build long term careers with SDL. In 2010 capability 
was again strengthened at Executive team level with the 
appointment of a new Chief Technology Officer and 
Chief Information Officer. 

System interruption and business continuity 
planning and policies for dealing with 
business interruption: 
The risk here is of a significant unplanned outage that 
causes a major business continuity issue. The Group 
focuses here on business continuity planning and 
security of its data centre and hosting facilities. Business 
continuity planning embraces home working options for 
those that can work from home and considers alternative 
and distributed locations in the event that a significant 
office is taken out of operation. There is strong emphasis 
and focus in business continuity plans on how to 
restore normal operations as quickly as possible.

Data protection, data loss and data security: 
The explicit risk here is loss of data or leak of critical 
data. In 2010 we initiated a number of compliance 
reviews around data security and we are fully 
embracing ISO 27001 compliance which will be an 
excellent program for the business. The business has 
established appropriate back up routines. HR policies 
also explicitly prohibit misappropriation of data for 
personal gain and confidentiality breaches.

Contract Management and Litigation Control:
The Group is exposed to contractual risk under its 
contracts with its customers and suppliers but it 
endeavours to ensure that it has processes in place to 
reduce these risks. In 2010 the Group recruited a Group 
Procurement Manager and the Group Legal function 
ensures that customer contracts are carefully prepared, 

reviewed, negotiated and approved in line with 
internal processes that have full frameworks in place for 
appropriate referral to senior management. 

Acquisitions:
In the future the Group may decide to acquire new 
businesses or companies. Any given acquisition will 
entail costs whilst also having the potential to increase 
the profitability of the Group. Although in depth due 
diligence would be carried out by the Group and, as 
appropriate, its advisors prior to undertaking such 
a transaction, an acquisition could have a negative 
effect on the profits of the Group in the event that a 
target acquired could not be successfully integrated 
into the Group or failed to deliver its strategic and 
financial objectives. To mitigate this risk all acquisitions 
have board level sign off and the early preparation of 
detailed integration plans and in depth assessment to a 
developed checklist is an integral part of the acquisition 
process, as is detailed interaction with the management 
and principals of the target company. In 2010 the 
Group developed and executed rapid integration plans 
for Language Weaver and Xopus.

Counterparty Risk: 
The principal risk here is to RBS. The mitigating strategy 
for this risk is covered in the Financial Review on page 
36 of this report. 

Interest Rate Risk:
This risk is covered on page 37 in the Financial Review 

Liquidity Risk:
The risk here is that the Group’s cash reserves and 
working capital are not sufficient to repay debts as they 
fall due. However, the Group is highly cash generative 
and the methodology for dealing with liquidity risk 
through strong generation of free cash flow is dealt 
with on page 37 in the Financial Review. For the past 
two years the Board has placed strong emphasis on 
effective credit control which is effectively linked to 
business operations as a key mitigating factor. This has 
been highly effective. 

Foreign Exchange risk: 
The detailed strategy for managing foreign currency 
risk is covered on page 37 in the Financial Review. 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to 
foreign currency risk on transactions denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency and on the 
translation of the balance sheet and income statement 
of foreign operations into Sterling. The currencies 
giving rise to this risk are primarily US Dollars, Euros 
and Japanese Yen. The Group has both cash inflows 
and outflows in these currencies that create a level of 
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natural hedge. In managing currency risks, the Group 
aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations 
on the Group’s cash inflows and outflows in a foreign 
currency. The Group has not entered into hedging 
contracts for either cash or net investment positions 
denominated in foreign currencies. Over the longer 
term permanent changes in foreign exchange would 
have an impact on consolidated earnings.

Compliance Risk:
The cost of compliance by the Group to changes 
in laws or regulations by governments and other 
regulatory authorities in the countries in which it 
does business, such as for example anti-bribery 
and corruption, environmental or data protection 
legislation, could have an adverse financial effect on 
the business, as could prosecution of the Group for 
any alleged breaches of such laws or regulations due 
to the potential resulting defence costs and penalties 
involved. The Group endeavours to comply with any 
such changes with the help of its financial and legal 
advisors where necessary and places strong emphasis 
on having the right organisational structures necessary 
to deliver compliance. The Group believes that setting 
appropriate standards of behaviour is essential to 
compliance. To this end in 2010 we reviewed and 
updated our Code of Conduct to embrace best practice 
and we have a full roll out planned in 2011 linked 
directly into our knowledge series initiative which is 
designed to give all employees deep understanding 
of the SDL Group, its business and its processes. The 
updated Code of Conduct considers and responds to 
matters raised in the UK Bribery Act. 

Maintaining Technology Leadership and 
Intellectual Property Matters:
The risk here is that the Group fails to develop products 
to keep up with current market trends or is exposed 
to intellectual property dispute. To mitigate this risk 
the Group invests in research and development and 
has well integrated and planned innovation roadmaps 
and stringent delivery checkpoints. The Group has 
also engaged third party intellectual property counsel 
to ensure that its intellectual property rights are 
appropriately protected by law.

2010 Risk Management Actions:
This targeted assessment of risk has proved highly effective 
in design of risk management and control programs and 
has led to organisational and operational conclusions. 
As examples some actions taken in 2010 which respond 
directly to the risks above were the following:

•	 Capability was strengthened at Executive team level 
with the appointment of a new Chief Technology 
Officer and Chief Information Officer 

•	 We initiated a number of compliance reviews 
around data security and we are fully embracing 
ISO 27001 compliance which will be an excellent 
program for the business

•	 We reviewed and updated our Code of Conduct to 
embrace best practice and we have a full roll out 
planned in 2011 linked directly into our knowledge 
series initiative which is designed to give all 
employees deep understanding of the SDL Group, 
its business and its processes

•	 We developed rapid integration plans for Language 
Weaver and Xopus and executed these effectively

•	 We continued to focus on credit control and had 
no significant issues during the economic cycle and 
have effectively maintained our receivables profile

•	 We have a well integrated and structured innovation 
roadmap and stringent delivery checkpoints

The Board believes that by managing risk in a dynamic 
way which is truly embedded into our operations we 
can provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. We can also be 
reasonably confident that we can manage risk in a way 
that an occurring risk will not detract from delivery of 
our critical strategic objectives. We are committed to 
continuous improvement and development of our risk 
management processes. 

The Board discharges its risk management processes 
through a coherent structure as follows:

Management Structure
There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for 
decision by the Board; a formal schedule of these is 
on the company’s website. Executive directors have 
responsibility for specific parts of the Group’s affairs 
and these are clearly defined. There is a formal Executive 
Committee consisting of the Chief Executive (CEO), 
the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), business segment 
CEOs, the Chief Technology Officer (CTO) and the Chief 
Information Officer (CIO) which meets regularly to 
discuss strategic and operational matters and associated 
risks to delivery of strategy.

The Group also has formal structures in place in the 
Finance and Legal functions.
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Identification and Control of Risk
The Executive Directors are directly involved in 
management of risk and effective systems are in place 
to identify operational risk. These systems depend on 
robust and stable operating procedures which are well 
disseminated and understood by all involved. There is 
formal and effective control over the following decision 
parameters by the Executive Directors.

•	 There are delegated expenditure controls in 
place on both financial quantum and duration of 
commitment that require sign off at various levels in 
the organisation including the CEO and CFO. These 
cover both operating and capital expenditure

•	 There is a system of reserved powers where matters 
cannot be decided at operating segment level and 
must be referred to Group Executive Management

•	 Payment processes are appropriately controlled and 
segregation of duty is prioritised so that excessive 
concentration of authority does not reside in any 
one individual

•	 All acquisition related decisions are confined 
to the Board and must be referred to the 
Executive Chairman, CEO, and CFO by operating 
segment management

•	 There is appropriate and regular cascade of relevant 
information to employees which is logically 
cascaded via leadership. The CEO personally 
gives monthly updates on business performance 
to approximately 230 managers for cascade. 
A comprehensive knowledge series initiative has 
also been developed that informs employees 
about group processes as well as fundamental 
information about SDL and its businesses

•	 All property decisions, whether lease or purchase 
require group approval

•	 All technology roadmap decisions require 
group approval 

•	 There are salary frameworks and hiring approval 
frameworks in place

•	 There are established protocols for contract sign 
off and execution and a formal set of acceptable 
conditions in place for legal contract sign off that 
target liability mitigation

•	 Formal segmental management teams are in place 
that are complementary to the Group Executive 
Team who control operational execution and 
collaboration across the Group

•	 There is a formal system of accounting policies in 
place that are compliance validated in site visits and 
available to all in the finance function for common 
application. These policies are rolled out through 
formal communication sessions

•	 There is a full system of key account management 
teams in place 

These controls, checks and balances provide strong 
operational linkage to risk management processes.

Formal Risk Control Process
As outlined above the Board has a formal risk 
management process that produces a risk matrix which 
prioritises risk according to probability of occurrence, 
financial impact and reputational impact. This 
effectively prioritises risk management actions.

Quality and Integrity of Personnel
There has been considerable strengthening of the 
Executive team in 2010 with the appointment of a 
new CIO and CTO. The hiring process uses an in-
house recruitment professional and all key strategic 
hires are carefully profiled against clearly established 
competency and skill set needs.

Budget Process
The Group produces carefully considered budgets 
for each operating segment of its business where 
key actions to enable delivery are clearly defined and 
prioritised. Resource implications of the budgets are 
also carefully considered so that expenditures can be 
differentially managed and effectively targeted towards 
growth. Group functional plans are also in place 
that must clearly link to operational priorities. This 
cohesive planning process gives a clear view of both 
key deliverables but also critical dependencies that span 
across functions or operating segments, maximising 
collaboration in delivery. There are several checkpoint 
meetings that take place to monitor and track delivery; 
one such meeting is the internal GAP meeting, which 
focuses on sales execution and pipeline and gives early 
warning of any issue or plan delivery problem. 

Investment Appraisal and Acquisition Integration 
There are careful controls over all strategic investments, 
whether they are capital investments or acquisition. 
All acquisitions must undergo formal due diligence 
investigation including financial, legal, taxation and 
operational aspects. In recent acquisitions there has 
also been significant emphasis on IP assessment around 
the underlying strength of acquired technologies and 
their scalability. All acquisitions must have detailed 
integration plans and be approved by the SDL Board 
having understood delivery risks. 
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Controls over Financial Reporting 
The operational process for control over financial 
reporting is led by the Chief Financial Officer, who 
works through the Finance Leadership Team to 
ensure there are a full suite of policies and procedures 
in place that are effectively communicated and 
disseminated to the operating units in SDL. Compliance 
is monitored actively via site visits and the frameworks 
are controlled and reviewed each year to generate 
progressive tightening and continuous improvement 
and to respond to any risk management priorities or 
emerging standards. Full audit packages are produced 
for each operating unit which comprehensively explain 
delivered results and these are quality reviewed by 
the International Controller’s team. There is full and 
transparent reporting to the Audit Committee of control 
program findings and reporting here is fully at the 
direction of the Audit Committee according to its needs. 

Investor Relations
The Company aims to be open and transparent 
in communicating its business strategies and 
performance, promoting credibility and confidence 
amongst all the Company’s stakeholders. The 
Operating and Financial Review on pages 30 to 38 
includes a detailed review of the business and the 
results for 2010, current industry trends and future 
developments. Our reputational impact depends on 
transparent and comprehensive dialogue with investors. 

There is regular, proactive dialogue with existing and 
potential shareholders, financial and industry analysts 
and the press. The Board considers constructive and 
broad engagement with the shareholder base and third 
party commentators to be a critical element within 
its communication strategy. The dialogue occurs in a 
scheduled way at the announcement of the half and full 
year results and when required if acquisitions are made. 
The Board has made considerable effort in completing 
numerous city days in 2010 and views shareholder 
communication as particularly important as SDL 
evolves its end-to-end content management solutions 
and as the global economy continues to carry elements 
of uncertainty. 

Targeted communication programs are suggested by 
the Group’s financial and public relations advisors. The 
outcome of any shareholder or external stakeholder 
dialogue, including with governance institutions, is 
communicated to the Board in order to enable a broad 
understanding of the views of major shareholders and 
external commentators about the Group. This reporting 
also serves to highlight current matters of shareholder 

interest. John Hunter and Mark Lancaster have also 
attended numerous investor days and conferences in 
2010 in both London and overseas. These conferences 
are a good mechanism to reach potential new investors 
and broaden the shareholder base. 

The Board looks to use the Annual General Meeting 
to communicate with private as well as institutional 
investors and welcomes broad participation in this 
meeting. The chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees attend the Annual General Meetings to 
answer questions. In addition, the Senior Independent 
Director is accessible to shareholders to discuss matters 
of concern. 

To the directors’ knowledge there are no shareholders 
holding more than 17% of voting rights in the Group. 
It is also confirmed that no provision exists in the 
Articles of Association that gives any shareholder the 
right to designate directors to the Board. 
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Information not subject to audit
Remuneration Committee and advisors
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) consists 
fully of Non-Executive directors and is chaired by Jane 
Thompson and its other members are Chris Batterham, 
David Clayton and John Matthews (former chair). 
Since its last report the Committee and particularly 
Jane Thompson have spent a considerable amount 
of time on Remuneration Committee business. In 
particular, given the substantial increase in revenue, 
profit and market capitalisation, in addition to the 
various board changes, there has been much discussion 
and consultation with individual board members, 
remuneration consultants, the company’s principal 
institutional shareholders and others to ensure that 
SDL’s ongoing remuneration policies are appropriate 
and robust and properly and pragmatically align the 
longer term interests of shareholders with the potential 
rewards of the executive team. The forward shape and 
structure of the Remuneration Committee is discussed 
in the Corporate Governance review on page 42. No 
Committee members have a financial interest in the 
company other than in their capacity as shareholders. 
The Committee makes recommendations, within 
agreed terms of reference, on overall remuneration 
packages for Executive Directors, including the 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Company Secretary and other senior executives.

In late 2010 the Committee commissioned MM&K 
Limited to review the bonus structures for the Executive 
Directors. The Committee has carefully considered 
the conclusions of this study and a revised bonus 
structure has been approved for implementation in 
2011. The Committee also reviewed external benchmark 
studies for Executive Director Remuneration. These 
studies indicate SDL Executive Director remuneration 
to be in the lower quartile of FTSE 250 companies. 
Although in 2010 SDL delivered 14% organic revenue 
growth the Committee agreed that the base salaries 
of Mark Lancaster and John Hunter would be held at 
2009 levels for the year to demonstrate leadership 
example. Significant 2010 remuneration matters under 
the governance of the Committee have included the 
development of and consultation on a new Long 
Term Incentive Plan. The new rules of this plan will 
be proposed to shareholders as a resolution under 
circular at the AGM. The Committee also managed 
and approved all options and Long Term Incentive 
Plan units vesting during the year, consulting with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers for independent verification. 

At the 2008 AGM the shareholders approved the 
establishment of the SDL Save As You Earn scheme 
(“SAYE”) to encourage greater employee participation 
in the ownership and growth of the Company. No 
offer was made to participants in 2010. A full offer will 
be made to SDL employees in both the UK and the 
Netherlands in 2011. Whilst regulations vary state by 
state it is also possible that some offers will be made to 
SDL employees in the US in 2011. 

Remuneration policy
The Committee made no change to policy on Executive 
Directors’ 2010 remuneration. The remuneration of 
Mark Lancaster and John Hunter has however been 
considered by the Committee in connection with their 
respective changes in responsibilities announced on 
17th January 2011.

The Committee seeks to ensure that the remuneration 
packages of SDL’s Executive Directors and its senior 
executives are not excessive for the functions 
performed. It closely monitors market developments 
and takes external advice as appropriate. The 
Committee’s purpose is to align remuneration policy 
with SDL’s strategic objectives, which are designed to 
deliver progressive increases in total shareholder return. 

All 2010 basic salary and bonus awards for Executive 
Directors, were explicitly approved by the Committee.

For the combined Chairman and Chief Executive 
(Mr Lancaster), the cash bonus award in 2010 is based 
purely on the revenue and operating profit before 
taxation and amortisation performance of SDL plc.

For other Executive Directors the Committee considered 
a matrix of the personal performance of the Executive 
Director with regard to delivery of personal objectives 
that are closely aligned to SDL’s strategic objectives 
multiplied by a company performance factor that 
considers external expectations. Long term incentive 
plan awards are granted at vesting based on significant 
growth in earnings per share currently set at 25% 
compound growth (annually) over three years for full 
vesting and 10% for 25% vesting with an increase in Total 
Shareholder Return (TSR) of at least the applicable index 
over the three year period as an additional underpin for 
full vesting. The new Long Term Incentive Plan scheme 
proposal retains the measures of TSR and EPS. TSR is 
proposed as the primary measure. 100% outperformance 
against the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment 
companies) will be required to achieve full vesting. In 
addition adjusted EPS must increase by inflation + 3% per 
annum for full vesting to occur (with inflation measured 
by reference to the Consumer Prices Index). 
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The Executive Director packages consist of basic salary, 
usual benefits such as car allowances and company 
medical schemes, long-term share incentive plan (LTIP), 
performance related bonuses and pensions. Careful 
consideration is given to salary and employment market 
practices externally, especially when determining 
annual salary increases and bonuses. No Executive 
Director is allowed under their contract to be directly 
or indirectly engaged or concerned in any other trade 
or business without the specific written consent of the 
Chairman, Mark Lancaster. Mark Lancaster is required 
to obtain the prior written approval of the Company, 
through the Board, if he wishes to be engaged, 
concerned or interested in the management or conduct 
of any other business that would conflict with or affect 
his contractual duties. No Executive Director requested 
any such approval in 2010. 

The Executive Directors participate in the Remuneration 
package elements offered by the Company including 
benefit schemes. The Executive Directors do not, 
however, participate in the Share Option Scheme. A new 
Share Option programme was approved by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting in April 2010. 

The details of individual components of the Directors 
remuneration package and service contracts are 
discussed more fully below.

Basic salary and benefits: 
No changes were made to the base salaries of John 
Hunter and Mark Lancaster in 2010. The salary of 
Cristina Lancaster was increased to £160,000. The 
Committee notes that current salaries are in the lower 
quartile of FTSE 250 comparables. 

Other benefits, over and above salary and bonus, 
principally comprise a car allowance, car fuel 
(if applicable) and private healthcare. 

2010 Performance related bonuses:
The 2010 scheme is based upon the achievement of 
Group revenue and profit before amortisation and 
taxation (“PBTA”) against the budget formally approved 
by the Board for the year. To deliver a maximum 
bonus award actual performance against both of these 
measures must be outperformed by 20% on each 
measure with a 50% weighting applied to each and 
for each Executive Director (excluding Mark Lancaster, 
Chairman/Chief Executive in 2010) they must also 
deliver 100% of their personal objectives. The bonus 
for each Executive Director (excluding Mark Lancaster) 
is determined by the multiplication of a company 
performance factor by their personal objective delivery. 
To attract a maximum bonus payment a company 

performance multiplier of two must be determined by 
the Committee with the individual director delivering 
100% of their personal objectives. To attract a par 
bonus payment a performance multiplier of one must 
be determined by the Committee with the individual 
director delivering 100% of their personal objectives. 
Bonus awards for 2010 were determined by the 
Committee against this framework. In addition to his 
award under the company bonus plan for 2010 the 
Committee made a further award of £50,000 to John 
Hunter to reflect his exceptional contribution to the 
successful completion of the purchase of Language 
Weaver in July 2010.

Mark Lancaster is rewarded purely on the company 
performance multiplier and was granted a bonus award 
on this basis. 

Par Award % Max Award %

Mark Lancaster 60 120
Cristina Lancaster 50 100
John Hunter 50 60

Mark Lancaster’s award is determined purely on the 
basis of revenue and PBTA performance, with the 20% 
outperformance applied in a consistent way to the way 
it is applied to other directors. These arrangements are 
designed to ensure that the Group achieves its strategic 
objectives and maximises shareholder value creation. 
No bonus is payable unless PBTA is in excess of 95% of 
that of the preceding year. 

In addition to his award under the company bonus plan 
for 2010 the Committee has made a further conditional 
and deferred award to reflect the exceptional 
contribution made in 2010 by Mark Lancaster. This 
exceptional and one off award, which has a maximum 
value of £900,000, equates to 141,510 SDL shares at 
636p (being the average price on 17 January 2011, the 
date of the company’s 2010 trading update). 

The shares will vest as follows: 
On the basis that Mark Lancaster continues throughout 
in his role as Executive Chairman (as defined) 47,170 
SDL shares on 17 January 2012, a further 47,170 SDL 
shares on 17 January 2013 and a final 47,170 SDL shares 
on 17 January 2014.

This conditional and deferred award is considered 
by the Board and the Committee to be a key 
element of Mark Lancaster’s remuneration package. 
The award has been discussed with, and is supported 
by, a significant number of the Company’s main 
institutional shareholders.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
Information not subject to audit
continued
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2011 Performance related bonuses:
The 2011 scheme will be based upon the achievement 
of Group revenue and profit before amortisation 
and taxation (“PBTA”) against the budget formally 
approved by the Board for the year. To deliver a 
maximum bonus award actual performance against 
both of these measures must be outperformed by 
10% on each measure with a 50% weighting applied 
to each. For each Executive Director (excluding 
Mark Lancaster, Chairman and John Hunter, Chief 
Executive) they must also deliver 100% of their 
personal objectives. The bonus for each Executive 
Director (excluding Mark Lancaster and John Hunter) 
is determined by the multiplication of a company 
performance factor by their personal objective delivery. 
To attract a maximum bonus payment a company 
performance multiplier of two must be determined by 
the Committee with the individual director delivering 
100% of their personal objectives. To attract a par 
bonus payment a performance multiplier of one must 
be determined by the Committee with the individual 
director delivering 100% of their personal objectives. 
The bonus element referable to the group revenue 
measure is only payable when it exceeds 95% of the 
preceding year’s figure. The same applies to the PBTA 
element, which must also exceed 95% of the preceding 
year’s figure. 

Long-term incentive plan:
The Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) has been in 
place since 2006 and was established with external 
guidance, to encourage the Executive Directors 
and senior executives to focus on ensuring that 
the Company’s return to shareholders exceeded 
comparable company benchmarks in its sector and 
that any awards vesting under the LTIP scheme were 
linked carefully to shareholder return generation. 
The scheme did this through the adoption of total 
shareholder return as one of its primary measures. 
The LTIP scheme allows for the Executive Directors to 
be issued with shares up to the value of 100% of basic 
salary in any one financial year over a period of 5 years 
with lower percentage of salary threshold levels in 
place for other senior management and key employees 
critical to the long term development of the Group. 
The performance conditions relating to the long term 
incentive plan awards are disclosed on page 62. A new 
Long Term Incentive Plan Scheme is to be proposed to 
Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in April 
2011, this scheme retains Total Shareholder Return and 
EPS as primary performance conditions. 

Following approval by the Committee of the Company 
on 29 March 2010, shares were released to the Directors 
listed below, pursuant to the rules of the SDL 2006 
Long Term Incentive Plan:

Mark Lancaster elected to retain his LTIP award. 
Cristina Lancaster sold 32,974 shares. Alastair Gordon 
resigned as an Executive Director on 31 March 2010 and 
subsequently sold 15,974 and retained 17,000 shares.

Name

Mark  
Lancaster

Cristina 
Lancaster

Alastair 
Gordon

Title Executive 
Chairman

Global 
Operations 
Consultant

Director

Number of shares released 67,446 32,974 32,974

Number of shares sold  
on 1 Apr 10 0 32,974 15,974

Sale Price (£) n/a 482p 482p

Number of shares retained 67,446 0 17,000

On 12 April 2010, 101,153 LTIP shares were granted to 
the Executive Directors at a market price of £4.943, 
with a performance period of three years from date of 
grant. In addition, on 12 April 2010 469,151 LTIP shares 
and on 4 August 2010 160,010 LTIP shares were granted 
to certain senior management employees. The 2010 
grants to the individual Executive Directors are set out 
in more detail below:

Mark Lancaster – 60,692 shares 

John Hunter – 40,461 shares

Share Options: 
The Group operates a share option scheme, with two 
elements. One element is approved by the Inland 
Revenue, the other unapproved. The rules incorporate 
performance conditions, which must be met prior to 
the exercise of the options, designed so that the awards 
will only vest in the event of a significant and sustained 
improvement in the underlying financial performance 
of the Company. 

The options are not exercisable unless, in respect of 
the Performance Period, the increase in the EPS has 
exceeded inflation (as measured by the RPI) by an 
average of at least 5% per annum. There is no re-testing 
of performance conditions if they are not met by the 
end of the relevant performance period. The approved 
scheme limits the market value of granted options to 
that set by the Inland Revenue, currently £30,000, 
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provided that in any 12 month period options granted 
or proposed do not exceed the annual salary (excluding 
benefits in kind) of the employee. No options are offered 
at a discount. Subject to meeting the performance 
conditions, options are exercisable not earlier than the 
third anniversary of grant and then remain exercisable 
for a maximum period of seven years. 

Dilution Limitation: 
All SDL employee share schemes contain provisions 
limiting the total number of new issue shares (including 
any re-issuing of Treasury Shares) that can be granted 
in any rolling 10-year period to not more than 10% of 
issued share capital (this dilution limit is in line with 
the current ABI guidelines). There is an additional inner 
limit of 5% of issued share capital on discretionary 
share grants to senior employees including Executive 
Directors. The company has operated within these 
limits in 2010 utilising the Employee Benefit Trust 
(“EBT”) approved at the AGM in April 2008. Under the 
2008 AGM approval the EBT can acquire shares in the 
Company by market purchase and hold them for the 
purpose of satisfying the granting and award of options 
or LTIPs under the Group’s option and SAYE, and LTIP 
schemes. The rules of the EBT also allow the Company 
to contribute or loan monies to the EBT for the purpose 
of acquiring the Company’s shares. As at December 
2010 the EBT is established and has pledged to meet 
the company’s wishes that it satisfies some LTIP awards 
subject to them vesting but it has not yet acquired any 
shares. The EBT is able to hold shares totalling up to 5% 
of the issued share capital. 

The Company will use market purchase shares 
where necessary to satisfy any liabilities arising from 
outstanding share awards which would otherwise 
breach the 10% limit. 

Pensions: 
The Executive Directors are members of the SDL 
Pension Scheme. The scheme is a defined contribution 
personal pension plan into which the Group pays an 
annual sum equal to 12% for all Executive Directors 
except the Chairman/Chief Executive where the annual 
percentage in 2010 was 13.3%. Remuneration for the 
purpose of pension contributions means basic salary 
excluding bonuses and benefits-in-kind.

Fees: 
The fees for Non-Executive Directors are currently under 
review. They were not increased in 2010. In deciding 
an appropriate level of fees for each Non-Executive 
Director, the Board consider the responsibility and 
time commitments taking into account the number 

of Board meetings, provision of strategic and general 
advice plus the Chairmanship and membership of the 
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee. Non-Executive Directors 
are not involved in determining their own remuneration 
in any way. Fees paid to Non-Executives are included in 
the table below. Non-Executive Director fees remained 
stable during 2010 in local currency. The Non-Executive 
Director fees for Mr Campbell are denominated in US 
Dollars so the variance from 2009 in the table below 
derives from the effect of currency only.

Non-Group Directorships:
No Executive Director currently holds any non Group 
Directorships. Mr Gordon, who resigned as an Executive 
Director on 31 March 2010, remained as a Non-Executive 
Director of Strategic Thought plc. Mr Gordon was 
allowed to retain his remuneration in respect of this role 
which totalled £6,250 for the period to 31 March 2010. 

Service contracts: 
The policy of the company is to have service contracts 
for all the Executive Directors that continue indefinitely 
unless determined by notice but to avoid long notice 
periods or excessive financial termination provisions. 
The Non-Executive Directors have contracts that run 
for three-year terms, commencing from their date 
of appointment, subject to three months notice 
from either side. There are no special provisions for 
Executive or Non-Executive Directors with regard to 
compensation in the event of loss of office. No director 
terminations of employment have been made during 
2010 and in the event of a termination the Committee 
would consider the circumstances of individual cases 
and determine compensation payments accordingly. 
No director had a notice period exceeding 12 months as 
noted in the table below. 

The service contracts and letters of appointment of the 
directors include the following terms:

Date of Contract

Unexpired 
Term 

(months)

Notice 
Period 

(months)

Executive Directors:
Mark Lancaster 1 December 1999 N/A 12
Cristina Lancaster 1 December 1999 N/A 12
John Hunter 1 September 2008 N/A 6
Non-Executive Directors:
Chris Batterham 15 October 2002 4 3
John Matthews 27 May 2004 4 3
Joe Campbell 1 July 2005 16 3
David Clayton 16 December 2009 24 3
Jane Thompson 16 December 2009 24 3
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John Hunter, Joe Campbell, Chris Batterham and John 
Matthews offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of all directors can be found on 
pages 28 to 29.

Performance Graph
The graph below shows the shareholder return for each 
of the years from 2005 of a holding of the company’s 
shares against the corresponding change the FTSE All 
Share Software and Computer Services and FTSE 250 
(excluding investment trusts Indices). The shares have 
consistently outperformed the index over this period.

SDL has moved up to the FTSE 250 index. The FTSE 250 
(excluding investment trusts) index has been selected 
by the Committee as the most appropriate equity 
market index relative to the sector in which the Group 
operates for the purposes of evaluating the Group’s 
management against external sources for the purpose 
of the new LTIP scheme. For the legacy LTIP scheme 
operating up to 2010 the All Share Software and 
Computer Services Index was applied. 

All LTIP vesting is independently validated for the 
Committee, currently by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Total Shareholder Return  
Rebased Data 2005–2010

Source: Thomson Datastream
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Directors’ Remuneration 
The remuneration of the Directors is as follows:

Basic Salary  
and Fees  

£
Benefits (*)  

£
Bonuses  

£
Total 2010  

£
Total 2009  

£

Executive Directors
Mark Lancaster 300,000 30,798 257,727 588,525 547,505
Cristina Lancaster 153,750 14,057 73,216 241,023 220,442
John Hunter 200,000 15,883 158,600 374,483 316,572
Alastair Gordon** 18,000 1,046 - 19,046 74,904
Keith Mills*** - - - - 202,745
Non-Executive Directors
Chris Batterham 35,000 - - 35,000 35,000
John Matthews 35,000 - - 35,000 35,000
Joe Campbell 32,433 - - 32,433 32,404
David Clayton 30,000 - - 30,000 1,385
Jane Thompson 30,000 - - 30,000 1,385

Total all Directors 834,183 61,784 489,543 1,385,510 1,467,342

*  The benefits package of each Executive Director includes the provision of a company car or car allowance, 
private health insurance and, where applicable, car fuel, car valeting and the employers National Insurance 
contributions paid on behalf of Directors in relation to gains made on share options when exercised. 

** Mr. Gordon was only a director for three months in 2010.

*** Mr. Mills resigned as a director at the end of 2009.

Pension Entitlements:
No pension contributions were made by SDL on behalf of Non-Executive Directors. The defined pension 
contributions made by SDL for each Executive Director are as follows:

Total 2010  
£

Total 2009  
£

Mark Lancaster 40,036 40,036
Cristina Lancaster 18,450 16,200
Alastair Gordon - -
Keith Mills - 16,800
John Hunter 24,000 24,000

Total all Directors 82,486 97,036

Interests in Options:
Traditionally, the Group has maintained a share option scheme by which Executive Directors and other senior 
executives are able to subscribe for and acquire ordinary shares in the company. This scheme has two elements, one 
approved and one unapproved, and was formally adopted by special resolution on 1 December 1999. The approved 
element has been accepted by the Inland Revenue under the terms of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
with effect from 23 February 2000. Prior to December 1999 options were granted under unapproved schemes 
previously adopted by the Group. The new option scheme established 23 April 2010, following shareholder 
approval will not be granted to Executive or Non-Executive Directors. This scheme permits the granting of both 
options approved by HM Revenue and Customs within the statutory £30,000 limit and unapproved options, 
subject to performance conditions. From 2010 onwards, all options will be granted in accordance with these rules. 
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The interests of the directors in share options up to 31 December 2010 are as follows:

Exercise Price

At  
1 January 2010 

Number

Awarded  
during  

the year 
Number

Exercised  
during  

the year 
Number

Expired 
unexercised 

during the year 
Number

At  
31 December 2010* 

Number

Cristina Lancaster (b) 119.33p 5,716 - - - 5,716
Alastair Gordon (a) 33.50p 50,000 - - - 50,000
Mark Lancaster (b) 119.33p 200,000 - - - 200,000

The options are exercisable between the following dates:

(a) 28 February 2004 to 28 February 2013

(b) 4 April 2006 to 4 April 2015

* For Mr. Gordon, the interests in share options are shown to the date of resignation.

During the period 1 January 2010 through to 31 December 2010 the market price of ordinary shares has ranged 
between 410p and 656p. The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2010 was 650p.

The vesting conditions are set out in note 18 of the group accounts.

Interests in Long-Term Incentive Plan Shares:
The interests of the directors in long-term incentive plan shares up to 31 December 2010 are as follows:

Issue Price

At 1 January 
2010 

Number 

Awarded 
during 

the year 
Number

Exercised 
during 

the year* 
Number

Achieved 
during 

the year 
Number

Expired 
unachieved 

during 
the year 
Number

At 31 
December 

2010** 
Number

Mark Lancaster 333.6p(a) 67,446 - (67,446) - - -
Mark Lancaster 278.92p(b) 80,668 - - - - 80,668
Mark Lancaster 290.5p(c) 103,270 - - - - 103,270
Mark Lancaster 494.3p(e) - 60,692 - - - 60.692
Alastair Gordon 333.6p(a) 32,974 - - - - 32,974
Cristina Lancaster 333.6p(a) 32,974 - (32,974) - - -
Cristina Lancaster 278.92p(b) 39,438 - - - - 39,438
Cristina Lancaster 290.5p(c) 46,472 - - - - 46,472
John Hunter 202.25(d) 98,887 - - - - 98,887
John Hunter 494.3p(e) - 40,461 - - - 40,461

The awards have expiry dates as follows:

(a) Awarded 23 February 2007, expire 23 February 2017

(b) Awarded 28 February 2008, expire 28 February 2018

(c) Awarded 2 March 2009, expire 2 March 2019

(d) Awarded 28 November 2008, expire 28 November 2018

(e) Awarded 12 April 2010, expire 12 April 2020

*  During the period there were gains realised of £324,415 for Mr. Lancaster and £158,605 for Ms. Lancaster on the 
exercise of LTIPS (482 pence per share before commission).

**  For Mr. Gordon, the interests in LTIP shares are shown to the date of resignation.
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The award of the LTIP shares is made to the relevant director or employee at a nominal cost of 1p per each LTIP 
share awarded at the end of a three year holding period provided the determined performance targets have been 
met as set out below.

The two performance conditions are stringent:

•	 The initial performance hurdle is a total shareholder return calculation based on the Company’s comparative 
performance against the companies constituting the FTSE Software and Computer Services Index (the 
“Comparator Group”). This requires the Company’s comparative performance to be at least the median 
compared to the Comparator Group at the end of the initial three year period from the granting of the LTIP 
reward. If this median position is not achieved then no shares can be released irrespective of EPS growth. 
Further provisions apply with relation to companies exiting the index or being divested to ensure consistency of 
approach and provide an objective measure. 

•	 Providing the total shareholder return performance condition as required above has been achieved, the LTIP 
shares will be released by the Committee dependent on the Company achieving an absolute level of earnings 
growth at the end of the three year performance period as measured by the following:

 º  100% of the LTIP shares will be released providing the annual growth of EPS over the three year performance 
period exceeds 25% on average

 º  25% of the LTIP shares will be released providing the annual growth of EPS over the three years performance 
period exceeds 10% on average

 º There will be straight line vesting of the LTIP shares on EPS growth between these two points

During 2010 PricewaterhouseCoopers independently reported that the performance criteria outlined above were 
exceeded, resulting in the maturing LTIP shares achieving full vesting. The PricewaterhouseCoopers assessment on 
behalf of the Committee placed SDL 7th out of a comparator group of 29 on total shareholder return and annual 
EPS growth was 33% over the three year period, exceeding the 25% annual criteria set. This delivered full vesting.

A new Long Term Incentive Plan scheme is to be proposed to the 2011 Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

John Hunter 
Director 
21 March 2011

Directors’ Remuneration Report
Information subject to audit
continued
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Directors’ Report
 

The directors present their report and the Group 
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Results and Dividends
The directors recommend a dividend of 5.5 pence per 
share to the AGM reflecting their confidence in the 
continued cash generative nature of the operating 
business. The directors are of the view that the business 
is at a stage when it is appropriate to offer a nominal 
yield to those investors who value income as well as 
capital growth. The dividend is not intended to adjust 
the positioning of SDL as primarily a capital growth 
share. Future dividend policy will be progressive. 

Principal Activities 
The Group’s activities during the year continued to 
be the provision of Global Information Management 
solutions through the provision of software and services 
to a wide variety of multinational businesses. These 
Global solutions enable SDL clients to engage with 
their clients in multiple languages and across multiple 
channels. The Group made two acquisitions in 2010 
that further strengthened the Group’s technology 
position. Language Weaver is an industry leading 
statistical machine translation technology and Xopus 
expands technical content creation possibilities to non 
technical authors.

Review of the Business
Revenues of £203.5 million increased by 18% compared 
to 2009 (£171.9 million). Acquisitions benefitted the 
revenue by 4%, with currency having no impact on the 
overall group revenues. Underlying revenues therefore 
increased by 14% at constant currency. Constant 
currency revenues increased by 14% in Language 
Services, 9% in Language Technologies and 21% in 
Content Management Technologies.

Gross margin has increased to 57% from 56% in 2009, 
due to an increasing percentage of technology sales 
which has helped to increase margin together with a 
vendor cost management programme implemented 
across the group in 2009 which has had a full year 
impact in 2010. Profit before taxation and amortisation 
was £35.4 million compared to £29.8 million in 2009, 
an increase of 19%, reflecting primarily stronger 
revenues. The business accelerated strategic growth 
investment in 2010 which included innovation, 
investment in acquisitions and new offices, building 
sales and marketing capability and expanding in key 
growth territories. Headline operating margins were 
therefore stable year on year at 17.4%. The business 

is committed to invest in Language Weaver in 2011 to 
enable full realisation of this significant opportunity. 
Excluding Language Weaver underlying margins at 
18.0% were up on 2009.

The Group had cash resources at 31 December 2010 
of £46.6 million after cash outflows on acquisition of 
£25.9 million. The cash generation during the year has 
provided the group with a very solid liquidity position 
and considerable financial flexibility. Further details on 
the results for the year are given in the Operating and 
Financial Review section of these accounts. 

Position, Future Prospects and 
Business Risks
The Group has continued to increase cross leveraging 
in 2010. Cross leveraging opportunities have been 
strengthened through the acquisitions made in 2009 
and 2010 with the Structured Content Management 
business in particular a primary beneficiary of the 
cross leveraging program. The Board believe that the 
Group’s growth prospects remain positive, based upon 
the strong technology position (further strengthened 
through acquisition and internal development), quality 
of the client list and the global nature of operations. 
In addition the Board believes its strategy to create 
compelling end-to-end content management solutions 
is gaining significant traction. The business continued 
to invest in global infrastructure in 2010 committing to 
new offices in Turkey, Chile and San Jose. The business 
also strengthened infrastructural investment in China 
and Japan. 

The integration of 2010 acquisitions within the business 
segments has progressed rapidly with both Language 
Weaver and Xopus fully integrated into SDL processes 
and systems.

Whilst the Board acknowledges that there are 
different rates of recovery in the various segments of 
the economy across the industry verticals that SDL 
serves, the Board has observed strengthening demand 
throughout 2010 and in absence of a broad based 
economic decline the Board feels that the business is 
well positioned for 2011 at this stage. The Board will 
continue with its policy of differential management 
of the cost base directing the significant focus of 
investment strongly towards growth opportunities. 

The Group generates approximately 61% of its revenue 
from service solutions and approximately 39% from 
technology. Technology is anticipated to increase 
its proportion of revenues as the full impact of 2010 
acquisitions will be reported in 2011. 
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The Board continues to believe that Asia, the emerging 
economies in Eastern Europe, selective markets in Latin 
America and the Nordic region offer solid long term 
growth opportunities for SDL and the business has 
made particular progress in Japan, China and Korea in 
2010 following its strategy of aggressive focus on growth 
investment in these countries in the past few years.

Significant advances have been made in the technology 
program in 2010 with the launch of SDL BeGlobal from 
Language Weaver, a next generation statistical machine 
translation technology, and new launches of SDL Trisoft 
and S1000D Contenta technology in the Structured 
Content Management business.

The Board remains confident that the business has 
strong potential for long term value creation. 

Details on the risks associated with the business are 
given in the Operating and Financial Review.

Branches
The Company operates branches in Lebanon, Taiwan 
and Germany.

Events Since the Statement of Financial 
Position Date
No material events have occurred since 
31 December 2010. The Directors recommend a 
dividend of 5.5 pence per ordinary share as set out in 
note 24. 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Framework 
SDL is fully committed to be a model corporate 
citizen in the communities in which it operates and 
to carrying out its business in a socially and ethical 
responsible manner which enhances quality of life for 
its employees, stakeholders and those who it supports. 
SDL reinforced this commitment by updating its Code 
of Conduct in 2010 to be in line with current best 
practice. Operating our businesses with core values 
of integrity and transparency is crucial to our long 
term reputation. We also have clear internal values of 
innovation, collaboration and communication. The 
SDL group corporate social responsibility framework 
continues to target three primary areas of employment 
and employee engagement, the environment and 
community involvement. 

At this time the Board is of the opinion that given the 
nature of the Group’s business activities which does not 
involve heavy manufacturing, material risks from social, 
environmental and ethical issues are limited. The Board 
however takes very seriously its broader responsibility 

to society and takes a progressive approach in ensuring 
it meets its broader social obligations. 

Employment and Employee Engagement 
The diversity of our global workforce is a key strength 
of SDL which creates a truly international perspective 
across the SDL Group and the ability to effectively 
service global clients. 

The Group rejects all forms of discrimination and 
operates an equal opportunities policy. We expressly 
prohibit discrimination on grounds such as sex, race, 
religion or belief, age or perceived age, sexual orientation 
or disability. 

The Group aims to provide our employees with genuine 
opportunity to meet their career aspirations with SDL, 
encouraging employees to build long term careers 
through progressive role advancement and clear and 
transparent performance frameworks and personal 
development plans. At the route of effective employee 
engagement is leadership communication and a process 
is in place to communicate performance monthly, which 
is started by the Chief Executive and then cascaded 
through the operating line leadership in the various 
operating segments and functions. There is strong 
emphasis on building effective teams which place core 
values of innovation, collaboration and communication 
at the heart of their operating agenda. Decision processes 
always seek to maximise value for SDL as a whole. 

We aim to provide employees with the right tools, 
induction, training and development experiences 
to perform effectively in their roles and to provide 
meaningful performance assessment and clarity of 
personal objectives and priorities that are aligned to 
company goals. The training framework includes new 
manager training, skill enhancement, team building 
and cross functional training. In 2010 the core values 
of innovation, collaboration and communication have 
been stressed and we have found independent reviews 
and assessment by peer groups, through 360 type 
mechanisms, to be successful in promoting awareness 
of leadership development needs. Where necessary, 
SDL continues to support overseas assignments or 
secondment of employees and obtains work permits 
or visas to enable employees to benefit from a period 
overseas. We have also seen greater movement of 
employees across different operating segments in 
2010, which is effective in transferring best practice and 
sustaining culture.

Disabled Employees
SDL values applications from disabled or handicapped 
persons and our policy is to always consider in 
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full employment applications from disabled or 
handicapped persons where that person can perform 
the job requirements. 

Where existing employees become disabled, it is 
the Group’s policy wherever practicable to provide 
continuing employment under normal terms and 
conditions and disabled people are afforded the same 
training and development opportunities for personal 
growth as other employees within the organization.

Under no circumstance will discrimination due to 
disability either direct or implied be tolerated. 

Employee Involvement
The Board views effective employee engagement 
practices as crucial; critical to this is the frequency and 
effectiveness of internal communication to employees. 
The Chief Executive Officer communicates a mixture 
of performance and corporate direction to a group 
of approximately 230 employees once a month 
via conference call and web-ex and this material 
is distributed to segmental CEO’s and directors, 
general managers and senior functional leaders for 
cascade with their own performance material. There is 
constructive engagement between Executive Directors 
and the different operations within the Group enabling 
broad input on business strategic matters and corporate 
direction. The Chief Executive also communicates fully 
via senior operating leadership the logic and rationale 
for acquisitions. 

Recently SDL set up a knowledge series initiative 
which seeks to inform all employees through webinars 
about SDL’s different businesses, strategy, products 
and processes. This initiative has been very popular in 
engaging and keeping employees informed and is a 
very valuable training tool. The Chief Executive Officer 
actively supports this initiative.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
human resource issues encompassing all aspects of 
recruitment, development and retention and dispute 
resolution, delegating as necessary to the members of 
the executive management team or human resources 
team. The Chief Financial Officer seeks to ensure 
consistent dissemination of HR policy across the Group. 

The SDL Executive Team meets approximately quarterly 
to discuss matters impacting the Group. This meeting is 
attended and chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and 
also attended by the Chief Financial Officer, segment 
CEOs and functional leaders in the Group. This 
Executive Team is the major decision making vehicle for 
operational matters impacting the Group as a whole 

and plays a major role in ensuring alignment between 
operating segments. 

Similar executive groups also meet for each operational 
segment and each segment has a fully formed Executive 
Leadership Team. The forums serve a critical purpose 
in leveraging best practice and collaboration across the 
Group. Network office managers and senior functional 
group management teams also meet regularly to distil 
and decide on common issues affecting the Group as a 
whole. In 2010 the CTO has brought all of the heads of 
development together to share experience, permeate 
best practice in agile development and drive roadmap 
delivery. This Innovation Group has been a major 
support to transfer of best practice. 

There is a strong emphasis placed on face to face 
communication with employees and senior managers 
are required to cascade relevant information from 
Executive meetings to employees via face to face 
meetings. These briefings generate feedback, 
consultation and employee interest. Works councils 
and similar bodies are maintained and consulted with 
in accordance with local statutory requirements. Senior 
leadership are also encouraged to communicate face to 
face with employees whenever they make site visits. 

A “whistleblowing policy” is in place which enables 
employees to bring matters of concern to the attention 
of the Senior Independent Director in confidence. No 
matters were raised via this route in 2010.

The Board is strongly supportive of providing 
employees with opportunities to invest and participate 
in the wealth creation of the Group through 
participation in the share save scheme. The Board has 
screened target geographies, as committed, in 2010 
and will run a grant offer in the Netherlands in 2011 
together with the UK scheme. Plans are also in place 
to run schemes where possible in the US in 2011. The 
Board did not offer under this scheme in 2010.

Community, Charity and the SDL Foundation 
SDL has a formal process to invest in community 
relationships and all matters related to Charitable 
Support are channelled through the SDL Foundation, 
which is independently chaired by Alastair Gordon, 
the former CFO. The business has been very active 
through the Foundation in 2010 and it has been very 
pleasing to watch employee participation grow with 
some employees taking time away from the office to 
participate directly in projects in underprivileged parts 
of global society. The primary investment goal of the 
SDL Foundation is to focus on sustainable causes which 
contribute to self help, sustainability, micro income 
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generation or building of infrastructure such as clean 
water or sanitation facilities. The Foundation actively 
screens all proposals from employees and, where 
appropriate, engages directly with the charities involved 
to validate that projects effectively transfer aid and are 
in line with the objectives of the Foundation. Some of 
the projects supported by the SDL Foundation in 2010 
are highlighted on page 25 of this report making a very 
big difference to several supported communities. The 
Foundation trustees again requested that the SDL Board 
pledge another £250,000 to the SDL Foundation in 
respect of 2010 operations and the SDL Board agreed to 
this request.

The Group actively supports translation as a profession 
and has developed progressive relationships with 
several language facilities of universities in the countries 
in which it operates. This serves as a way for the 
Group to develop the translation profession as well as 
providing a valuable potential career outlet for students 
and a source of potential future employees. In 2010 
we have developed relationships with a number of 
universities including School of Oriental and African 
Studies, University of London, Johannes Gutenberg 
University Mainz and the University of Valencia. 

Environment
The SDL Group has no manufacturing processes so the 
goal of any environmental projects needs to be focussed 
on facilities management and indirect impacts on the 
environment such as travel. During 2010 the Board 
strengthened our commitment to the environment 
and has recently engaged Carbon Clear Limited to 
help us analyse our CO2 burden and ways to manage 
or reduce CO2 emissions for the first time. We set out 
these measures and our environmental program on 
page 22 of this Annual Report. By raising awareness 
of environmental matters SDL seeks to stimulate 
employees to directly help protect the environment 
and minimize the overall environmental burden of 
operations. SDL has raised consciousness about waste 
generation, recycling and resource conservation in its 
operations and recognising travel as a key driver to 
environmental impact, sought alternatives to minimize 
travel via use of technology such as web conferencing 
and more effective travel scheduling. Cycle to work 
initiatives and car pooling schemes also aim to take 
employee related traffic off the road. 

Environmental efficiency is always given consideration 
when selecting new office premises and energy 
efficient systems are promoted and used where 
they provide shareholder return by reducing energy 
consumption. The Board considers that there is 

often a strong fit between energy use reduction and 
commercial return. 

The environmental impact of disposal of outmoded 
or obsolete equipment is minimized and provision 
of recycling facilities, reuse or donation schemes are 
actively considered. 

Directors and Their Interests
The directors and their interests in the share capital 
of the Group as at 31 December 2010 (all beneficially 
held) according to the register of directors’ interests are 
detailed as follows:

Class
2010 

Number
2009 

Number

Mark Lancaster Ordinary 537,983 317,572
Cristina Lancaster Ordinary 317,572 1,220,537
John Hunter Ordinary 28,750 28,750
Chris Batterham Ordinary 86,895 86,895
John Matthews Ordinary 15,000 15,000
Joe Campbell Ordinary - -
David Clayton Ordinary - -
Jane Thompson Ordinary - -

The above list represents all persons who were directors 
at any time during the year, with the exception of 
Alastair Gordon who resigned on 31 March 2010.

Details of options and long-term incentive plan shares 
held by directors at the year-end are given in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 62. 

There have been no further changes to any directors’ 
interests in shares (including options and long term 
incentive plan shares) since the end of the financial year 
up to a date that is not more than one month before 
the date of the notice of general meeting. 

Indemnification of directors
As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force 
under which the company has agreed to indemnify 
the directors, to the extent permitted by law and the 
company’s articles of association, in respect of all losses 
arising out of, or in connection with, the execution of 
their powers, duties and responsibilities, as directors of 
the company or any of its subsidiaries.

Compliance With the Combined Code
The statements of compliance with the principles of the 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance published 
by the FSA in 2008 are set out on page 39 of the Annual 
Report. The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 
39 to 54 forms part of the Directors’ Report. 
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Takeover Directive 
The Company has implemented the requirements of 
the Takeover Directive in the year and discloses the 
following information: 

•	 The structure of the Company’s capital and the 
rights and obligations attached to those shares are 
given in note 17 to the accounts. 

•	 There are no restrictions on the transfer of securities 
of the Company, including limits on holdings and 
requirements to obtain approval of the company or 
other holders for a transfer. 

•	 All persons with a significant holding, along 
with the value of that holding are given in the 
table below (share price at 24 February 2011; 
637.75 pence). 

Fund Manager
Holding at 

24 February 2011

% of 
Issued 
Share 

Capital

Value of  
Holding 
(£’000)

Blackrock 9,808,688 12.57 £62,555
Axa Investment Managers 5,778,674 7.41 £36,853
Standard Life Investments 5,552,824 7.12 £35,413
F&C Asset Management 5,241,778 6.72 £33,429
Baillie Gifford 5,126,703 6.57 £32,696
Old Mutual Asset Managers 4,060,081 5.2 £25,893
Herald Investment 
Managers 3,363,769 4.31 £21,452
Legal & General Investment 
Management 2,957,773 3.79 £18,863
Fidelity Investments 2,748,055 3.52 £17,526
Aviva Investors 2,548,290 3.27 £16,252
State Street securities 
collateral account 2,461,748 3.16 £15,700
Montanaro Investment 
Managers 2,361,790 3.03 £15,062

•	 There is no person holding securities with special 
control rights.

•	 All shares issued under employee share schemes 
have rights which are directly exercisable by 
the employees. 

•	 There is no restriction on voting rights. 

•	 There are no agreements between shareholders that 
may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities 
or on voting rights. 

•	 Amended Articles, taking account of changes 
in English company law brought about by 

the Companies Act 2006, were approved by 
shareholders at the Annual General meeting on 
23 April 2010. 

•	 The powers of the directors are given in the 
Articles of Association plus those granted by 
special resolution at the AGM dated 24 April 2009 
governing shares issuance.

•	 There are no significant agreements entered into 
by the Company that take effect, alter or terminate 
upon a change of control following a takeover bid 
and the effect of such agreements.

•	 The agreements between the company and its 
directors for compensation for loss of office are 
given in the Directors Remuneration Report on 
page 58.

Contractual Relationships
There are no individual contracts which are considered 
to be significant or critical to the overall business of 
the Group. 

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice
It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are 
made in accordance with those terms and conditions 
agreed between the Group and its suppliers, provided 
that all trading terms and conditions have been complied 
with and that there are no disputes. This policy was 
applied consistently in 2010 and the ethical treatment 
of suppliers is of importance to the supply relationships 
with the extensive list of individual freelance translators 
that form an integral part of the translation supply chain 
and on whom SDL relies. Any changes in supplier terms 
and conditions are through negotiation.

At 31 December 2010, the Company had an average 
of 34 days purchases outstanding in trade creditors 
(2009: 20 days).

Research and Development Activities
The Group conducts research and development 
activities in a number of locations including the UK, 
USA, Netherlands, Ukraine, Bulgaria and Romania. 
These activities are concentrated on maintaining 
the Group’s software products in providing Global 
Information Management solutions in the form of 
Language Services, Language Technologies and 
Content Management solutions. During 2010, there 
was a significant increase in development expenditure 
as a result of the acquisitions made in 2009 and in 
2010, particularly on the Language Weaver BeGlobal 
launch and through further expenditure on roll out of 
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new products in the structured content management 
business and further expenditure on the integration 
of the SDL technology platform and further planned 
product release. 

Financial Instruments
An explanation of the Group’s financial instrument 
risk management objectives, policies and strategies 
are set out in the Operating and Financial Review on 
pages 36 to 38. Group policy prohibits operating units 
from entering into derivative or financial instrument 
transactions and this must be done at Group level 
under the control of the Chief Financial Officer. 

Political and Charitable Donations
During the year no political donations were made. 
Charitable donations amounting to £851 were made 
to external charities and £250,000 was donated to 
the SDL Foundation as noted above. 

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as 
auditors will be put to the members at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Statement as to Disclosure of 
Information to Auditors
The directors who were members of the Board at the 
time of approving the directors’ report are listed on 
page 121. Having made enquiries of fellow directors 
and of the company’s auditors, each of these directors 
confirms that:

•	 to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, 
there is no information relevant to the preparation 
of their report of which the company’s auditors are 
unaware; and

•	 each director has taken all the steps a director might 
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of 
relevant audit information and to establish that the 
company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Responsibility Statement of the 
Directors in Relation to the 
Group Financial Statements
In accordance with the FSA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules, the Directors confirm 
to the best of their knowledge that:

•	 the financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with the applicable set of accounting standards, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of the company 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole; and

•	 the Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Statement, 
Operating Financial Review and the Directors’ 
Report include a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position 
of the issuer and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face.

Special Business at the Annual General 
Meeting
At the Annual General Meeting, items 1 to 10 inclusive 
and 12 are proposed as ordinary resolutions and items 
11 and 13 as special resolutions. These resolutions 
together with explanatory notes, as appropriate, are set 
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Where Shareholders are in any doubt as to what action 
to take in this matter they should consult appropriate 
independent advisors. Where all securities have 
been sold or transferred by the person receiving this 
document, it should be passed to the person for whom 
the sale or transfer was affected for transmission to the 
purchaser or transferee.

Company Number
The Company number of SDL plc is 2675207.

By order of the Board

John Hunter 
Director

21 March 2011
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in 
Respect of the Group Financial Statements
 

The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the group and parent company 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group 
and parent company financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law they are required to 
prepare the group financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law 
and have elected to prepare the parent company 
financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting 
Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Under company law the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the group and parent company and of their profit or 
loss for that period. In preparing each of the group and 
parent company financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

•	 for the group financial statements, state whether 
they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs 
as adopted by the EU;

•	 for the parent company financial statements, state 
whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the parent company 
financial statements; and

•	 prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the group and the parent company will 
continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the parent company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the parent company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors 
are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, 
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate 
Governance Statement that complies with that law and 
those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. Legislation in 
the UK governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 
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We have audited the financial statements of SDL plc 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 set out on pages 
71 to 119. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in the preparation of the group financial 
statements is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in the preparation of the parent company financial 
statements is applicable law and UK Accounting 
Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company 
and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors 
and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 69, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial 
Statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the APB’s web-site at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm. 

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinion:

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the state of the group’s and of the parent 
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of 
the group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	 the group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU;

•	 the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice;

•	 the financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006; and, as regards the group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed 
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 

•	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on Which We are Required to 
Report by Exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept 
by the parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

•	 the parent company financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

•	 we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

•	 the directors’ statement, set out on page 38, 
in relation to going concern.

•	 the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on 
page 39 relating to the company’s compliance with 
the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined 
Code specified for our review; and

•	 certain elements of the report to the shareholders 
by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

P Gresham (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square  
London E14 5GL 
21 March 2011

Independent Auditor’s Report to 
the Members of SDL plc
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Note
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Sale of goods 34,642 25,363

Rendering of services 168,907 146,515

Revenue 4 203,549 171,878

Cost of sales (87,626) (76,387)

Gross profit 115,923 95,491

Administrative expenses – excluding amortisation of intangibles 5 (80,738) (66,096)

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets 35,185 29,395

Administration expenses - amortisation of intangible assets 5 (6,587) (5,808)

Operating profit 5 28,598 23,587

Finance revenue 5 322 426

Finance costs 5 (112) -

Profit before tax 28,808 24,013

Tax expense 6 (6,764) (6,060)

Profit for the year 22,044 17,953

Profit after tax for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 22,044 17,944

Non controlling interest - 9

22,044 17,953

Earnings per ordinary share – basic (pence) 7 28.39 23.55

Earnings per ordinary share – diluted (pence) 7 27.44 22.79

Adjusted earnings per ordinary share (basic and diluted) are shown in note 7.

Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Note
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Profit for the period 22,044 17,953

Currency translation differences on foreign operations (3,191) (13,549)

Currency translation differences on foreign currency equity loans to 
foreign subsidiaries (895) 2,255

Income tax benefit on currency translation differences on foreign currency  
equity loans to foreign subsidiaries 6 90 847

Other comprehensive income (3,996) (10,447)

Total comprehensive income 18,048 7,506

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 18,048 7,497

Non controlling interests - 9

18,048 7,506

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Note
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Assets

Non current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 6,323 5,005

Intangible assets 9 159,305 137,624

Deferred tax asset 6 6,356 5,621

Rent deposits 903 819

172,887 149,069

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 12 52,140 40,456

Cash and cash equivalents 13 46,628 46,160

98,768 86,616

Total assets 271,655 235,685

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 (54,631) (45,504)

Current tax liabilities (10,326) (6,794)

Provisions 16 (1,224) (1,102)

(66,181) (53,400)

Non current liabilities

Other payables 15 (622) (65)

Deferred tax liability 6 (8,592) (7,298)

Provisions 16 (748) (1,817)

(9,962) (9,180)

Total liabilities (76,143) (62,580)

Net assets 195,512 173,105

Equity

Share capital 17 780 770

Share premium account 94,974 93,207

Shares to be issued - 203

Retained earnings 75,047 50,218

Foreign exchange differences 24,711 28,707

Total equity 195,512 173,105

Approved by the Board of directors on 21 March 2011

M Lancaster    J Hunter 
Director     Director

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
at 31 December 2010
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Share  
Capital 

£’000

Share  
premium 

account 
£’000

Shares to  
be Issued 

£’000

Retained 
Earnings 

£’000

Foreign 
Exchange 

Differences 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

Interest 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 January 2009 757 92,483 406 30,250 39,154 (21) 163,029
Profit for the period - - - 17,944 - 9 17,953
Other comprehensive income - - - - (10,447) - (10,447)
Total comprehensive income - - - 17,944 (10,447) 9 7,506
Deferred income taxation on share based 
payments (Note 6) - - - (220) - - (220)
Tax credit for share options (Note 6) - - - 635 - - 635
Arising on share issues 13 533 - - - - 546
Arising on share cancellation - (12) - - - - (12)
Arising on acquisition of Trisoft - - - - - 12 12
Arising on acquisition of Passolo - 203 (203) - - - -
Share based payments (Note 18) - - - 1,609 - - 1,609
At 31 December 2009 770 93,207 203 50,218 28,707 - 173,105

Share  
Capital 

£’000

Share  
premium 

account 
£’000

Shares to  
be Issued 

£’000

Retained 
Earnings 

£’000

Foreign 
Exchange 

Differences 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

Interest 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 January 2010 770 93,207 203 50,218 28,707 - 173,105
Profit for the period - - - 22,044 - - 22,044
Other comprehensive income - - - - (3,996) - (3,996)
Total comprehensive income - - - 22,044 (3,996) - 18,048
Deferred income taxation on share based 
payments (Note 6) - - - 342 - - 342
Tax credit for share options (Note 6) - - - 557 - - 557
Arising on share issues 10 1,564 - - - - 1,574
Arising on acquisition of Passolo - 203 (203) - - - -
Share based payments (Note 18) - - - 1,886 - - 1,886
At 31 December 2010 780 94,974 - 75,047 24,711 -  195,512

All amounts attributable as follows:

 
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

At 1 January 173,105 163,029

Changes attributable to: Equity holders of the parent 22,407 10,055

    Minority interest - 21

Total equity at 31 December  195,512 173,105

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Note
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Profit before tax 28,808 24,013

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 2,561 1,980

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 6,587 5,808

Finance revenue (322) (353)

Finance costs 112 -

Share based payments 1,886 1,609

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 89 -

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (9,727) 6,997

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3,639 (3,981)

Exchange differences (2,053) 587

Cash generated from operations 31,580 36,660

Income tax paid (4,510) (6,584)

Net cash flows from operating activities 27,070 30,076

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments to acquire property, plant & equipment (2,568) (1,286)

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment 85 108

Payments to acquire subsidiaries (27,880) (14,182)

Net cash acquired with subsidiaries 1,958 1,427

Interest received 363 353

Net cash flows from investing activities (28,042) (13,580)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 1,574 535

Repayment of capital leases (157) -

Interest paid (112) -

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,305 535

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  333 17,031

Movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of year 46,160 31,227

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 19 333 17,031

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 19 135 (2,098)

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 46,628 46,160

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. Corporate Information
The consolidated financial information of SDL plc (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2010 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 21 March 2011. SDL plc is a public limited 
company incorporated and domiciled in England whose shares are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange. 
The consolidated financial statements of SDL plc and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (as adopted by the European Union).

The principal activities of the Group are described in Note 4.

2 Accounting Policies
Basis of accounting
The consolidated financial statements of SDL plc and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU as relevant to the financial statements of SDL plc. 
The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP and 
these are presented on pages 108 to 119. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in UK sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand except where otherwise indicated. 

Changes in accounting policy
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. 

•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Revised

Adoption of these revised standards and the interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance 
or position of the Group in the current or prior periods, except as disclosed below: 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The Group adopted the revised standards from 1 January 2010. IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the 
accounting for business combinations occurring after this date. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, 
the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration 
and business combinations achieved in stages. Transaction costs are recognised in administration expenses. These 
changes impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and 
future reported results. IAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss 
of control) is accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions no 
longer give rise to goodwill, nor give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting 
for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes required by IFRS 3 
(Revised) and IAS 27 (Amended) will affect future acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with 
non-controlling interests. The change in accounting policy was applied prospectively and had no material impact on 
earnings per share or the results for the period ended 31 December 2010.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and all its subsidiaries for the full year or 
from the date of acquisition if later. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to business combinations that took place 
before the date of 1 January 2004. As a result, goodwill recognised as an asset at 31 December 2003 is recorded at 
its carrying amount under UK GAAP and is not amortised. The purchase method of accounting is used to account 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the 
assets, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
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values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in the income statement. If the business combination allows for a provision of contingent 
consideration, this will be provided in the accounts at the fair value to the extent it is considered probable that the 
liability will accrue. If the business combination allows for deferred compensation this will be recognised in the 
income statement over the service period.

Intangible assets: Goodwill 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash 
generating units expected to benefit from the combination’s synergies. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets. This is usually at business segment level or statutory company level as the case may be. Impairment 
is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which the goodwill relates. 
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised. Goodwill arising on acquisitions pre 1 January 2004 was capitalised and amortised over its useful 
economic life, which was presumed to be 8 years. Any goodwill remaining on the balance sheet at 1 January 2004 
is not amortised after 1 January 2004, but is also subject to annual impairment reviews.

Intangible assets: Other
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and from a business acquisition are capitalised at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are held at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives, which are 
reassessed annually together with any assessment of residual value. The useful lives of these intangible assets are 
assessed over the expected period that benefits accrue to the group. Amortisation is charged as a separate line 
item on the income statement.

Customer intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of between 5 and 7 
years. Other intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of between 5 and 
15 years.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is carried 
forward when its future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured and technical feasibility and 
commercial viability can be demonstrated. Where these criteria are not met the expenditure is expensed to the 
income statement. Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure the cost model is applied, 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over the period of expected future sales from the related project. 
The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use or 
more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the reporting year indicating that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable.

Development costs that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Intangible assets: Impairment of assets
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, where 
value in use is calculated as the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
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Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and any impairment in value. 
Historical cost includes the expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the estimated residual value based on prices at the balance sheet 
date of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements  –  The lower of ten years or the lease term straight line

Computer equipment  –  4–5 years straight line

Fixtures & fittings  –  20% reducing balance

Motor vehicles  –  20% reducing balance

Useful economic lives and residual values are assessed annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognising of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included 
in the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the 
revenue can be measured reliably. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised:

Rendering of services
Revenue on service contracts is recognised only when their outcomes can be foreseen with reasonable certainty 
and is based on the percentage stage of completion of the contracts, calculated on the basis of costs incurred. 
Accrued and deferred revenue arising on long-term contracts is included in trade receivables as accrued income 
and in trade and other payables as deferred income as appropriate.

Support and maintenance contracts are invoiced in advance and normally run for periods of 12 months with 
automatic renewal on the anniversary date. Revenue in respect of support and maintenance contracts is 
recognised evenly over the 12 months commencing from the date of the contract period.

Managed services (hosting) fees are recognised over the term of the hosting contract on a straight-line basis.

Professional services and consulting revenue, which is provided on a ‘time and expense’ basis, is recognised as the 
service is performed.

For multiple element arrangements revenue is allocated to each element on fair value regardless of any separate 
prices stated within the contract. The portion of the revenue allocated to an element is recognised when the 
revenue recognition criteria for that element have been met.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
have passed to the buyer, usually on despatch of the goods.

Revenue on software licenses and upgrades is recognised on despatch, when there are no significant vendor 
obligations remaining and the collection of the resulting receivable is considered probable. In circumstances 
where a considerable future vendor obligation exists as part of a software licence and related services contract, 
revenue is recognised over the period that the obligation exists per the contract. 

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
continued
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Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translation are included in the income statement with the 
exception of differences on foreign currency borrowing that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign 
entity. These are taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income until the date of disposal of the net 
investment, at which time they are recognised in the consolidated income statement. The assets and liabilities 
of overseas subsidiaries and branches are translated at the closing exchange rate. Income statements of such 
undertakings are translated at the average rate of exchange during the year. Gains and losses arising on these 
translations are taken to reserves. As permitted by IFRS 1, SDL has elected to deem the cumulative amount of 
exchange differences arising on translation of the net investments in subsidiaries at 1 January 2004 to be nil.

Intra-company loans for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future are 
defined as quasi-equity loans and the currency translation differences on retranslation at the balance sheet date 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency and interest rate contracts to hedge its 
risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated 
at fair value. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange 
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate contracts is determined by reference 
to market values for similar instruments. The derivatives entered into do not qualify for hedge accounting and 
therefore any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to net profit or loss for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. For the purpose of the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, unless they relate to 
capitalised research and development.

Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are charged directly within the Income Statement.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Incentives received from landlord
In accordance with SIC 15, the aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a credit to the income statement. 
The benefits of the incentives are allocated over the life of the lease on a straight-line basis.

Pension cost
The company contributes to a group personal pension scheme for qualifying employees whereby it makes defined 
contributions to independently administered personal pension schemes. The company does not control any of 
the assets or have any ongoing liabilities with regard to the performance of and payments from these individual 
personal schemes. SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited operates a separate defined contribution scheme whose 
assets are held separately from the company. The pension cost charge for both schemes represents contributions 
payable during the period. 
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost.

Financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised 
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in 
the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated and effective hedging 
instruments. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in income. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, 
cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such as exchange or modification, it is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of the new liability, such that the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in the profit or loss. 

Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable 
or disallowed, based on tax rates that are enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

•	 where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
continued
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

•	 where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.

In the United Kingdom, the Group is entitled to a tax deduction for amounts treated as remuneration on exercise 
of certain employee share options. As explained under “Share based payments” below, a remuneration expense 
is recorded in the consolidated income statement over the period from the grant date to the vesting date of the 
relevant options. As there is a temporary difference between the accounting and tax bases, a deferred tax asset 
may be recorded. The deferred tax asset arising on share option awards is calculated as the estimated amount of 
tax deduction to be obtained in the future (based on the Group’s share price at the balance sheet date) pro-rated 
to the extent that the services of the employee have been rendered over the vesting period. If this amount exceeds 
the cumulative amount of the remuneration expense at the statutory rate, the excess is recorded directly in equity, 
against retained earnings. Similarly, current tax relief in excess of the cumulative amount of the remuneration 
expense at the statutory rate is also recorded in retained earnings. 

When deferred tax assets are recognised post acquisition, goodwill is adjusted accordingly. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

•	 where the VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and

•	 trade receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Share based payments
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’).
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Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which 
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined by using an appropriate 
option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other 
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the company (market conditions). The volatility in the models is 
calculated by reference to historical share price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become entitled to the award (‘vesting date’). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors of the Group at 
that date, based on the best available estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
The expense is recognised in the income statement over the vesting period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms 
had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the vesting period for any 
increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new 
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has 
applied IFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested at 1 January 2005.

National Insurance on Share Option Grants, the anticipated National Insurance charge on gains made by 
employees over the period from date of grant of the option to the end of the performance period has been 
provided for.

New standards and interpretations not applied
IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of 
these financial statements:

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs) Effective date*
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures – Revised 1 January 2011
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure- Revised 1 February 2010
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Presentation** 1 January 2013
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Effective date*
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 1 July 2010

*Effective date refers to accounting periods commencing on or after the dates above. 
** Not yet endorsed by the European Union 

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact 
on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application. 
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Significant critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
Judgements
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these estimates 
and assumptions could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset 
or liability affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Research and development costs
Management continually review research and development expenditure to assess whether any costs meet the 
criteria for capitalisation. There have been no costs capitalised in 2010 (2009: £nil) with the primary criteria for 
non capitalisation being technical and commercial feasibility achieved late in the development cycle for new 
product releases.

Revenue- sale of goods
Management reviews the terms of all license contracts to ensure that the appropriate fair values are determined 
and that there are no future vendor obligations that would affect the license revenue recognised.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions and estimates concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Revenue- rendering of services
Management makes estimates of the total costs that will be incurred by SDL on a contract by contract basis. 
Management reviews the estimate of total costs on each contract on an ongoing basis to ensure that the revenue 
recognised accurately reflects the proportion of the work done at the balance sheet date.

Share-based payments
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of 
the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 18.

Taxes
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of 
future taxable income. Given the wide range of international business relationships and the long-term nature and 
complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions 
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense 
already recorded. Differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions 
prevailing in the respective Group company’s domicile.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has tax loss carry forwards amounting to £1,908,000 (2009: £2,990,000). These losses relate to 
subsidiaries that have a history of losses, do not expire and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in 
the Group. The subsidiaries have no taxable temporary differences or any tax planning opportunities available that 
could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets.

Further details on taxes are disclosed in Note 6.
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3 Business Combinations
Acquisition of Language Weaver Inc.
On 23 July 2010 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Language Weaver Inc., an unlisted company 
based in the United States of America. The principal activity of Language Weaver Inc. is the provision of Machine 
Statistical Translation. 

The total cost of the combination comprises $41.5 million (£26.9 million) and was funded from the Group’s 
existing cash resources.

The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Language Weaver Inc. Group as at the date of 
acquisition were:

 

Book 
value 
£’000

Provisional fair 
value to Group 

£’000

Intangible assets - 8,539

Property, plant and equipment 1,532 1,532

Cash and cash equivalents 1,660 1,660

Trade receivables 1,739 1,739

Other receivables 294 294

Trade payables (63) (63)

Other payables (3,185) (3,185)

Finance lease payables (1,226) (1,226)

Deferred tax liabilities - (2,391)

Net assets 751 6,899

Provisional Goodwill arising on acquisition 19,980

26,879

All fair values included in the above analysis are provisional fair values which are based upon management’s best 
estimate at the date of preparation of the financial statements. 

Discharged by:
 £’000

Cash paid to shareholders 26,879

Cash outflow on the acquisition:

Net cash and cash equivalents acquired with the subsidiary 1,660

Total cash paid (26,879)

Net cash outflow (25,219)

From the date of acquisition Language Weaver Inc. has contributed £4.3 million of revenue and a loss of 
£0.4 million to the net profit after tax of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the 
year, the profit for the Group would have been £19.7 million and revenue from continuing operations would have 
been £207.0 million. Included in the £20.0 million of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets that 
cannot be individually separated and reliably measured from the acquiree due to their nature. The Board consider 
that a significant value remains in assembled workforce, buyer specific synergies and technical expertise. 

Notes to the Accounts
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Acquisition of Xopus B.V.
On 29 June 2010 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Xopus B.V., an unlisted company based in the 
Netherlands. The principal activity of Xopus B.V. is the provision of online XML editing. 

The total cost of the combination comprises €1.5 million (£1.2 million) and was funded from the Group’s existing 
cash resources.

The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Xopus B.V. as at the date of acquisition were:

 

Book 
value 
£’000

Provisional fair 
value to Group 

£’000

Intangible assets - 510

Property, plant and equipment 18 18

Cash and cash equivalents 298 298

Trade receivables 52 52

Other receivables 14 14

Trade payables - -

Other payables (588) (588)

Deferred tax liabilities - (128)

Net (liabilities)/assets (206) 176

Provisional Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,055

1,231

All fair values included in the above analysis are provisional fair values which are based upon management’s best 
estimate at the date of preparation of the financial statements. 

Discharged by:
 £’000

Fair value of contingent consideration 231

Cash paid to shareholders 1,000

Total cash payable 1,231

Cash outflow on the acquisition:

Net cash and cash equivalents acquired with the subsidiary 298

Total cash paid (1,000)

Net cash outflow (702)

The maximum contingent consideration is £1.6 million. The fair value has been calculated at £0.2 million and 
under IFRS 3 (revised) any re-measurement will be recognised in the income statement.

From the date of acquisition Xopus B.V. has contributed £0.2 million of revenue and a loss of £0.1 million to the 
net profit after tax of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the profit for the 
Group would have been £22.0 million and revenue from continuing operations would have been £203.7 million. 
Included in the £1.0 million of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets that cannot be individually 
separated and reliably measured from the acquiree due to their nature. These items include assembled workforce. 
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Acquisition of Trisoft N.V. in 2009
On 24 April 2009 the Group acquired the remaining 5% of the voting rights of Trisoft NV (a company based in 
Belgium) taking its ownership to 100%. Cash consideration of £190,400 was paid. The book value of the net 
liabilities of Trisoft at this date was £202,000. The difference between the consideration and the book value of the 
interest acquired has been recognised as goodwill.

Acquisition of XyEnterprise Inc. in 2009
On 26 June 2009 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of XyEnterprise Inc, an unlisted company based in 
the United States of America. The principal activity of XyEnterprise Inc is the provision of XML Component Content 
Management (CCM) and Dynamic Publishing solutions.

The total cost of the combination was $14.8 million (£9.0 million) and was funded from the Group’s existing 
cash resources.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of XyEnterprise Inc as at the date of acquisition were:

 

Book 
value 
£’000

Fair value 
to Group 

£’000

Intangible assets - 3,279

Property, plant and equipment 338 338

Cash and cash equivalents 1,287 1,287

Trade receivables 1,016 1,016

Other receivables 469 469

Trade payables (68) (68)

Other payables (3,283) (3,283)

Deferred tax assets 679 679

Deferred tax liabilities - (918)

Net assets 438 2,799

Goodwill arising on acquisition 6,170

8,969

Discharged by:
 £’000

Costs associated with the acquisition 83

Cash paid to shareholders 8,886

Total cash payable 8,969

Cash outflow on the acquisition:

Net cash and cash equivalents acquired with the subsidiary 1,287

Total cash paid (8,969)

Net cash outflow (7,682)

In 2009, from the date of acquisition XyEnterprise Inc contributed £3.2 million of revenue and a profit of 
£0.2 million to the net profit after tax of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2009, 
the profit after tax for the Group would have been £18.0 million and revenue from continuing operations would 
have been £175.1 million. Included in the £6.2 million of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets 
that cannot be individually separated and reliably measured from the acquiree due to their nature. These items 
include assembled workforce.
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Acquisition of Fredhopper Group B.V.
On 31 December 2009 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Fredhopper Group B.V., an unlisted 
company based in the Netherlands. The principal activity of Fredhopper Group B.V. is the provision of targeting 
and marketing software for eCommerce.

The total cost of the combination was €5.6 million (£5.0 million) and was funded from the Group’s existing 
cash resources.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Fredhopper Group B.V. as at the date of acquisition were:

 

Book 
value 
£’000

Fair value 
to Group 

£’000

Intangible assets - 1,506

Property, plant and equipment 39 39

Cash and cash equivalents 141 141

Trade receivables 500 500

Other receivables 106 106

Trade payables (142) (142)

Other payables (1,055) (1,055)

Deferred tax assets 329 329

Deferred tax liabilities - (422)

Net (liabilities)/assets (82) 1,002

Goodwill arising on acquisition 4,021

5,023

Discharged by:
 £’000

Costs associated with the acquisition 48

Cash paid 4,975

Total cash paid 5,023

Cash outflow on the acquisition:

Net cash and cash equivalents acquired with the subsidiary 141

Cash paid (5,023)

Net cash outflow (4,882)

In 2009, from the date of acquisition Fredhopper Group B.V. contributed £nil of revenue and £nil to the net profit 
of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the profit after tax for the Group 
would have been £17.5 million and revenue from continuing operations would have been £174.0 million. Included 
in the £4.0 million of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets that cannot be individually separated 
and reliably measured from the acquiree due to their nature. These items include assembled workforce. 

4 Segment Information
The Group operates in the Global Information Management industry. For management purposes the Group is 
organised into business units based on their products and services and has three reportable operating segments 
as follows: 

•	 The Language Services segment is the provision of a translation service to customer’s multilingual content in 
multiple languages.
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•	 The Language Technologies segment is the sale of enterprise, desktop and statistical machine translation 
technology developed to help automate and manage multilingual assets together with associated consultancy 
and other services.

•	 The Content Management Technologies segment is the sale of content management technologies developed 
to help automate and manage content to deliver a consistent, interactive and personalised customer 
experience, in multiple languages, across websites, documentation and channels.

Within the Content Management Technologies segment two operating segments have been aggregated to form 
the above reportable operating segment.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment prior to charges for tax, deferred compensation related to 
business combinations and amortisation. 

Year ended 31 December 2010
Language 

Services 
£’000

Language 
Technologies  

£’000

Content 
Management 
Technologies 

£’000

Adjustments and 
eliminations* 

£’000
Total 

£’000

External revenue 124,646 33,915 44,988 - 203,549
Internal revenue - - - - -
Total revenue 124,646 33,915 44,988 - 203,549
Depreciation 1,351 740 470 - 2,561
Segment profit before tax and amortisation 25,178 3,321 7,655 (759) 35,395
Amortisation 6,587
Profit before tax 28,808

*Deferred compensation relating to acquisitions 

Year ended 31 December 2009
Language 

Services 
£’000

Language 
Technologies  

£’000

Content 
Management 
Technologies 

£’000

Adjustments and 
eliminations 

£’000
Total 

£’000

External revenue 109,612 29,103 33,163 - 171,878
Internal revenue - - - -
Total revenue 109,612 29,103 33,163 - 171,878
Depreciation 1,142 346 492 - 1,980
Segment profit before tax and amortisation 19,842 3,535 6,444 - 29,821
Amortisation 5,808
Profit before tax 24,013

Segment assets:
Language 

Services 
£’000

Language 
Technologies  

£’000

Content 
Management 
Technologies 

£’000

Adjustments and 
eliminations 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Segments assets:

At 31 December 2010 53,934 87,280 76,512 (1)53,929 271,655

At 31 December 2009 48,266 58,312 76,324 (2)52,783 235,685

(1) Segment assets do not include cash (£46,628,000), Corporation Tax (£945,000) and Deferred Tax (£6,356,000).
(2) Segment assets do not include cash (£46,160,000), Corporation Tax (£1,002,000) and Deferred Tax (£5,621,000).

Notes to the Accounts
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Geographical analysis of external revenues by country of domicile is as follows:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

UK 48,524 51,662
USA 52,225 31,350
Republic of Ireland 21,313 22,456
Netherlands 15,638 11,616
Belgium 14,927 14,888
Germany 14,257 13,146
Canada 12,636 10,541
Rest of World 24,029 16,219

203,549 171,878

A geographical analysis of external revenues by destination is provided in the Operating and Financial 
Review Section on page 31.

Geographical analysis of non-current assets excluding deferred tax is as follows:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

UK 121,805 129,138
USA 40,112 11,442
Rest of World 4,614 2,868

166,531 143,448

Goodwill and intangibles recognised on consolidation are included in the country which initially acquired the 
business giving rise to the recognition of goodwill and intangibles. 

5 Other Revenue and Expenses
Group operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Research and development expenditure 13,637 11,043
Bad debt (credit)/charge (117) (374)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets 2,356 1,980
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – leased assets 205 -
Amortisation of intangible assets 6,587 5,808
Operating lease rentals for plant and machinery 664 912
Operating lease rentals for land and buildings 5,424 5,636
Operating lease rentals received for land and buildings - (75)
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (1,204) 838
Loss/(gain) on derivatives 38 (352)

The net foreign exchange (gains)/losses above arose due to movements in foreign currencies between the time of 
the original transaction and the realisation of the cash collection or spend, and the retranslation of US Dollar and 
Euro denominated loans. 
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Auditor’s remuneration
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Audit of the Group financial statements 225 234
Other fees to auditors:
 Local statutory audits for subsidiaries 33 89
 Other taxation services 103 166
 Other services 45 17

Staff costs
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Wages and salaries 83,805 72,029
Social security costs 10,071 9,623
Pension costs (included in administrative expenses) 2,543 2,309
Expense of share based payments 1,886 1,609

98,305 85,570

The Company operates a personal pension scheme for qualifying employees. Other companies acquired have 
similar schemes for their qualifying members, although SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited operates a defined 
contribution scheme with contributions made by the Company placed in a separately administered pension 
fund. The pension cost charge for the year represents contributions payable by the Group to these schemes and 
amounted to £2,543,201 (2009: £2,308,512).

The average number of employees during the year, including executive directors, was made up as follows:
2010 

No.
2009 

No.

Administration and sales 720 564
Production 1,350 1,386

2,070 1,950

Finance costs
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Bank loans - -
Other interest paid 112 -

112 -

Finance revenue

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Bank interest receivable 322 426

Notes to the Accounts
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6 Income Tax
(a) Income tax on profit:
Consolidated income statement

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Current taxation
UK Income tax charge
Current tax on income for the period 1,188 1,755
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 177 -
Underlying Foreign Tax Credit 197 -

1,562 1,755

Foreign tax
Current tax on income for the period 7,906 4,714
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (434) 123

7,472 4,837
Total current taxation 9,034 6,592

Deferred income taxation
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,342) (532)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 72 -
Total deferred income tax (2,270) (532)

Tax expense (see (b) below) 6,764 6,060

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Current taxation
UK Income tax credit
Adjustment in respect of prior periods: Income tax benefit on currency translation 
differences on foreign currency equity loans to foreign subsidiaries (90) (847)
Total current taxation (90) (847)

A tax credit in respect of share based compensation for current taxation of £557,000 (2009: credit of £635,000) 
has been recognised in the statement of changes in equity in the year. A tax credit in respect of share based 
compensation for deferred taxation of £342,000 (2009: charge of £220,000) has been recognised in the statement 
of changes in equity in the year.
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(b) Factors affecting tax charge:
The tax assessed on the profit on ordinary activities for the year is lower than the standard rate of income tax in the 
UK of 28% (2009: 28%). The differences are reconciled below:

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 28,808 24,013

Profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of tax in the UK 28% (2009: 28%) 8,066 6,724

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 928 191
Non deductible amortisation of intangibles 125 -
Adjustments in respect of previous years (185) 123
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward previously not recognised (2,932) (521)
Current tax losses not available for offset 416 147
Effect of overseas tax rates (73) (532)
Other 419 (72)

Tax expense (see (a) above) 6,764 6,060

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges:
The Group may claim a Schedule 23 tax credit in respect of certain share based compensation benefits. Due to the 
requirements of IAS 12, in conjunction with IFRS 2, the amount of benefit that can be recognised in the income 
statement has been restricted in the current year and may also be restricted in future periods. Any surplus tax 
credit will be recorded in equity.

There are temporary differences which arise in relation to unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries. Since 
the Group is able to control dividend distributions from these companies it is unlikely that further UK tax on 
repatriation of these earnings will be payable in the foreseeable future. Consequently no deferred tax liability 
has been provided.

(d) Deferred income tax
The amounts recognised and unrecognised for deferred income tax are set out below:

Recognised 
2010 

£’000

Unrecognised 
2010 

£’000

Recognised 
2009 

£’000

Unrecognised 
2009 

£’000

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 500 - 513 -
Other short-term temporary differences (6,158) - (5,604) -
Tax losses 3,422 1,908 3,414 2,990

Net deferred income tax (liability)/asset (2,236) 1,908 (1,677) 2,990

The Group has tax losses in net terms of £ 1,908,000 (2009: £2,990,000) that may be available for use by offset 
against future taxable profits in the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of these losses as the Group cannot foresee profitability in the companies where the 
losses arose with sufficient certainty. The Group has other unrecognised tax losses amounting to £27,544,000 
(2009: £29,103,000).

Included within other short term temporary differences are deferred tax assets in respect of potential Schedule 23 
tax benefits of £1,748,000 (2009: £878,000) and a deferred tax liability in respect of the amortisation of certain 
intangible assets acquired, recognised in accordance with IAS 38, of £8,071,000 (2009: £6,745,000).

At 31 December 2010 the net deferred income tax position is represented by a deferred income tax asset of 
£6,356,000 (2009: £5,621,000) and a deferred income tax liability of £8,592,000 (2009: £7,298,000).
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(e) Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax liability
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

At 1 January 7,298 8,100
Retranslation of opening balances (103) (432)
Deferred tax liability arising on intangible assets acquired 2,518 1,340
Reversal of temporary differences arising on the amortisation of intangibles (945) (1,569)
Other temporary differences arising in the period (107) (141)
Change in rate from 28% to 27% (69) -

Deferred tax liability at 31 December 8,592 7,298

(f) Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax asset
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

At 1 January 5,621 6,455
Retranslation of opening balances 14 (224)
Deferred taxation arising from companies acquired during the period - 1,008
Temporary differences arising in the period (149) (1,848)
Deferred income tax asset arising on share based payments recorded  
in income statement 528 450
Deferred income tax asset arising on share based payments recorded  
in statement of changes in equity 342 (220)

Deferred tax asset at 31 December 6,356 5,621

The Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK corporation tax rate will reduce from 28% to 
24% over a period of four years from 2011. The first reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 28% to 27% was 
substantively enacted on 27 July 2010 and will be effective from 1 April 2011. This will reduce the company’s future 
current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recorded in the balance sheet 
at the rate of 27% as this is the best estimate of the rate at which they will be settled. It has not been possible to 
quantify the full anticipated effect of the announced further 3% rate reduction, although this will further reduce 
the company’s future current tax charge and reduce the company’s deferred tax assets accordingly.

7 Earnings Per Share 
The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on a profit after tax of £22,044,000 
(2009: £17,944,000) and 77,640,587 (2009: 76,200,428) ordinary shares, being the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the period. 

The diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by including in the weighted average number of shares the 
dilutive effect of potential ordinary shares related to committed share options as described in note 18. For 2010 
the diluted ordinary shares were based on 80,320,829 ordinary shares that included 2,680,242 potential weighted 
number of options.
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The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculation of adjusted earnings per share computations:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Profit for the year 22,044 17,944
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 6,587 5,808
Less: tax benefit associated with the amortisation of intangible fixed assets (1,693) (1,620)

Adjusted profit for the year 26,938 22,132

Adjusted earnings per share is shown as the Directors believe that earnings before amortisation is reflective of the 
underlying performance of the business.

2010 
No.

2009 
No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 77,640,587 76,200,428
Effect of dilution resulting from share options 2,680,242 2,535,727

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 80,320,829 78,736,155

2010 2009

Adjusted earnings per ordinary share – basic (pence) 34.70 29.05
Adjusted earnings per ordinary share – diluted (pence) 33.54 28.11

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 
reporting date and the date of completion of the financial statements.

8 Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold 

improvements 
£’000

Computer 
equipment  

£’000

Fixtures  
& fittings 

£’000

Motor  
vehicles 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2009 1,521 10,749 3,026 112 15,408
Additions 43 2,186 187 - 2,416
Disposals (364) (2,184) (414) (18) (2,980)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 30 318 29 - 377
Reclassification (1) 275 (275) 1 -
Currency adjustment (65) (563) (153) (3) (784)
At 1 January 2010 1,164 10,781 2,400 92 14,437
Additions 287 1,869 291 43 2,490
Disposals (83) (366) (65) (26) (540)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 1,550 - - 1,550
Currency adjustment 42 201 (20) (2) 221

At 31 December 2010 1,410 14,035 2,606 107 18,158
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Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000

Computer 
equipment  

£’000

Fixtures  
& fittings 

£’000

Motor  
vehicles 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2009 (855) (8,353) (1,613) (63) (10,884)
Provided during the year (193) (1,492) (271) (24) (1,980)
Disposals 364 2,079 411 18 2,872
Currency adjustment 42 439 79 - 560

At 1 January 2010 (642) (7,327) (1,394) (69) (9,432)
Provided during the year (211) (2,006) (325) (19) (2,561)
Disposals 26 294 20 26 366
Currency adjustment (27) (190) 8 1 (208)
At 31 December 2010 (854) (9,229) (1,691) (61) (11,835)

Net book value:

At 31 December 2010 556 4,806 915 46 6,323

At 1 January 2010 522 3,454 1,006 23 5,005

Included in property, plant and equipment are assets held under finance lease of £1,132,000 at 31 December 2010 
(2009: £nil).

9 Intangible Assets
Customers  

£’000

Intellectual 
Property 

£’000
Goodwill 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2009 7,212 45,225 119,866 172,303
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,712 2,073 10,393 15,178
Adjustment to deferred tax asset - - (429) (429)
Currency adjustment (569) (3,277) (7,148) (10,994)
At 1 January 2010 9,355 44,021 122,682 176,058
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,840 7,209 21,035 30,084
Currency adjustment (77) (735) (1,340) (2,152)
At 31 December 2010 11,118 50,495 142,377 203,990

Amortisation:
At 1 January 2009 (2,677) (19,198) (12,203) (34,078)
Provided during the year (1,225) (4,583) - (5,808)
Currency adjustment 244 1,208 - 1,452
At 1 January 2010 (3,658) (22,573) (12,203) (38,434)
Provided during the year (2,081) (4,506) - (6,587)
Currency adjustment 51 285 - 336
At 31 December 2010 (5,688) (26,794) (12,203) (44,685)

Net book value:
At 31 December 2010 5,430 23,701 130,174 159,305

At 1 January 2010 5,697 21,448 110,479 137,624
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In 2009, an adjustment of £429,000 was made to goodwill in respect of a deferred tax asset, not recognised at the 
date of the Trados acquisition, utilised during the year.

Customers and intellectual property are written off on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 
between 5 and 15 years. As from 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill was no longer amortised 
but is now subject to annual impairment testing (see note 11). 

10  Investments in Subsidiaries 
 Details of the investments (excluding dormant companies) in which the Group or Company holds more than 20% 
of the nominal value of ordinary share capital are as follows:

Name of Company
Country of  
Incorporation

 
Holding

Proportion  
of Voting 
Rights Nature of Business

Held directly:
SDL Sheffield Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Language Services
Software & Documentation Localisation 
France SARL

France Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Sweden AB Sweden Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Ltd Ireland Ordinary 100% Language Services and 

Language Technologies
SDL International Belgium NV Belgium Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Software Technology (Shenzhen) Co Ltd China Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Poland Sp zoo Poland Ordinary 100% Language Services 
SDL International America Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Language Services and Language 

Technologies
SDL Japan KK Japan Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Holdings BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company
SDL do Brasil Servicos de Traduçao Ltda Brazil Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Trisoft NV Belgium Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Enterprise Technologies Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

SDL Multilingual Solutions Private Ltd India Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Hellas MEPE Greece Ordinary 100% Language Services
Automated Language Processing Services Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company
SDL Turkey Translation Services & Commerce Ltd Turkey Ordinary 100% Language Services

Held indirectly:
SDL Passolo GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Holding company
SDL Italia Srl Italy Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Spain SL Spain Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL International Nederland BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL International (Canada) Inc Canada Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Nederland Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Tridion Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding Company
SDL Multilingual Services GmbH & Co KG Germany Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Multi-Lingual Solutions (Singapore) PTE Ltd Singapore Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Magyaror szaj szolgaltato Kft Hungary Ordinary 100% Language Services
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Name of Company
Country of  
Incorporation

 
Holding

Proportion  
of Voting 
Rights Nature of Business

SDL CZ sro Czech Republic Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Traduceri SRL Romania Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL Zagreb LLC Croatia Ordinary 100% Language Services
SDL doo Ljubljana Slovenia Ordinary 100% Language Services
Trados GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Language Technologies
SDL Tridion Corporate Services BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion Development Centre LLC Ukraine Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion Development Lab BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Tridion AB Sweden Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion BVBA Belgium Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion Hispania SL Spain Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion SAS France Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
SDL Tridion Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies

SDL Tridion KK Japan Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Interlingua Group Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company
Alp Services Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Multilingual Service GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Holding company
SDL Verwaltung GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Holding company
SDL Quatron BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
ZAO SDL Rus Russia Ordinary 100% Language Services
XyEnterprise Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies

XY Enterprise Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Fredhopper Group BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company
Fredhopper Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company
Fredhopper BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Fredhopper Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Spring Technologies Ltd Bulgaria Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Xopus BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management Technologies
Language Weaver Inc United States 

of America
Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

Language Weaver SRL Romania Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

The proportion of voting rights held as at 31 December 2010 is as shown above. There have been no changes 
during 2010, with the exception of the acquisitions of Xopus BV and Language Weaver Inc group.

11 Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Intangibles With Indefinite Lives
The Group has goodwill that has been acquired through business combinations but does not hold any intangible 
assets that have indefinite lives ascribed to them. 

The approach of the Group is to test impairment at the cash generating unit level. This is the lowest level of unit 
at which the group is effectively able to manage and monitor performance, cash flow and goodwill. Four cash 
generating units have been determined for testing; Language Services, Language Technologies, Web Content 
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Management and Structured Content Management. Where possible the goodwill has been allocated for impairment 
testing purposes to these cash generating units and full attribution of overheads and group costs has been made to 
each of the units in testing impairment. Language Weaver Inc. was reviewed for impairment at the date of acquisition. 

In order to evaluate the recoverable amounts relating to the cash-generating units the following key information 
should be noted.

The recoverable amount has been determined using the detailed projections from the 2011 annual plan projected 
for a five year period and subsequently into perpetuity, with a discount rate applied. Differential discount rates 
were used reflecting a different risk weighting based on relative maturity and size of the different cash generating 
units with 10.6% applied to Language Services (2009: 10.6%), 12.3% to Language Technologies (2009: 12.3%), 
11.5% to Web Content management (2009: 11.5%) and 11.7% to Structured Content Management (2009: 11.7%). 
These reflect the relative maturity of the businesses and in aggregate approximate a group cost of capital of 11.3% 
for 2010 (2009 11.3%). The budget has been prepared at the cash generating unit level based on historical trends 
adjusted for expected events. These individual budgets have been aggregated as the basis for the 2011 annual 
plan. The discount rate has been calculated as the weighted average cost of capital.

This methodology places strong emphasis on early year cash flows in evaluating impairment. The valuation is on a 
value in-use basis but has retained average perpetual growth rates from the 3.1% used in 2009. Differential perpetual 
growth rates have been used reflecting the relative maturity, penetration and profile of the cash generating units 
with 2% applied to the Language Services business and 4% applied to the Language Technologies business, Web 
Content Management Business and Structured Content Management Business. Whilst the rates of growth vary 
across individual cash generating units, a long term average growth rate for the 5 years pre-perpetuity of 11% 
has been used for the tests, when considering SDL as a whole. Differential growth rates have been applied to the 
different cash-generating units according to market growth projections of 5–10% for Language Services, 10–15% for 
Language Technologies and 5–15% for Web Content Management and Structured Content Management. It should 
be noted that whilst there is increasing linkage between the cash generating units in terms of cross selling and 
mutual exploitation of synergy no benefits have been assumed here. 

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash-generating units:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Language Services 21,047 21,036
Language Technologies 64,503 45,151
Web Content Management 34,958 35,802
Structured Content Management 9,666 8,490

130,174 110,479

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Having performed its impairment tests and having analysed the various sensitivities to these tests management 
believe that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of 
the relevant units to exceed their recoverable amounts.

Next impairment test
The next impairment tests will be performed at the 2011 year end. However, management continues to monitor 
the performance of its cash generating units closely and should it believe a significant event has occurred which 
deteriorates the forward operating prospects of the business it will move to bring forward these tests. 

12 Trade and Other Receivables (Current)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Trade receivables 42,601 30,525
Corporation tax 945 1,002
Prepayments and accrued income 8,594 8,929

52,140 40,456
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All amounts are due within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and on average have thirty to sixty 
day settlement terms. Accrued income is the value of unbilled work recognised on projects in accordance with the 
accounting policy outlined in Note 2.

Accrued income includes £50,000 of accrued bank interest receivable (2009: £91,000).

As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables at nominal value of £869,000 (2009: £1,088,000) were impaired and 
provided for. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

Total 
£’000

At 1 January 2009 1,616
Acquired companies provision at date of acquisition 56
Credit for the year (374)
Utilised in the year (26)
Currency adjustment (184)
At 31 December 2009 1,088
Acquired companies provision at date of acquisition -
Credit for the year (117)
Utilised in the year (87)
Currency adjustment (15)
At 31 December 2010 869

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Total 
£’000

Not past due  
nor impaired  

£’000

  Past due but not impaired

<30 days 
£’000

30–60 days 
£’000

>60 days 
£’000

2010 42,601 35,789 5,050 1,093 669

2009 30,525 25,545 3,700 834 446

13  Cash and Cash Equivalents
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 46,628 46,160

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash 
and cash equivalents is £46,628,000 (2009: £46,160,000). 

At 31 December 2010, the Group had available £20,000,000 (2009: £20,000,000) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the amounts shown above.

14 Trade and Other Payables (Current)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Trade payables 6,660 3,730
Other taxes and social security costs 2,044 2,485
Other payables 3,637 3,529
Accruals and deferred income 42,290 35,760

54,631 45,504
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The terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities are as follows:

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 45 days. 
Other taxes and social security costs are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 1 month. 
Other payables, generally, are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 2 months.

15  Trade and Other Payables (Non-Current)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Other payables 622 65
622 65

Other payables include amounts payable under finance lease arrangements for purchase of property, plant 
and equipment.

The amounts payable under finance leases are set out below:

Leases expiring

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments  

2010 
£’000

Interest 
2010 

£’000

Present value  
of minimum 

lease payments 
2010 

£’000

Future 
minimum  

lease  
payments 

2009 
£’000

Interest 
2009 

£’000

Present value  
of minimum 

lease payments 
2009 

£’000

Within one year 429 73 356 - - -
After one year but not more than five years 622 38 584 - - -

1,051 111 940 - - -

16 Provisions
 

Property Leases 
£’000

 Other 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 January 2010 1,041 1,878 2,919
Released during the year (244) (200) (444)
Arising during the year - 319 319
Utilised (219) (603) (822)
At 31 December 2010 578 1,394 1,972

Current 2010 91 1,133 1,224
Non-current 2010 487 261 748

578 1,394 1,972

Current 2009 186 916 1,102
Non-current 2009 855 962 1,817

1,041 1,878 2,919

Property Leases
The provision for property leases is in respect of closed leasehold premises, from which the Group no longer 
trades, but is liable to fulfil rent and other property commitments up to the lease expiry date. Obligations are 
payable within a range of one to 11 years. Amounts have been provided on current rentals and are management’s 
best estimate of the likely future cash outflows. The company entered into a sub-lease during 2010 with an initial 
rent free period. The provision has been discounted using market interest rates. The undiscounted provision is 
£706,000 (2009: £1,206,000).

Other
Other provisions include a number of employee, legal and product related amounts. Obligations are payable 
within 1–3 years. 
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17 Share Capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid

2010 
thousands

2009 
thousands

2010 
£

2009 
£

Ordinary shares of 1p each
At 1 January 76,966 75,740 769,666 757,399
Issued on exercise of share options 706 462 7,060 4,623
Issued on exercise of LTIPS 288 831 2,881 8,314
Issued on exercise of SAYE scheme - 3 - 32
Issued on acquisition of subsidiaries 48 48 482 482
Cancelled - (118) - (1,184)

At 31 December 78,008 76,966 780,089 769,666

The following movements in the ordinary share capital of the company occurred during the year:

1. 705,962 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999) and earlier 
Unapproved Option Schemes at a price range of 60 pence to 375 pence per share for an aggregate 
consideration of £1,571,512.

2. 288,140 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL LTIP Scheme at a price of 1 pence per share for 
an aggregate consideration of £2,881.

3. On 25 June 2010 48,218 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted in equal proportions to Florian Sachse and 
Achim Herrmann. This represented a portion of the consideration for the purchase of PASS GmbH that took 
place in June 2007.

18 Share-Based Payment Plans
On 1 December 1999 the company adopted the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999). It comprises two parts, namely 
the SDL Approved Share Option Scheme (1999) (“Approved Part”) and the SDL Unapproved Share Option Scheme 
(1999) (“Unapproved Part”). The Approved Part has been approved by the Board of the Inland Revenue under the 
provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. The Unapproved Part has not been approved by the 
Inland Revenue and it is not intended to apply for approval in respect of it. 

On 23 April 2010, following shareholder approval, the “SDL Share Option Scheme (2010)” was adopted. This 
scheme permits the granting of both options approved by HM Revenue and Customs within the statutory £30,000 
limit and unapproved options, subject to performance conditions. From 2010 onwards, all options will be granted 
in accordance with these rules. 

On 27 April 2006 a long term incentive plan (LTIP) was formally approved by the shareholders at an EGM. The 
award of any LTIP shares is made at nil costs to the directors or employees (with the exception of the 1p nominal 
value of each share awarded) at the end of a three year holding period provided stringent performance targets 
have been met. These performance targets are detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 62. 

On 12 April 2010, 101,153 LTIP shares were granted to the Executive Directors at a market price of £4.943, with a 
performance period of three years from date of grant, and 469,151 and 160,010 on 12 April 2010 and 4 August 2010 
respectively to certain senior management employees.

On 24 April 2008 a Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme was formally approved by the shareholders at the AGM. 
The scheme is open to all eligible UK employees and is linked to monthly savings contracts over a 3 year period. 
Options have been granted to scheme participants at 80% of the prevailing market price. The market price is taken 
the day prior to the date of invitations to apply for an option. There are no performance conditions attached to 
the exercise of these options. These options may be exercised within a fixed six-month period, three years from the 
date of grant or being made redundant.

The expense recognised for all share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 
31 December 2010 is £1,886,000 (2009: £1,609,000). 
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SDL Share Option Scheme
The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL 
Share Options Scheme during the year:

2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,002,040 £2.11 2,617,889 £2.03
Granted during the year 235,851 £4.73 340,940 £2.91
Forfeited during the year (143,712) £3.27 (494,500) £3.21
Exercised during the year (705,962) £2.23 (462,289) £1.12
Expired during the year (12,230) £2.30 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,375,987 £2.37 2,002,040 £2.11
Exercisable at 31 December 769,565 £1.47 1,170,756 £1.56

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £4.88 (2009: £3.41).

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2010, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 
5.94 years (2009: 3.66 years).

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL Share Option Scheme is estimated as at the 
date of grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs to the model:

2010 2009

Weighted average share price (pence) 473 303
Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence) 203 110
Expected volatility 47% 45%
Expected option life 4 years 4 years
Expected dividends 1% 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 2% 2%

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £0.34–£5.48 (2009: £0.01–£3.745).
 
Range of exercise prices Date of Grant Exercise Period

2010 
Number

2009 
Number

£0.01–£0.50 23/02/03 10 years after grant date 46,000 50,000
£0.51–£1.00 26/09/01–12/12/03 10 years after grant date 173,270 299,747
£1.01–£1.50 02/04/04–04/04/05 10 years after grant date 345,034 485,116
£1.51–£2.00 07/04/01 10 years after grant date 2,250 3,000
£2.01–£2.50 22/03/06–03/10/06 10 years after grant date 29,375 119,570
£2.51–£3.00 28/02/08–2/3/09 10 years after grant date 522,638 821,390
£3.01–£3.50 12/05/00–1/6/00 10 years after grant date - 12,250
£3.51–£4.00 23/5/07 10 years after grant date 47,250 210,967
£4.51–£5.00 12/04/10 10 years after grant date 168,163 -
£5.01–£5.50 10/09/10 10 years after grant date 42,007 -
Total 1,375,987 2,002,040
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SDL Long Term Incentive Plan
The fair value of equity-settled shares granted under the SDL Long Term Incentive Plan is estimated as at the date 
of grant using a Monte-Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 31 December 2010.

2010 2009

Expected volatility 47% 45%
Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence) 402 238
Expected life 3 years 3 years
Expected dividends 1% 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 1.4%–2% 2%

2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,233,838 - 1,937,158 -
Granted during the year 730,314 - 1,187,115 -
Exercised during the year (288,140) - (831,357) -
Forfeited during the year (99,096) - (59,078) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 2,576,916 - 2,233,838 -
Exercisable at 31 December Nil - Nil -

All LTIPs are exercisable at nil cost to the individual (with the exception of the 1p nominal value of each share awarded).

SDL Save As You Earn Scheme
The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL 
Save As You Earn Scheme during the year:

2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 184,216 - 169,810 -
Granted during the year - - 32,099 -
Exercised during the year - - (3,243) -
Forfeited during the year (20,566) - (14,450) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 163,650 - 184,216 -
Exercisable at 31 December Nil - Nil -

For the SAYE shares outstanding as at 31 December 2010, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.37 years 
(2009: 2.32 years). 

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL SAYE Scheme is estimated as at the date of 
grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs to the model in the year of grant:

2009

Weighted average share price (pence) 261
Expected volatility 45%
Expected option life 3.5 years
Expected dividends 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 2%

For all Share Based payment models, the volatility is calculated from compounded daily logs of normal returns of 
the Company share price over a historic period commensurate with the expected life of the incentive.
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19 Additional Cash Flow Information
Analysis of group net debt:

1 January  
2010  

£’000
Cash flow 

 £’000

Debt acquired  
on acquisition  

£’000

Exchange 
differences 

 £’000

31 December  
2010  

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 46,160 333 - 135 46,628
Loans - - - - -

46,160 333 - 135 46,628

1 January  
2009  

£’000
Cash flow 

 £’000

Debt acquired  
on acquisition 

£’000

Exchange 
differences 

 £’000

31 December  
2009  

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 31,227 17,031 - (2,098) 46,160
Loans - - - - -

31,227 17,031 - (2,098) 46,160

20 Commitments And Contingencies
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties used as offices. The future minimum rentals 
payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Land and buildings Other Total
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Within one year 4,408 4,099 1,085 908 5,493 5,007
After one year but not more than five years 8,822 8,574 899 1,431 9,721 10,005
More than five years 3,141 4,352 16 32 3,157 4,384

16,371 17,025 2,000 2,371 18,371 19,396

During the year the Group has sub-let a commercial lease, and the future minimum rentals receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2010 were £580,000 (2009: Nil). 

21 Related Party Disclosures
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group 

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Short term employee benefits 1,386 1,467
Post employment benefits 82 97
Gains on disposal of share options - 350
Gains on disposal of LTIPS 483 948
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 1,951 2,862

Transactions between Group companies, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and 
have not been included in this note.
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22 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
An explanation of the Group’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies are set out 
in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 36 to 39.

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is not significant in 2010 as the Group has had no borrowings during the year. 
At the balance sheet date the Group retains committed facilities to the value of £20 million. 

To ensure adequate working capital the Group maintains cash deposits and these deposits are affected by any 
movements in rates of interest generally. These cash deposits are generally receiving interest income at LIBOR (or 
USD, EURO equivalent) plus a margin. The Group seeks to place all cash surplus to operational requirements in 
secure money market funds. To enhance the interest earning capacity of the Group, processes have been put in place 
to ensure that cash balances held by subsidiary companies are kept as low as operationally possible. With regard to 
relative interest rates, adequate cash is retained in key operating currencies to fund the operational needs of the Group. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the UK £ interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

+ 1 % 88 104
- 1 % (88) (104)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the Euro interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

+ 1 % 122 183
- 1 % (122) (183)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the US$ interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

+ 1 % 119 128
- 1 % (119) (128)

Liquidity Risk: 
The Group’s objective is to optimise the funds currently available to it in order to maintain the lowest operational 
borrowing profile necessary. At the end of 2010 the Group had no external borrowings and approximately £46 
million of net cash. Underpinning this philosophy are processes to manage operating cash flow, with a focus on 
approvals policy for significant cash outlays and credit control.

Foreign Currency Risk: 
A significant amount of business is done with customers in both the USA and Continental Europe with 
approximately 44% of total invoicing done in US Dollar and 36% in Euro. The most significant sensitivity is to the 
US Dollar as illustrated below. This overseas client base gives rise to short-term debtors and cash balances in both 
US Dollars and Euros. Consequently, the movements in the US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/Sterling exchange rates 
affect the Group Balance Sheet, as well as the Profit and Loss Account. The Group seeks to manage this risk in the 
first instance by looking to a natural hedge and ensuring where possible currency needs in the USA are funded 
from the settlement of US Dollar denominated debtors. After a review of effectiveness the Group has not entered 
into any new US Dollar hedges since 2008. At the end of 2010 the Board has no hedges outstanding. 

In addition, the group has exposure on the Balance Sheet to the movements in US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/
Sterling exchange rates as a result of intangible assets held in non functional currency, the retranslation of US 
and Continental European overseas subsidiaries net assets into UK Sterling for consolidation purposes and finally 
intercompany loan and trading relationships held in non functional currency. In the case of the latter, this can have 
an impact on net profitability where the intercompany relationships are not treated for accounting purposes as 
equity loans. 
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The Profit and Loss is also affected by movements in the US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/Sterling exchange rates when 
sales to customers are converted to Sterling at the date of the sales transaction, as this will vary from month to 
month. This is partially offset by the effect of retranslating US Dollar and Euro denominated costs into UK Sterling 
from month to month. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 cent change in the US$ exchange rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

+ 1 cent (259) (221)
- 1 cent 262 224
Statement of Financial Position* increase/(decrease) in net assets

+ 1 cent (474) (325)
- 1 cent 480 329

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 cent change in the Euro exchange rate

Profit before tax gain/(loss)
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

+ 1 cent 38 (77)
- 1 cent (39) 79

Statement of Financial Position* increase/(decrease) in net assets

+ 1 cent (1,010) (1,090)
- 1 cent 1,027 1,110

* Based on the Statement of Financial Position at 31 December

Economic Conditions – Credit Control Risk:
Given the economic conditions at the end of 2010, SDL continues to benefit from a diverse list of major clients of 
which no client contributes more than 5% of sales. The Group is however continuing to place emphasis on sound 
application of credit control processes given the recent deterioration in macro-economic conditions. The Group 
has made provision against trade receivables to reflect specific collection risks identified. 

Capital Management:
The Group maintains a strong capital base so as to maintain employee, customer, market, investor and creditor 
confidence in the business and to ensure that it continues to operate as a going concern. The Group is at a stage 
where the Directors believe it is appropriate to offer a nominal yield to those investors who value income as well 
as capital growth and have proposed a maiden dividend. The dividend is not intended to adjust the positioning of 
SDL as primarily a capital growth share.

23 Derivatives And Other Financial Instruments
Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the group as at 31 December is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2010
Floating rate

Within 1 year 
£’000

1–2 years 
£’000

2–3 years 
£’000

3–4 years 
£’000

4–5 years 
£’000

More than  
5 years  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Cash 46,628 - - - - - 46,628

Year ended 31 December 2009
Floating rate

Within 1 year 
£’000

1–2 years 
£’000

2–3 years 
£’000

3–4 years 
£’000

4–5 years 
£’000

More than  
5 years  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Cash 46,160 - - - - - 46,160
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Maturity of financial liabilities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010:

 
Less than 

 12 months 
£’000

 Over 
12 months 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Other liabilities 1,224 1,370 2,594
Trade and other payables 54,631 - 54,631

55,855 1,370 57,225

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2009:
 

Less than 
 12 months 

£’000

 Over 
12 months 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Other liabilities 1,102 1,882 2,984
Trade and other payables 45,504 - 45,504

46,606 1,882 48,488

Borrowing facilities
The Group has one borrowing facility available to it. At 31 December 2010 the facility available was £20 million 
(2009: £20 million). The borrowing facility reduces to £15 million within one year and to £10 million within 
two years.

Credit risk
Under the RBS facility agreement the SDL group is required to retain at least 60% of its cash held by the Group 
within a Charging Group defined as a list of Charging Subsidiaries and the borrower (SDL plc). This exposes 
the Group to counterparty risk based on the banks with whom the Charging Group holds cash deposits. The 
most significant counterparty risk is with RBS. The maximum credit risk exposure related to financial assets is 
represented by the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value. Fair values of assets and liabilities 
are based on their carrying values. The directors consider that there were no material differences between the 
book values and fair values of all the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at each year-end. The fair values have 
been calculated using the market interest rates where applicable. 

There are no hedging arrangements in place as at 31 December 2010 (2009: None). 

The Group had no outstanding borrowings on loan facilities that the Group held with RBS at 31 December 2010 or 
2009 and therefore had no sensitivity to interest rate risk on these facilities at the balance sheet date. The interest 
rates that the Group would pay under the facilities are linked directly to the 3-month LIBOR rate. 

As at 31 December 2010 the Group’s interest rate contract was valued at an asset of £nil (2009: £nil), with a loss of 
£73,000 being recognised in the income statement in 2009, reflecting the movement in interest rates during the year. 
There was no profit or loss recognised on these contracts in 2010.

24 Events After the Statement of Financial Position Date
There are no known events occurring after the statement of financial position date that require disclosure.

The Directors are recommending that a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 of 5.5 pence per 
ordinary share be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the register at the close of business on 
6 May 2011 with payment on 3 June 2011. The Ex-dividend date will be 4 May 2011. This recommendation will be 
put to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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Note
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 2 - 447

Tangible assets 3 677 780

Investments in subsidiaries 4 142,424 123,490

Rent deposits 35 35

143,136 124,752

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 5 39,552 36,555

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 5 7,856 7,682

Cash at bank and in hand 11,224 15,383

58,632 59,620

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (63,186) (63,582)

Net current liabilities (4,554) (3,962)

Total assets less current liabilities 138,582 120,790

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 7 (6,542) (6,107)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 8 (1,240) (1,688)

130,800 112,995

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 9,10 780 770

Share premium account 10 94,974 93,207

Shares to be issued 10 - 203

Profit and loss account 10 35,046 18,815

Total equity 130,800 112,995

Approved by the Board of directors on 21 March 2011

M Lancaster    J Hunter 
Director     Director

Company Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2010 
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1  Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies that have been consistently applied in arriving at the financial information set 
out in this report are:

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for certain items which 
have been measured at fair value, namely financial instruments. The financial statements are presented in 
accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
No profit and loss account is presented for the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. 
The Company’s result for the year is shown in note 13.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the estimated residual value of intangible and tangible fixed 
assets over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Intangible fixed assets  –  5–8 years straight line

Leasehold improvements  –  The lower of ten years or the lease term straight line

Computer equipment  –  4–5 years straight line

Fixtures & fittings  –  20% reducing balance

Motor vehicles  –  20% reducing balance

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account.

The currency translation differences on retranslation of the foreign branches at the balance sheet date are 
recognised directly in equity.

Financial instruments
The Company uses forward foreign currency contracts and options to reduce exposure to foreign exchange rates. 
The Company also uses interest rate swaps to adjust interest rate exposures. Such instruments are stated at fair 
value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken to the profit and loss account in the period. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements contain financial instrument disclosures which comply with FRS 29 
‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. Consequently, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 29 
not to present separate financial instrument disclosures for the Company.

Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are capitalised and the outstanding future 
obligations are shown in creditors. Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease. Operating lease income is credited to the profit and loss account on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Incentives received from landlord
In accordance with UITF 28, the aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a credit to the profit and loss 
account. The benefits of the incentives are allocated over the life of the lease on a straight line basis.

Pension cost
The Company contributes to a group personal pension scheme for qualifying employees whereby it makes 
defined contributions to independently administered personal pension schemes. The company does not control 
any of the assets or have any ongoing liabilities with regard to the performance of and payments from these 
individual personal schemes. 

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Research and development
Research and development costs are written off as incurred in the year of expenditure. 

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and 
the revenue can be measured reliably. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised:

Rendering of services
Revenue on service contracts is recognised only when their outcomes can be foreseen with reasonable certainty 
and is based on the percentage stage of completion of the contracts, calculated on the basis of costs incurred. 
Accrued and deferred revenue arising on long-term contracts is included in debtors as accrued income and 
creditors as deferred income as appropriate. 

Support and maintenance contracts are invoiced in advance and normally run for periods of 12 months with 
automatic renewal on the anniversary date. Revenue in respect of support and maintenance contracts is 
recognised evenly over the 12 months commencing from the date of the contract period.

Managed services (hosting) fees are recognised over the term of the hosting contract on a straight-line basis.

Professional services and consulting revenue, which is provided on a ‘time and expense’ basis, is recognised as the 
service is performed.

For multiple element arrangements revenue is allocated to each element on fair value regardless of any separate 
prices stated within the contract. The portion of the revenue allocated to an element is recognised when the 
revenue recognition criteria for that element have been met.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
have passed to the buyer, usually on despatch of the goods.

Revenue on software licenses and upgrades is recognised on despatch, when there are no significant vendor 
obligations remaining and the collection of the resulting receivable is considered probable. In circumstances 
where a considerable future vendor obligation exists as part of a software licence and related services’ contract, 
revenue is recognised over the period that the obligation exists per the contract. 

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account taxation deferred arising from 
timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance 
sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or 
a right to pay less or to receive more, tax, with the following exceptions: 

•	 provision is made for tax on gains arising from fair value adjustments of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of 
fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet 
date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets concerned. However no provision is made where, 
on the basis of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain 
will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to tax only where the replacement assets are sold;

•	 provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable;

•	 deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than not 
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences 
can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in 
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.
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National Insurance Contributions on Share Option Gains
Following the issuance of UITF abstract 25 “National Insurance contributions on Share Option Gains” the 
Company makes provision for the National Insurance contributions on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
of the options and as remeasured each period thereafter until the options are exercised. The remeasurement is 
based upon the share price at the year-end.

Cash flow statement
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption granted by Financial Reporting Standard 1 to not present a 
cash flow statement.

Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption granted by Financial Reporting Standard 8 from disclosing 
related party transactions with entities that are part of the SDL plc group.

Investments
Investments are recorded at cost.

Investments denominated in foreign currency are recorded using the rate of exchange at the date of acquisition 
and reviewed annually for evidence of impairment.

Financial Assets
Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less any provision for impairment in value.

Investments in unquoted equity investments which do not have a reliable market value are stated at cost less 
provision for any impairment in value. For investments where there is an actively traded market the investment is 
stated at fair value, determined by reference to a quoted market bid price at the close of business on the balance 
sheet date.

Cash
Cash in bank represents cash in hand and deposits repayable with any qualifying institution.

Debtors
Debtors are recorded at initial measurement and are provided for where management consider an element of the 
balance to be irrecoverable. 

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes party to the contracts which give rise to them and 
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss or loans and payables as appropriate. 
When financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus in the case of financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit and loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Company determines 
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each financial 
year end.

A financial liability is generally de-recognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled 
or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-
recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability such that the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss constitute financial guarantee contracts. The fair value is 
calculated based on an assessment of both the likelihood that the financial guarantee would be called upon and 
expected cash flows which could arise. Liabilities are carried in the balance sheet at fair value and re-evaluated at 
each financial year end, with gains or losses recognised in the profit and loss account.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event and management 
believe it to be probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are 
discounted to net present value where this is deemed to be material.

Bank borrowings
Interest bearing bank loans are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in the 
profit and loss account using the effective rate of interest method.

Share based payments
Employees (including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled 
transactions’).

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which 
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined by using an appropriate 
option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other 
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the company (market conditions). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become entitled to the award (‘vesting date’). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors of the Company at 
that date, based on the best available estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms 
had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a 
result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new 
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The Company has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of FRS 20 in respect of equity-settled awards 
and has applied FRS 20 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested at 
1 January 2005.

In accordance with UITF 25, “National Insurance on Share Option Grants”, the anticipated National Insurance 
charge on gains made by employees over the period from date of grant of the option to the end of the 
performance period has been provided for. 

Group and Treasury share transactions
Where a parent entity grants rights to its equity instruments to its employees of a subsidiary, and such share-based 
compensation is accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated financial statements of the parent, FRS 20 
requires the subsidiary to record an expense for such compensation, with a corresponding increase recognised in 
equity as a contribution from the parent. Consequently, in the financial statements of the Company, the Company 
recognises an increase in fixed asset investments or amounts owed by group companies for the aggregate amount 
of these contributions, with a credit to equity for the same amount.
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2 Intangible Fixed Assets
Intellectual 

Property 
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2009 & 2010 10,691

Amortisation
At 1 January 2010 (10,244)
Provided during the year (447)
At 31 December 2010 (10,691)

Net book value
At 31 December 2010 -

At 31 December 2009 447

3 Tangible Fixed Assets
Leasehold 

improvements 
£’000

Computer 
equipment  

£’000

Fixtures  
& fittings 

£’000

Motor  
vehicles 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2010 556 3,958 1,624 54 6,192
Currency adjustment 3 2 (1) - 4
Reclassification - 45 (45) - -
Additions 23 226 2 - 251
Disposals - - - (28) (28)
At 31 December 2010 582 4,231 1,580 26 6,419

Depreciation
At 1 January 2010 (376) (3,531) (1,451) (54) (5,412)
Currency adjustment (3) - - - (3)
Provided during the year (56) (274) (25) - (355)
Disposals - - - 28 28
At 31 December 2010 (435) (3,805) (1,476) (26) (5,742)

Net book value
At 31 December 2010 147 426 104 - 677

At 31 December 2009 180 427 173 - 780

The net book value of assets held under finance leases is £nil as at 31 December 2010 (2009: £nil).

4 Investments in Subsidiaries
Details of the investments in which the Company holds more than 20% of the nominal value of ordinary share 
capital are given in Note 10 of the Group financial statements.

£’000

Cost and Net Book Value as at 1 January 2010 123,490
Additions during the year
 Investment in SDL Turkey Translation Services & Commerce Ltd 21
 Investment in SDL Enterprise Technologies Inc 17,830
Adjustment re share option charge 1,083
Cost and Net Book Value as at 31 December 2010 142,424
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5 Debtors
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors 6,257 5,508

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 29,088 26,947

Deferred income tax asset 1,687 1,059

Prepayments and accrued income 2,520 3,041

39,552 36,555

Accrued income is the value of unbilled work recognised on projects per the accounting policy outlined in Note 1.
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 7,856 7,682

7,856 7,682

Amounts owed by Group undertakings include an intra group loan of US $12,300,000 (£7,856,000) to SDL 
International America Inc. This USD loan facility was drawn down on 30 June 2009 for ten years and bears interest 
of 2.6%; being adjusted on a bi-annual basis for any movements in LIBOR.

The amounts recognised and unrecognised for deferred income tax are set out below:
Recognised 

2010 
£’000

Unrecognised 
2010 

£’000

Recognised 
2009 

£’000

Unrecognised 
2009 

£’000

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 389 - 431 -
Other short-term temporary differences 647 - 628 -
Share based payments 651 - - -
Tax losses - 200 - 272

Net deferred income tax asset 1,687 200 1,059 272

Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax asset:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

At 1 January 1,059 1,646

Temporary differences arising in the period 628 (587)

Deferred tax asset at 31 December 1,687 1,059

The Company has tax losses in net terms of £200,000 (2009: £272,000) that may be available for use by offset 
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as the 
Company cannot foresee profitability with sufficient certainty.

6 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Trade creditors 1,288 510

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 53,608 54,861

Corporation tax 1,540 1,003

Other taxes and social security costs 558 530

Other creditors 263 411

Accruals and deferred income 5,854 6,194

Deferred tax liability 75 73

63,186 63,582
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Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax liability:
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

At 1 January 73 -

Temporary differences arising in the period 2 73

Deferred tax liability at 31 December 75 73

7 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 6,465 6,107

Other creditors 77 -

6,542 6,107

Amounts owed to Group undertakings comprise intra group loans of €4,000,000 (£3,427,000; 2009 £3,573,000) 
from SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited and ¥ 377,612,000 (£3,038,000; 2009: £2,534,000) from SDL Japan K.K.. 
Both the Euro and Yen loan facilities were drawn down on 1 July 2008 for five year terms and bear interest of 2% 
(2009: 6.25%) and 1.55% (2009: 2.5%) respectively; being adjusted on an annual basis for any movements in LIBOR.

8 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Property leases 578 1,041

Other 662 647

1,240 1,688

Movement in provisions:

Provision 
1 January 2010 

£’000

Arising during 
the year 

£’000

Released 
during the year 

£’000

Utilised 
during the year 

£’000

Provision 
31 December 

2010 
£’000

Property leases 1,041 - (244) (219) 578
Other 647 85 - (70) 662

1,688 85 (244) (289) 1,240

Property Leases
The provision for Property Leases is in respect of closed leasehold premises, from which the Company no longer 
trades, but is liable to fulfil rent and other property commitments up to the lease expiry dates. Obligations are 
payable within a range of one to 11 years. Amounts have been provided on current rentals and are management’s 
best estimate of the likely future cash outflows. The company entered into a sub-lease during 2010 with an initial 
rent free period. The provision has been discounted using market interest rates. The undiscounted provision is 
£706,000 (2009: £1,206,000).

Other provisions
Other provisions include employee and legal amounts. 
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9 Share Capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid

2010 
thousands

2009 
thousands

2010 
£

2009 
£

Ordinary shares of 1p each
At 1 January 76,966 75,740 769,666 757,399
Issued on exercise of share options 706 462 7,060 4,623
Issued on exercise of LTIPS 288 831 2,881 8,314
Issued on exercise of SAYE scheme - 3 - 32
Issued on acquisition of subsidiaries 48 48 482 482
Cancelled - (118) - (1,184)

At 31 December 78,008 76,966 780,089 769,666

The following movements in the ordinary share capital of the company occurred during the year:

1. 705,962 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999) and earlier 
Unapproved Option Schemes at a price range of 60 pence to 375 pence per share for an aggregate 
consideration of £1,571,512.

2. 288,140 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL LTIP Scheme at a price of 1 pence per share for 
an aggregate consideration of £2,881.

3. On 25 June 2010 48,218 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted in equal proportions to Florian Sachse and 
Achim Herrmann. This represented a portion of the consideration for the purchase of PASS GmbH that took 
place in June 2007. 

10 Share Premium and Reserves
Share  

Capital  
£’000

Share Premium 
Account  

£’000

Shares to  
be Issued  

£’000

Profit & Loss 
Account  

£’000
Total  

£’000

At 1 January 2009 757 92,483 406 1,633 95,279
Profit for the period - - - 15,544 15,544
Currency translation differences on net investments - - - 29 29
Arising on share issues 13 533 - - 546
Arising on share cancellation - (12) - - (12)
Arising on acquisition of Passolo - 203 (203) - -
Share based payments - - - 1,609 1,609
At 1 January 2010 770 93,207 203 18,815 112,995
Profit for the period - - - 14,203 14,203
Currency translation differences on net investments - - - 142 142
Arising on share issues 10 1,564 - - 1,574
Arising on acquisition of Passolo - 203 (203) - -
Share based payments - - - 1,886 1,886
At 31 December 2010 780 94,974 - 35,046 130,800

All amounts are attributable to equity holders of the parent.
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11 Commitments and Contingencies 
The Company had annual commitments under operating leases as set out below:

Leases expiring

Land and 
buildings  

2010 
£’000

Other 
2010 

£’000

Total 
2010 

£’000

Land and 
buildings  

2009 
£’000

Other 
2009 

£’000

Total 
2009 

£’000

Within one year 5 - 5 95 2 97
After one year but not more than five years 886 2 888 798 - 798
More than five years 185 - 185 - - -

1,076 2 1,078 893 2 895

12 Share Based Payment Plans
On 1 December 1999 the company adopted the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999). It comprises two parts, namely 
the SDL Approved Share Option Scheme (1999) (“Approved Part”) and the SDL Unapproved Share Option Scheme 
(1999) (“Unapproved Part”). The Approved Part has been approved by the Board of the Inland Revenue under the 
provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. The Unapproved Part has not been approved by the 
Inland Revenue and it is not intended to apply for approval in respect of it. 

On 23 April 2010, following shareholder approval, the “SDL Share Option Scheme (2010)” was adopted. This scheme 
permits the granting of both options approved by HM Revenue and Customs within the statutory £30,000 limit 
and unapproved options, subject to performance conditions. From 2010 onwards, all options will be granted in 
accordance with these rules. 

On 27 April 2006 a long term incentive plan (LTIP) was formally approved by the shareholders at an EGM. 
The award of any LTIP shares is made at nil costs to the directors or employees (with the exception of the 1p 
nominal value of each share awarded) at the end of a three year holding period provided stringent performance 
targets have been met. These performance targets are detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 62. 

On 12 April 2010, 101,153 LTIP shares were granted to the Executive Directors at a market price of £4.943, with a 
performance period of three years from date of grant, and 469,151 and 160,010 on 12 April 2010 and 4 August 2010 
respectively to certain senior management employees.

On 24 April 2008 a Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme was formally approved by the shareholders at the AGM. 
The scheme is open to all eligible UK employees and is linked to monthly savings contracts over a 3 year period. 
Options have been granted to scheme participants at 80% of the prevailing market price. The market price is taken 
the day prior to the date of invitations to apply for an option. There are no performance conditions attached to 
the exercise of these options. These options may be exercised within a fixed six-month period, three years from the 
date of grant or being made redundant.

The expense recognised for all share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 
31 December 2010 is £803,000 (2009: £685,000). 

SDL Share Option Scheme
The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL 
Share Options Scheme during the year:

2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,002,040 £2.11 2,617,889 £2.03
Granted during the year 235,851 £4.73 340,940 £2.91
Forfeited during the year (143,712) £3.27 (494,500) £3.21
Exercised during the year (705,962) £2.23 (462,289) £1.12
Expired during the year (12,230) £2.30 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,375,987 £2.37 2,002,040 £2.11
Exercisable at 31 December 769,565 £1.47 1,170,756 £1.56
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £4.88 (2009: £3.41).

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2010, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 
5.94 years (2009: 3.66 years). 

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL Share Option Scheme is estimated as at the 
date of grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs to the model:

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Weighted average share price (pence) 473 303
Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence)  203 110
Expected volatility 47% 45%
Expected option life 4 years 4 years
Expected dividends 1% 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 2% 2%

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £0.34–£5.48 (2009: £0.01–£3.745).
 
Range of exercise prices Date of Grant Exercise Period

2010 
Number

2009 
Number

£0.01–£0.50 23/02/03 10 years after grant date 46,000 50,000
£0.51–£1.00 26/09/01–12/12/03 10 years after grant date 173,270 299,747
£1.01–£1.50 02/04/04–04/04/05 10 years after grant date 345,034 485,116
£1.51–£2.00 07/04/01 10 years after grant date 2,250 3,000
£2.01–£2.50 22/03/06–03/10/06 10 years after grant date 29,375 119,570
£2.51–£3.00 28/02/08–2/3/09 10 years after grant date 522,638 821,390
£3.01–£3.50 12/05/00–1/6/00 10 years after grant date - 12,250
£3.51–£4.00 23/5/07 10 years after grant date 47,250 210,967
£4.51–£5.00 12/04/10 10 years after grant date 168,163 -
£5.01–£5.50 10/09/10 10 years after grant date 42,007 -
Total 1,375,987 2,002,040

SDL Long Term Incentive Plan
The fair value of equity-settled shares granted under the SDL Long Term Incentive Plan is estimated as at the date 
of grant using a Monte-Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 31 December 2010.

2010 2009

Expected volatility 47% 45%
Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence) 402 238
Expected life 3 years 3 years
Expected dividends 1% 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 1.4%–2% 2%
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2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,233,838 - 1,937,158 -
Granted during the year 730,314 - 1,187,115 -
Exercised during the year (288,140) - (831,357) -
Forfeited during the year (99,096) - (59,078) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 2,576,916 - 2,233,838 -
Exercisable at 31 December Nil - Nil -

All LTIPs are exercisable at nil cost to the individual (with the exception of the 1p nominal value of each share awarded).

SDL Save As You Earn Scheme
The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL 
Save As You Earn Scheme during the year:

2010 
Number

2010 
WAEP (£)

2009 
Number

2009 
WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 184,216 - 169,810 -
Granted during the year - - 32,099 -
Exercised during the year - - (3,243) -
Forfeited during the year (20,566) - (14,450) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 163,650 - 184,216 -
Exercisable at 31 December Nil - Nil -

For the SAYE shares outstanding as at 31 December 2010, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.37 years 
(2009: 2.32 years). 

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL SAYE Scheme is estimated as at the date of 
grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs to the model in the year of grant:

2009

Weighted average share price (pence) 261
Expected volatility 45%
Expected option life 3.5 years
Expected dividends 0–1%
Risk-free interest rate 2%

For all Share Based payment models, the volatility is calculated from compounded daily logs of normal returns of 
the Company share price over a historic period commensurate with the expected life of the incentive.

13 Profit Attributable to Members of the Parent Company
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company is £14,203,000 (2009: £15,544,052). 
No profit and loss account is presented for the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

14 Post Balance Sheet Events
There are no known events occurring after the balance sheet date that require disclosure. The Directors are 
recommending that a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 of 5.5 pence per ordinary share be paid 
to the shareholders whose names appear on the register at the close of business on 6 May 2011 with payment on 
3 June 2011. The Ex-dividend date will be 4 May 2011. This recommendation will be put to the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.
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Five Year Group Summary

Year ended 31 December: IFRS 
2010  

£’000

IFRS 
2009  

£’000

IFRS 
2008  

£’000

IFRS 
2007  

£’000

IFRS 
2006  

£’000

Turnover (notes 1, 2, 3 and 4) 203,549 171,878 158,775 117,409 94,711
Growth in turnover 18% 8% 35% 24% 21%
Operating profit before depreciation 
and amortisation 37,746 31,375 27,223 18,699 14,426
Operating Profit 28,598 23,587 19,850 12,899 10,289
Profit before tax 28,808 24,013 19,850 12,725 9,376
Profit after tax 22,044 17,953 14,540 9,170 6,163

Fixed assets 165,628 142,629 142,749 105,540 61,485
Net current assets 32,587 33,216 22,492 14,351 4,181
Total assets less current liabilities 205,474 182,285 172,337 125,429 67,984
Equity interests 195,512 173,105 163,029 113,016 54,506

Average number of employees 2,070 1,950 1,932 1,721 1,498
Earnings per share – basic (adjusted for movements 
in capital) (notes 1, 2, 3 and 4) 28.39p 23.55p 19.21p 13.07p 9.91p

Notes: 
(1) 2007 – Acquisition of Tridion group and Passolo 
(2) 2008 – Acquisition of Trisoft NV and Idiom Technologies Inc 
(3) 2009 – Acquisition of XyEnterprise Inc and Fredhopper Group BV 
(4) 2010 – Acquisition of Xopus BV and Language Weaver Inc 
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Your Content 
Their Language

SDL is the leader in Global Information Management. Global 
Information Management enables companies to engage with 
their customers throughout the customer journey – from 
brand awareness, to sales and after-sales support – and across 
languages, cultures and channels.

SDL’s best-of-breed Web Content Management, eCommerce, 
Structured Content and Language Technologies, combined with 
its Language Services drive down the cost of content creation, 
management, translation and publishing. SDL solutions 
increase conversion ratios and customer satisfaction through 
targeted information across all customer touch points. 

Global industry leaders who rely on SDL include ABN-Amro, 
Bosch, Canon, CNH, FICO, GlaxoSmithKline, Hewlett-Packard, 
KLM, Microsoft, NetApp, Philips, SAP and Sony. SDL has 
over 1500 enterprise customers, has deployed over 170,000 
software licenses and provides access to on-demand 
portals for 10 million customers per month. It has a global 
infrastructure of more than 60 offices in 35 countries. 
For more information, visit www.sdl.com


